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CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued)
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MR RE

For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLFE

2022 2023 2024

2022%F 20234 2024

(RMB’000) (RMB’000) (RMB’000)

(AR#BFT) (AREBFIT) (AR¥T )

Revenue U 1,784,033 1,715,623 1,706,108

Gross profit EH 1,117,635 944,290 885,131

Gross profit margin EAES 62.6% 55.0% 51.9%
Profit and total comprehensive FREMNREEB AL

income for the year 743,955 504,193 440,229
Basic earnings per Share (RMB cents) S EARBH(ARED) 46.50 31.51 27.51
Dividend per Share (HK cents) SRR B (B 12.50 5.00 -
Return on equity® HEES B FREO 30.2% 18.1% 13.9%
Return on assets®? B B R 18.2% 11.6% 9.1%

As at 31 December
M12H31H
2022 2023 2024
20224 20234 20244
(RMB’000) (RMB’000) (RMB’000)
(AREFIT) (ARETFT) (AR®F )
Total assets WEE 4,080,004 4,329,247 4,859,031
of which: Hr

Trade and bill receivables B 5 RIGRIE R W R 871,550 789,003 896,981

Bank balances and cash WITHEBRRIRS 202,057 93,712 177,076
Total liabilities wes 1,617,361 1,541,071 1,703,122

of which: Hr -
Bank and other borrowings ERIT M EABERR 785,972 913,854 1,186,910
Total equity MR 2,462,643 2,788,176 3,155,909
Number of shares in issue 2ETRMNEE (BER)
(million shares) 1,600 1,600 1,600
Net assets per Share (RMB) BEREEFEARE) 1.539 1.743 1.972
Gearing ratio® BEAALEO 31.9% 32.8% 37.6%
Notes: B 5E
(1) Return on equity is calculated by profit and total comprehensive income for (1) RO R R iR F ﬂq,ﬁﬁ\ eI ON L
the year over total equity. B A s RS st

2 Return on assets is calculated by profit and total comprehensive income for 2) BERBRRIIIZERN SN EE2EIMA LS
the year over total assets. B mEESEEYE -

©)) Gearing ratio is calculated by bank and other borrowing over total equity. 3) BEABHRIRBITNEMERGAE

A E A -



6 Perennial Energy Holdings Limited A = ZseRER AR D T

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (Continued)

MBRHE (&)
Revenue Gross profit and gross profit margin
e ERREFRZE
(RMB’000,000) (RMB’000,000)
(ANR¥EEET) (AR¥EBET) (%)
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Dear Shareholders,

I would like to express my gratitude for your interest in and support for
Perennial Energy Holdings Limited (“Perennial Energy” or the “Company”).
Over the past year, the steadily recovering macroeconomic conditions
presented both opportunities and challenges for the coal industry, against
which the Company actively pursued business development and strived to
achieve solid results. On behalf of the board of directors of the Company
(the “Board”), | am pleased to present to our shareholders the results and
operational review of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (the “year under review”).

Industry Review

In 2024, China’s macroeconomy experienced a dynamic collision between
“flow recovery” and “stock adjustment”. According to preliminary estimates
by the National Bureau of Statistics, China’s Gross Domestic Product (GDP)
surpassed RMB130 trillion for the first time, representing a 5.0% year-on-
year increase as compared to last year. Under such macroeconomic trends,
different industries showed varying developments.

In terms of the coal industry, China’s coal production witnessed a record
high in 2024, with the raw coal output from industrial enterprises above
designated size rose to approximately 4.76 billion tonnes on a year-on-year
basis. Affected by a number of factors, including steadily growing domestic
production, an unexpectedly higher import volume, comparatively weak
consumption, a sluggish real estate sector and a decelerating infrastructure
industry, despite electricity and coal consumption demonstrating resilience
to a certain extent, the downstream steel and building materials industries
had a weak demand for coking coal. This trend caused an overall downward
shift in the coking coal price.

In terms of regional development, Guizhou Province experienced a sharp
decline in major projects and key initiatives in 2024. According to the plans
released by the Guizhou Provincial Development and Reform Commission
(BEMEEENNEZE 8 2), the total planned investment in major projects
for 2024 reached its lowest point in the last eight years, with the annual
investment decreased by approximately 60% to approximately RMB319.744
billion on a year-on-year basis. In contrast to the decrease in the overall
number of projects, new industrialisation projects increased, of which
approximately 15% were related to the coal-related basic energy industry.
This trend has posed challenges to the development of the Company.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (Continued)
EREHmEE(E)

Business Review

The Company mainly owns and operates three underground coal mines,
namely Hongguo Coal Mine, Baogushan Coal Mine, and Xiejiahegou Coal
Mine, in Panzhou City, Guizhou Province, of which the permitted annual
production capacity of each of Hongguo Coal Mine and Baogushan Coal
Mine has increased to 1,200 thousand tonnes from 600 thousand tonnes,
while the permitted annual production capacity of Xiejiahegou Coal Mine is
450 thousand tonnes.

During the year under review, raw coal production of the Group was
approximately 1,705 thousand tonnes, representing an increase of
approximately 10.6% over approximately 1,542 thousand tonnes last
year. Total sales volume of coal products from the Group’s three self-
operated underground coal mines was approximately 1,416 thousand
tonnes, representing an increase of approximately 15.6% as compared to
approximately 1,225 thousand tonnes last year.

The annual average selling price of clean coal of the Group was
approximately RMB1,780 per tonne, representing a decrease of
approximately 7.5% over approximately RMB1,924 last year, reflecting
broader market-driven price fluctuations. Despite increased coal production
and sales volume, the Group’s revenue experienced a slight decline
due to the impact of price fluctuations. The Group recorded revenue
of approximately RMB1,706.1 million during the year under review,
representing a decrease of approximately 0.6% over approximately
RMB1,715.6 million last year. Gross profit and gross profit margin were
approximately RMB885.1 million and approximately 51.9% respectively,
representing a decrease of approximately 6.3% and 3.1 percentage points
respectively over last year.

S AEI)

RATEERE REEMREMNEBBMNTH=
B T B - BMALSRETE - BA LB - R
FOMBRE - HPAREBREAILEEESE
B FT A] FF EE B 600 T MR X 21,200 F 18 -
i i 2R B R Y FT F] 4F EE B R450 T I o

REREFE  NEEFREES41,705F0
BAFZ 491,542 F Wi ER%V10.6% © AEE
BEN @A TEREENRKERBIHES
BEA1,416TF W8 - BAF 2 491,225F W R4
15.6% °

AEBEEFREFTHEBESBEHARYE
1,7807C * M EF 2 AR XI1,924 707 D 4
75%  REMLEREZHTISERERKE &
EEEHRESRHESMEN LA BEE
REBOFET  EEWRENE/MERSE o &
SEREIEFEHSKENHARE1,706.1 5
B REFZHARE1,715.6 5 BT TR
#10.6% * EFFIEFIE S RRHARES85.1
BEITRK51.9%  BEFH R THEL6.3%
MIABEDE -
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Prospects

Looking ahead to 2025, ongoing geopolitical conflicts are expected to
exert profound impact on global trade and supply chains, potentially trigger
further waves of protectionism and therefore increase trade uncertainty. On
the positive side, however, the global market is transitioning into a cycle
of interest rate cuts, which will lower debt costs for both governments and
businesses, thus creating a favourable financial environment for economic
growth. Such transition is likely to encourage more investment and
spending, further driving economic recovery.

At the same time, in the absence of a recovering real estate market,
coupled with a persistently weak steel market, the demand for coking
coal will remain subdued. Against such backdrop, the coking coal price
is likely to remain depressed, with a potential trend towards further lows.
With policies gradually taking effect and the accelerated issuance and
utilisation of special-purpose bonds, however, there may be an increase in
physical work volume, while the demand for steel and cement is expected
to bottom out and stabilise, potentially narrowing the year-on-year decline
in coal consumption. Given these circumstances, the Company will
continue to face pricing pressure, which is difficult to ease in the short term.
Therefore, a proactive response is essential to navigate future challenges,
by exploring strategies for cost reduction and efficiency improvement to
ensure sustainable development. The efforts to adapt to the evolving market
environment include optimising production processes, strengthening market
research, and exploring new business models.

In terms of regional policies introduced in Guizhou Province in response to
the macroeconomic development, the “rich ore and refined development
(2 1 15 F)” policy, as a crucial initiative under the Western Development
Program in the new era, clarifies the requirements and a clear direction
for the development of the mining industry in Guizhou Province. Under
this policy, mining enterprises are required to integrate the high-quality
development concept into the entire process and value chain of mineral
exploration, extraction, and utilisation, thereby boosting the efficiency
of resource processing and utilisation. Despite new challenges for coal
enterprises, this represents an essential pathway towards achieving
sustainable development.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (Continued)
IRHmEE(E)
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (Continued)
EREHmEE(E)

Acknowledgement

We firmly believe that the Group will persistently commit to its original
aspirations in its pursue of excellence, despite the dynamically evolving
external environment. With all employees taking concerted efforts and our
business partners placing trust, we are empowered with confidence to
embrace the challenges arising from the coming year. In this regard, we
express our sincere gratitude to all those who have long rendered support
and assistance to us. Your support is our drive to progress forward.

Yu Bangping
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 18 March 2025
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS

The Company’s directors (the “Directors”) and senior management of the
Group as at 18 March 2025 are as follows:

Directors

Mr. Yu Bangping, aged 56, the Chairman and executive Director of the
Company, joined the Group in 1990 and is a founder of the Group. He
is also the chairman of the nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”). Mr. Yu was the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company from March 2018 to March 2023. He is also a director and the
legal representative of & M A Z= # 3% 82 )R i 3 A R 2 7 (Guizhou Jiutai
Bangda Energy Development Co., Ltd*) (“Jiutai Bangda”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. He is responsible for the overall management
and strategic planning and development of the Group, including day-to-day
business management, overseeing sales and marketing matters as well as
managing external relationships with business partners. He has more than
33 years of experience in the coal mining industry.

Apart from Mr. Yu Bangping’s contributions to the Group, he was appointed
as the vice president of the township enterprises association in Liupanshui
in 2004, appointed as a deputy of the National People’s Congress of
Pan county in March 2005, recognised as a “Model Labourer” by the
Liupanshui township in April 2005, recognised as the 2008 outstanding
private entrepreneur in Guizhou Province, recognised as one of the top
10 influential entrepreneurs in 2009, recognised as the “Guizhou Star
of Entrepreneurship” in 2010 and recognised as a “Model Labourer” in
Guizhou in April 2010. Mr. Yu Bangping has also been recognised for his
social contributions to his community. He was recognised for his individual
support of social welfare in April 2007, recognised for his outstanding
contributions for disaster relief in April 2008 and recognised as the “Moral
Model” for helping others in Liupanshui in November 2010.

£ & % 2 (Guizhou
Province Professional Secondary School*) majoring in underground mining.
He also graduated from & B & % X £ (China University of Mining and
Technology*) majoring in coal mining technology. Mr. Yu Bangping is the

Mr. Yu Bangping graduated from & /I & & i@

father of Mr. Yu Zhilong, an executive Director and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company and Mr. Yu Hu, the Vice President (Business
Development) of the Company.

*  For identification purpose only
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS (Continued)

EEhafEREREFE(E)

Mr. Yu Zhilong, aged 37, was appointed as executive Director and the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company in September 2019 and April 2023
respectively. He is also a director and the legal representative of & /I &
F % 3% 3 Bk 7% & BR 2 /) (Guizhou Fu Bangda Consultancy Services Co.,
Ltd.*), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. He was the
manager and the legal representative of & /Il A Z B AL R A R A B
% 5 A Al (Guizhou Jiutai Bangda Energy Development Co., Ltd. Electricity
and Machinery Branch*), the branch office of an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, from July 2016 to March 2023. He graduated
from Guizhou University and holds a bachelor’s degree in business
management. He also obtained a bachelor’s degree in mining engineering
awarded by FFBITE 2 A E2 (China University of Mining and Technology®). Mr.
Yu Zhilong is the son of Mr. Yu Bangping, the Chairman of the Company
and the brother of Mr. Yu Hu, the Vice President (Business Development) of
the Company.

Mr. Li Xuezhong, aged 56, joined the Group in 2018 and was appointed
as executive Director and the Chief Operating Officer of the Group in
March 2018 and April 2019 respectively. Mr. Li assists the Chief Executive
Officer in handling PRC legal matters of the Group. He has taken senior
management roles in different enterprises in China and possesses years
of experience in corporate management. Mr. Li holds a bachelor’s degree
in economics awarded by Shaanxi Institute of Finance and Economics.
He obtained his accountant qualification from Ministry of Personnel of the
People’s Republic of China.

Mr. Lau Kai Ming, aged 40, joined the Group in March 2021 as the Chief
Financial Officer and was appointed as executive Director in June 2022.
Mr. Lau is also a member of the remuneration committee of the Company
(the “Remuneration Committee”). He also acts as a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Lau holds a bachelor’s degree in
commerce awarded by Curtin University of Technology and master’s degree
in science awarded by City University of Hong Kong and Manchester
Metropolitan University respectively. He is a member of each of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the CPA Australia, The
Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute, The Chartered Governance
Institute and the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants. Mr. Lau
has extensive experience in financial management, auditing and company
secretarial matters. Prior to joining the Group, he served as the financial
controller of a company listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

*  For identification purpose only
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS (Continued)

Mr. Yu Xiao, aged 42, was appointed as executive Director in September
2019. He acted as the deputy general manager of &M HELERMAZEAR A
7] (Guizhou Bangda Energy Development Co., Ltd.*) (“Guizhou Bangda”)
from March 2017 to February 2019. Mr. Yu Xiao was appointed as the chief
executive officer of Jiutai Bangda in March 2019. He was appointed to
certain posts including accounting clerk, account manager and chief
accountant in finance department of & /N B E X Lt BR EF QA &
(Guizhou Qiangui Tianneng Coking Co., Ltd.*) from September 2006 to
February 2017. Mr. Yu Xiao currently acts as a committee member of 25
& & {5 B & {E® - (Pan County Rural Credit Union®). He graduated from
Guizhou University and holds a bachelor’s degree in management.

Mr. Fong Wai Ho, aged 44, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director in November 2018. He is also the chairman of each
of the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) and the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee.
Mr. Fong has 20 years of experience in auditing and business advisory
services. He is the founder and practitioner of UBC & Co., Certified Public
Accountants and a practising director of UBC & Co., Certified Public
Accountants Limited. Mr. Fong was the practicing director of Andes Glacier
CPA Limited from March 2017 to March 2020. He holds a bachelor’s degree
in business administration (Honours) in accountancy and management
information systems awarded by City University of Hong Kong. Mr. Fong
is a practicing Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong, a member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants as well as a fellow of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is a member of the
Chartered Professional Accountants of British Columbia and the Chartered
Professional Accountants of Canada, respectively.

Mr. Fong is currently an independent non-executive director of Great Wall
Terroir Holdings Limited (stock code: 524), the shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He was an independent non-
executive director of Global Sweeteners Holdings Limited (stock code:
3889) from December 2018 to January 2024, the shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He was also an independent
non-executive director of CT Environmental Group Limited from August
2020 to September 2021, the shares of which were delisted from the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange with effect from 10 September 2021.

*  For identification purpose only
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS (Continued)

EEhafEREREFE(E)

Mr. Punnya Niraan De Silva, aged 40, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director in November 2018. Mr. De Silva is also a member
of each of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. He
has over 17 years of experience in the financial industry. From November
2017 to present, Mr. De Silva worked as a consultant for Ho Chi Minh City
Development Joint Stock Commercial Bank. He holds a bachelor’s degree
in commerce and economics awarded by Monash University Australia.

Mr. Si Zeyu, aged 59, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director in June 2024. Mr. Si possesses extensive experience in the coal
mining industry. He worked as the engineer at & A2 EZHATA 484 & Uk (Coal
Transportation Station in Songhe Township, Pan County, Guizhou*) from
June 2000 to June 2004. Mr. Si joined 2 &R EIE B A ZE (Panxian Coal
Management Bureau®) and served as a mining engineer from December
2003 to December 2006 and served as a coal (mining) engineer from 1
January 2007 to 1 January 2010. He also served as a deputy director of
B &IE R EIE B (Pan County Coal Management Bureau*) from April 2007
to April 2014. From November 2014 to October 2018, Mr. Si worked as
deputy section-level cadre at 5 /178K A28 A REUFHFAZE (Pan County
People’s Government Office in Liupanshui City, Guizhou*). He holds a
bachelor’s degree in law awarded by & /Il & Z ¥ & (Guizhou Provincial
Party School*) and Underground Coal Mining professional diploma awarded
by & /& % T 2 224% (Guizhou Coal Industry School*). He also obtained
the mining engineer qualification from #2§ A % &)/® (Pan County Human
Resources and Labor Bureau®).

Ms. Yau Shu Shan, aged 48, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director in November 2024. She is also a member of each of
the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company.
Ms. Yau has extensive experience in the banking and finance industry,
in particular sales and trading and corporate finance. She was previously
an associate director at HSBC Global Markets and prior to that, she
held different positions in Calyon Hong Kong, Fubon Bank (Hong Kong)
Limited, Core Pacific — Yamaichi International (H.K.) Limited, ICEA Capital
Limited and Liu Chong Hing Bank Limited. She holds a bachelor’s degree
in business administration, major in finance awarded by the Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology. Ms. Yau is a Chartered Financial
Analyst retired member of CFA Institute and the Financial Risk Manager in
Global Association of Risk Professionals. She is currently an independent
non-executive director of Reach Energy Berhad (stock code: 5256.KL), the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of Bursa Malaysia Securities
Berhad.

*  For identification purpose only
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS (Continued)

Senior Management

Mr. Yu Hu, aged 34, joined the Group as the Vice President (Business
Development) in March 2024. He graduated from &3 B 2 5T 28T (Zunyi
Vocational and Technical College*) and major in mechatronics technology.
Mr. Yu Hu possesses extensive experience in areas including real estate
development, hotel management and investment decision making. He
currently serves as the chairman of the board of director of & /i FiE & i
EM#ABRAR] (Guizhou Bangda Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.*) and
the executive director of #3518 #8/)5 B R A 7] (Qujing Fubang Hotel Co.,
Ltd.”). He is the son of Mr. Yu Bangping, the Chairman and the executive
Director, and the brother of Mr. Yu Zhilong, the executive Director and the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

Mr. Liu Yongfu, aged 53, joined the Group in 2017 and has been the
Financial Director since April 2017. Mr. Liu is responsible for the financial
management of the Group. From April 2017 to present, he has acted as
financial controller at Jiutai Bangda. Mr. Liu obtained the qualification as
certified public accountant in China. He obtained the qualification as an
intermediate accountant in China. Mr. Liu obtained a diploma in material
management from & Jl & ¥ & £ & (Guizhou Materials School*). He
graduated from R E R (Central Party School*) with diploma in economic
management.

Mr. Yu Honggang, aged 51, joined the Group in 2008 and has been the
General Manager of the Group since September 2016. Mr. Yu is responsible
for the Group’s production and safety management. From 2015 to
present, He has been the general manager of the Hongguo Coal Mine and
Baogushan Coal Mine. From 2008 to 2015, Mr. Yu worked at Hongguo Coal
Mine during which he acted as chief of Hongguo Coal Mine from 2013 to
2015. Mr. Yu holds a bachelor’s degree in coal mining technology awarded
by Hunan University of Science and Technology. He also graduated from &
MA LB S EEEZR (Guizhou Province Professional Secondary School*)
majoring in mining technology.

*  For identification purpose only
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS (Continued)

EEhafEREREFE(E)

Mr. Tong Yu, aged 51, joined the Group in 2017 and has been the Deputy
General Manager since June 2017. Mr. Tong is responsible for the sales and
business development of the Group. He has over 18 years of experience in
the coal mining industry. From June 2017 to present, Mr. Tong has acted
as deputy general manager of Jiutai Bangda. He graduated from Guizhou
University with a diploma in business management. Mr. Tong also obtained
a bachelor’s degree in marketing at Xinan University. He received his
qualification certificate of specialty and technology specializing in business
economics.

Mr. Wang Long, aged 50, joined the Group in 2011 and has been the Chief
Accountant since September 2016. Mr. Wang is responsible for accounting
supervision of the Group. From September 2016 to present, he has worked
in the financial affairs department of Jiutai Bangda as Chief Accountant.
Mr. Wang holds a diploma in economics and bank management. He was
qualified as registered accountant.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Industry Review

In 2024, the global economy experienced notable changes driven by various
factors, including persistent inflationary pressures, ongoing geopolitical
tensions, rapid technological advancements, and a significant transition
towards greener energy sources. In China, the economic landscape was
particularly shaped by domestic policy reforms, international trade relations,
and a commitment to environmental sustainability. The Chinese government
prioritised structural reforms which aimed at transitioning the economy from
the one primarily driven by investment to the one emphasising consumption
and innovation. According to preliminary data released by the National
Bureau of Statistics, China’s Gross Domestic Product (“GDP”) surpassed
RMB130 trillion for the first time, representing a 5.0% increase at constant
prices from the previous year. The growth reflects the effectiveness of the
policy measures implemented to stimulate domestic consumption and
enhance innovation while navigating the complexities of a changing global
economic environment.

In the coking coal industry, where the Group primarily operates, the year
2024 presented significant challenges. As a critical material for steel
production, the demand for coking coal is closely tied to steel consumption
in downstream industries. Given the underperformance of the real estate
market, steel consumption in construction has declined in recent years,
leading to a marketing adjustment that has driven the price of coking coal
downwards to a relatively low level. A report from China Steel News (F
%7 E4) revealed that the closing price of the main coking coal futures
contract stood at RMB1,549 per tonne, marking a decrease of RMB141 per
tonne compared to 2023, representing an 8.3% decline.

For the regional development of Guizhou, a province with the largest
coal resources in Southern China, coal mining enterprises faced both
opportunities and challenges in the past year. On the one hand, the
slowdown in the growth rate of investment in infrastructure projects has
squeezed the demand for coking coal. On the other hand, within the
framework of the dual carbon policy, energy enterprises need to transition
towards greener operations, and coal enterprises are encouraged to
modernise their processes and adopt more sustainable practices. In the
long run, these advancements can enhance operational efficiency, reduce
environmental impact, and improve compliance with industry regulations,
thereby positioning companies for stable and responsible growth. As
the industry adapts to these evolving standards, coal enterprises that
proactively embrace innovation and environmental responsibility may gain a
competitive edge in a more sustainable energy landscape.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
ERE @RI (E)

E 1)
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Business Review

The Group mainly owns and operates three underground coal mines in
Panzhou City, Guizhou Province, including #8 %41 SR $BAT £/&H# (Pan County
Hongguo Town Hongguo Coal Mine*) (‘Hongguo Coal Mine”), S8 8441 SRIEE)
AL (Pan County Hongguo Town Baogushan Coal Mine*) (“Baogushan

Coal Mine”) and #2835 803 SOM B KB (Pan County Yangchang Village ®l) -
Xiejiahegou Coal Mine*) (“Xiejiahegou Coal Mine”).
Resource and Reserve ERERMHE

The following table indicates the resource and reserve data of the three

mines:

TRET=ERBENERE R FEEIE

Hongguo Baogushan Xiejiahegou
Coal Mine Coal Mine Coal Mine
AL RIEE BARLEE  HTBEE
(Thousand (Thousand (Thousand
tonnes) tonnes) tonnes)
(Fmg) (Fmg) (Fmg)
Resource data under the JORC Code* RIEJORCHR A EMNERE
Summary (as at 31 December 2024)' 2045 (A20245F128318)"
Measured resources FEHREERE 15,239 8,316 -
Indicated resources ZHIERE 7,780 24,700 14,597
Inferred resources EEERE 13,225 7,000 10,360
Reserve data under the JORC Code* RIFJORCHR A" EMHEE
Summary (as at 31 December 2024)’ 2145 (7R2024%F12H31H )"
Proved reserves BERE 11,431 6,169 -
Probable reserve i =y 5,910 18,790 8,717
Marketable reserves? A RS2
- Clean coal® —FERR 9,160 13,111 5,007
— Middling coal — 3,237 4,680 930
- Sludge coal — ek 898 1,405 1,195
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

Notes:

1. The resource and reserve data of Hongguo Coal Mine and Baogushan Coal
Mine are estimated based on the resource and reserve review report prepared
by Mr. Edmundo Laporte of Valtech Corporate Services Limited (“Valtech”) as
of 31 December 2023 while the resource and reserve data of the Xiejiahegou
Coal Mine are based on the resource and reserve review report provided
by Mr. Leung Karfai of BAW Mineral Partners Limited (“BAW”) as of 31
December 2022. The resource and reserve data as of 31 December 2024 of
the Hongguo Coal Mine and Baogushan Coal Mine have been adjusted by
the measured resource data and the proved reserve data as at 31 December
2023, after deducting the respective data extracted from the mining activities
between 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024, whereas the resource and
the reserve data as of 31 December 2024 of the Xiejiahegou Coal Mine have
been adjusted by the indicated resource data and the probable reserve data as
at 31 December 2022, after deducting the respective data extracted from the
mining activities between 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2024.

2. The marketable reserves of each of the three final products (clean coal,
middling coal, and sludge coal) of the Hongguo Coal Mine, Baogushan Coal
Mine and Xiejiahegou Coal Mine were estimated by deducting the respective
data extracted from the mining activities between 1 January 2024 to 31
December 2024.

3. The clean coal produced from the Hongguo Coal Mine and Baogushan Coal
Mine is mostly 1/3 coking coal whereas the clean coal produced from the
Xiejiahegou Coal Mine is mostly coking coal.

# JORC Code: The Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results,
Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves.

Production

During the year under review, both the Hongguo Coal Mine and the
Baogushan Coal Mine secured safety production permits for their revised
expansion plans from the Energy Bureau of Guizhou Province, increasing
their respective permitted annual production capacity from 600 thousand
tonnes to 1,200 thousand tonnes, laying a solid foundation for the future
sustainable development.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
ERE @RI (E)

As at 31 December 2024, each of the Hongguo Coal Mine and Baogushan
Coal Mine had a permitted annual production capacity of 1,200 thousand
tonnes, whereas the Xiejiahegou Coal Mine had a permitted annual
production capacity of 450 thousand tonnes, totalling 2,850 thousand
tonnes for the overall permitted annual production capacity of the Group’s
mines. Below sets forth the actual production and utilisation rate for the
Group’s coal mines for the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023:

2024
Permitted
Annual
Production Actual

Capacity Production
AFAEER EREE
(Thousand (Thousand

M2024F12A31 8 « AT REEREAILEE
BB A] FEREA1,200TME - MR AE
ETEN R ] SEEE B B450 TR - AR EHETER
R FERS £ 52,850 THE o TRHEY
REE2024F £2023F 12 A31H IEFEARLE
ERECEREERFERE

2023
Permitted
Annual
Utilisation Production Actual Utilisation
Rate' Capacity Production Rate’
ERAXRT  FAUFER ERESE itk

(Thousand (Thousand

tonnes) tonnes)  (Percentage) tonnes) tonnes)  (Percentage)
() (FH) (AR (Fmg) (Fm) (BAl)
Hongguo Coal Mine TREE 808? 621 77 600 554 92
Baogushan Coal Mine B 1,141 634 56 600 565 94
Xiejiahegou Coal Mine HRTERE 450 450 100 450 423 94
2,399 1,705 71 1,650 1,542 93

Notes: B & -
1. Utilisation rate is calculated by actual production volume over the permitted 1. FRAXKREMAMERESRUNTAIFE

annual production capacity for the relevant period. BEETEGH -

2. The permitted annual production capacity of each of the Hongguo Coal Mine 2. HRBEPI 9 RN 202448 A27 H 2024

and Baogushan Coal Mine has been expanded from 600 thousand tonnes to
1,200 thousand tonnes, following the approval from the relevant authorities on
27 August 2024 and 6 February 2024, respectively. The capacities reflected
in the above represent prorated figures for 2024 which were calculated based
on the proportion of days each mine operated under its original (600 thousand
tonnes) and expanded (1.2 million tonnes) capacities during the year under
review.

FoA6AMERER  AIREBREAL
HIEE A KR F ERLYS E 600 T Ha A
Z51,200F M8 DA L FTRBR B EERE 22024 4F
REOIFENET - HRESELREE
FENEERBEL(600THE) MIEAERE
(1.2E &R EEMNRELLOIFE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

For the year under review, the Group’s total raw coal production was
approximately 1,705 thousand tonnes, of which approximately 621 thousand
tonnes, 634 thousand tonnes and 450 thousand tonnes of raw coal were
produced by Hongguo Coal Mine, Baogushan Coal Mine, and Xiejiahegou
Coal Mine, respectively, representing an increase of approximately 12.1%,
12.2% and 6.4% year-on-year (“YoY”), respectively. The utilisation rate of
Hongguo Coal Mine, Baogushan Coal Mine, and Xiejiahegou Coal Mine was
approximately 77%, 56% and 100%, respectively, representing a decrease
of approximately 15 ppt, 38 ppt and an increase of approximately 6 ppt
YoY, respectively. The decrease of the overall utilisation rates of Hongguo
Coal Mine and Baogushan Coal Mine mainly stemmed from a doubling
of permitted annual production capacity, while the actual production
volume showed a less substantial increase due to the continued geological
complexities encountered at certain mining faces that limit the production
scalability.

Coal Processing

The Group operates its own coal preparation plants, AL B (Songshan
Coal Preparation Plant*) (“Songshan CPP”) and & Za /& & (Xiejiahegou
Coal Preparation Plant®) (“Xiejiahegou CPP”) for processing the raw coal
extracted from its coal mines. As at 31 December 2024, the capacity held
by Songshan CPP is 2,400 thousand tonnes per annum. Xiejiahegou CPP
currently holds a capacity of 1,800 thousand tonnes per annum.

During the year under review, a total of approximately 1,705 thousand
tonnes (2023: approximately 1,535 thousand tonnes) of raw coal was
processed, of which approximately 1,255 thousand tonnes (2023:
approximately 1,119 thousand tonnes) and 450 thousand tonnes (2023:
approximately 416 thousand tonnes) were processed by Songshan CPP
and Xiejiahegou CPP, respectively.

*  For identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
ERE @RI (E)

Sales Volume and Average Selling Price
Below sets forth the sales volumes and average selling prices of the Group’s
coal products for the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, respectively:

TR B AR BRRERNEE2024F
K2023512 A31H L FERHE M FHEE

2024 2023
Sales Average Sales Average
Unit Volume Selling Price Volume Selling Price
By $HE FHEE HE T9ERE
(RMB/unit) (RMB/unit)
(AR¥ Bf) (ARY/%h1)
Clean coal B Thousand tonne Tl 872 1,780 842 1,924
Middling coal P Thousand tonne T 310 399 203 321
Sludge coal TR Thousand tonne Tl 234 114 17 133
Raw coal [RE Thousand tonne Tl - - 9 278
Coalbed methane gas RER Thousand 23,552 180 28,203 181

cubic meters
FILFHK

During the year under review, the sluggish performance of the construction
industry resulted in an overall decrease in the average selling price of the
Group’s coal products. The Group’s average selling price of clean coal
decreased by approximately 7.5% YoY to approximately RMB1,780/
tonne (2023: approximately RMB1,924/tonne). The average selling price
of sludge coal dropped by approximately 14.3% YoY to approximately
RMB114/tonne (2023: approximately RMB133/tonne). Middling coal was an
exception, with its average selling price increasing by approximately 24.3%
YoY to approximately RMB399/tonne (2023: approximately RMB321/tonne).
The Group did not directly sell any raw coal, thus its average price record
for 2024 is unavailable.

The Group’s raw coal is processed into clean coal at Songshan CPP and
Xiejiahegou CPP before being sold to customers. During the year under
review, the sales volume of clean coal, the Group’s primary product,
reached approximately 872 thousand tonnes, reflecting a modest increase
of approximately 3.6% YoY from approximately 842 thousand tonnes in
2023. Meanwhile, the sales volume of middling coal increased significantly
by approximately 52.7% YoY to approximately 310 thousand tonnes (2023:
approximately 203 thousand tonnes). The sales volume of sludge coal
increased by approximately 36.8% YoY to approximately 234 thousand
tonnes (2023: approximately 171 thousand tonnes). No raw coal was sold
during the year under review (2023: approximately 9 thousand tonnes).
Overall, the total sales volume of coal products amounted to approximately
1,416 thousand tonnes (2023: approximately 1,225 thousand tonnes),
reflecting an increase of approximately 15.6% YoY.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

Financial Review

Revenue

During the year under review, the Group recorded a total revenue of
approximately RMB1,706.1 million (2023: approximately RMB1,715.6
million) from the production and sales of clean coal, middling coal, sludge
coal and coalbed methane gas, representing a decrease of approximately
0.6% YoY. The revenues for the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023

were summarised as follows:

BEER A (&)

B 5 Bl fRE

g

REBFE  AEBEREERBEEHE - R
B REREERESNBRENAARKE
1,706.1 B & L (2023 4F : Yy AR ¥1,715.6
BEL) R 40.6% ° B Z=2024F K&
2023F12 A1 HILFERWEmBtan T

2024 2023

Revenue Percentage to Revenue Percentage to

RMB’000 total revenue RMB’000 total revenue

L& o UG Was IE N

Sales of coal products HIREmIEELE ARET T Epalsd ARBTT AL
- Clean coal — B 1,551,553 90.9% 1,620,390 94.5%
— Middling coal — B 123,685 7.3% 64,925 3.8%
- Sludge coal — ekt 26,622 1.6% 22,741 1.3%
- Raw coal — R - - 2,468 0.1%
Sales of methane gas HERSHESE 4,248 0.2% 5,099 0.3%
Total R 100.0% 1,715,623 100.0%

1,706,108

Consistent with the Group’s strategy, clean coal remains the principal
product of the Group and the Group has been adhering to the strategy of
stabilising the proportion of clean coal products. For the year ended 31
December 2024, the proportion of revenue generated from the sales of
clean coal amounted to approximately 90.9% (2023: approximately 94.5%).

During the year under review, following the overall drop in market price,
the Group’s sales revenue of clean coal decreased by approximately
4.2% to approximately RMB1,551.6 million (2023: approximately
RMB1,620.4 million). The Group’s sales revenue of middling coal increased
by approximately 90.5% to approximately RMB123.7 million (2023:
approximately RMB64.9 million), sales revenue of sludge coal increased
by approximately 17.1% to approximately RMB26.6 million (2023:
approximately RMB22.7 million), sales revenue of raw coal decreased by
100% as the Group ceased selling it in 2024 (2023: approximately RMB2.5
million), sales revenue of coalbed methane gas dropped by approximately
16.7% to approximately RMB4.2 million (2023: approximately RMB5.1
million). The decrease in total revenue during the year under review was
mainly attributable to the drop of the average market price of coal products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
ERE @RI (E)

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The Group recorded a decrease in gross profit from approximately
RMB944.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately
RMB885.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2024, representing a
decrease of approximately 6.3% YoY. The gross profit margin for the year
ended 31 December 2024 was approximately 51.9% (2023: approximately
55.0%), representing a decrease of approximately 3.1 ppt YoY. The
decrease in gross profit and gross profit margin was mainly due to the
decline in revenue as a result of the decreased average coal price in the
market.

Other Income

The Group’s other income decreased by approximately 27.1% YoY
to approximately RMB26.0 million during the year under review from
approximately RMB35.7 million for 2023. Such decrease was primarily
attributable to a decrease in sales of electricity during the year under review.

Other Gains and Losses

The Group recorded other losses of approximately RMB4.1 million for the
year under review, representing a decrease from a loss of approximately
RMB17.4 million for the year 2023, which was mainly attributable to the
translation difference arising from the conversion of Hong Kong Dollar
to RMB and decrease in loss on disposal/write-off of property, plant and
equipment during the year under review.

Share of Losses of an Associate

Share of losses of an associate amounted to RMB12.7 million during the
year under review, representing an increase by approximately 318.5% YoY.
The amount represents the Company’s share of losses incurred by the
Company’s associate, 1 % & 8 M K 2\ (B K 2 E 5 R 2 7 (PowerChina
Panzhou Low Calorific Value Coal Power Generation Co., Ltd.*) (“Panzhou
Power Generation Co”).

Distribution and Selling Expenses

The Group’s distribution and selling expenses decreased by approximately
7.0% YoY to approximately RMB90.6 million during the year under review
from approximately RMB97.4 million for the year ended 31 December
2023. The decrease was mainly brought by the decrease in transportation
costs resulting from increased sales to several customers who bore the
transportation costs during the year under review.

*  For identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses increased by approximately 20.0% to
approximately RMB160.9 million during the year under review from
approximately RMB134.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.
Such increase was mainly brought by an increase in staff related cost during
the year under review.

Other Expenses

The Group’s other expenses primarily consisted of research and
development expenses and penalties, which decreased to approximately
RMB65.4 million during the year under review from approximately RMB86.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2023. This reduction was mainly
due to certain administrative fines imposed by the relevant authority in
previous year, which were not incurred during the year under review.

Finance Costs

The Group’s finance costs primarily comprised interest expenses on secured
bank borrowings and interest expenses on secured other borrowings from
factoring of bills receivables with full recourse from the Group’s customers.
Finance costs increased by approximately 39.4% to approximately
RMB50.3 million during the year under review from approximately RMB36.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The increase was mainly due
to the interest expenses arising from the increase in average bank and other
borrowings during the year under review.

Taxation Charge

The Group’s income tax expense for the year under review was
approximately RMB86.8 million, compared to approximately RMB101.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The decrease of
approximately 14.0% was mainly due to a decrease in profits before income
tax.

Profit for the Year

As a result of the foregoing, the Group recorded a net profit of approximately
RMB440.2 million during the year under review (2023: approximately
RMB504.2 million), representing a decrease of approximately 12.7% YoY.
The decrease mainly resulted from the decline in the price of clean coal
during the year under review.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
ERE @RI (E)

Prospects

In 2025, the development of China’s domestic coal industry continues to be
influenced by various factors, with the demand for coal from downstream
enterprises being particularly critical. The Chinese government has set
a series of clear goals, such as “stabilising the housing market” and
“continuing to make efforts to stabilise the housing market and prevent
further decline”. These initiatives are expected to bring some momentum
to the recovery of the Chinese property market in 2025, supported by
reinforced policies. In the long run, a stable real estate market could
eventually lead to a resurgence in the construction industry, potentially
increasing the demand for coking coal after several years of decline.
However, it remains uncertain whether this trend will effectively stimulate
coking coal prices, and the assessment over time is required to evaluate its
potential impact.

Another factor that will affect the coal industry and the production activities
of the Group is the regulatory requirements imposed by national and
provincial policies on energy enterprises. At the national level, by the end of
2024, the National Development and Reform Commission revised and issued
the “Regulations on Overall Planning and Management of Coal Mining
Areas” (FHxIEE AR EIEIZITF)) which sets out the need to enhance
the scale and efficiency of coal resource development and drive the energy
sector towards a greener, low-carbon transition. From the perspective
of Guizhou Province, the policy of “rich ore and refined development”
([ = %% #5 B |) advocates for coal enterprises to adopt more sustainable
and environmentally friendly extraction methods. To align with the growing
emphasis on sustainability, the Group has already taken proactive measures
to enhance environmentally responsible production. The Group prioritises
the use of energy-efficient equipment to optimise energy consumption
and has implemented real-time monitoring systems to prevent non-
compliant waste discharge. These initiatives fully demonstrate the Group’s
commitment to sustainable resource utilisation and strict compliance with
relevant regulatory requirements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

Moreover, turbulence in the international landscape, intensified trade
protectionism, and shifts in the global energy trade patterns may also impact
domestic coal prices. The Group will vigilantly monitor these changes and
remain adaptable in its strategies to proactively cope with potential risks.
Despite ongoing uncertainties in the market, the Group is committed to
strengthening its operational efficiency, aligning with evolving policies, and
seizing emerging opportunities to ensure steady and sustainable growth in
a dynamic market environment. Moving forward, the Group will continue
to strengthen its risk management and strategic planning capabilities to
navigate the complexities of both international and domestic markets.

Liquidity and Financial Information

Bank Balances and Cash

As at 31 December 2024, bank balances and cash amounted to
approximately RMB177.1 million (2023: approximately RMB93.7 million).

Bank and Other Borrowings

As at 31 December 2024, secured other borrowings from factoring of bills
receivables with full recourse amounted to approximately RMB475.6 million
(31 December 2023: approximately RMB241.8 million). The effective interest
rate on the discounted bills was approximately 1.1% to 3.1% per annum
during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: approximately 1% to
4.35%).

As at 31 December 2024, secured bank borrowings amounted to
approximately RMB711.3 million (31 December 2023: approximately
RMB672.1 million). The effective interest rate on bank borrowings was 5.5%
per annum during the year under review (2023: 5.5%).

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s gearing ratio was approximately 0.38
(2023: approximately 0.33). Gearing ratio is calculated based on the total
bank and other borrowings divided by the total equity as at the end of the
year. The increased gearing ratio was mainly due to an increase in the bank
and other borrowings.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
ERE @RI (E)

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group is subject to limited foreign currency exposure as its business
activities mainly take place in China and all sales and most of its costs are
denominated in the functional currency (RMB) of respective group entities.
The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk is primarily Hong Kong dollars
as certain bank balances, deposits and accrued charges are denominated
in Hong Kong dollars. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

Credit Risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and bills receivables,
deposits and other receivables, restricted bank deposits and bank balances
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. Such risk may cause financial loss to the
Group in the case of a failure to discharge obligations by the counterparties.

As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the top three trade
debtors accounted for approximately 82% and 67% of the Group’s total
trade receivables, respectively. In view of this, the management regularly
visits the customers relating to such trade receivables to understand
their business operations and cash flow position and follows up with the
subsequent settlement from the counterparties. The management delegates
a team of staff to monitor procedures to ensure that follow-up actions are
taken to recover overdue debts. In this regard, the management considers
that such credit concentration risk has been significantly mitigated. Taking
into account the financial condition of the customers, their historical
settlement pattern with no previous default and the forward-looking
information (such as the future coal prices and GDP growth of China), the
management considers that based on internal credit rating assessment, the
trade and bills receivables have low risk of default from the counterparties.

In respect of other receivables, restricted bank deposits, and bank balances,
the management considers that no material inherent credit risk exists based
on the assessment of historical settlement records.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

Liquidity Risk

As at 31 December 2024, the Group recorded net current liabilities of
approximately RMB265.7 million. In preparing the consolidated financial
statements, the Directors have considered the future liquidity of the Group.
The Directors are of the view that the Group will have sufficient working
capital to finance its operations and to meet its financial obligations as and
when they fall due in the foreseeable future after taking into consideration
of the cash flow forecasts, which assume the continuity of normal business
activity and indicate that the Group will have sufficient liquidity to meet
its operational needs, existing contractual debts and capital expenditure
requirements for the 12 month period from 31 December 2024.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to lease
liabilities and bank and other borrowings and is also exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to restricted bank deposits and bank balances.
The Group currently has no interest rate hedging policy. However, the
management closely monitors the Group’s exposure to future cash flow
interest rate risk because of changes in market interest rates and will
consider hedging against market interest rate risk should the need arise.

Capital Commitments and Expected Source of Funding

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had capital commitments in respect of
the acquisition of Panzhou Power Generation Co contracted for but not yet
incurred for the amount of approximately RMB122.5 million (31 December
2023: approximately RMB416.5 million). The Group intends to finance its
capital commitments by utilising a combination of internal resources and

external financing.

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no material contingent liabilities (31
December 2023: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
ERE @RI (E)

Human Resources

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 3,699 employees (31
December 2023: 3,745). During the year under review, staff costs (including
Directors’ remuneration) totalled approximately RMB112.3 million (2023:
approximately RMB89.7 million). All members of the Group are equal
opportunity employers, with the selection, promotion and remuneration of
individual employees based on their suitability for the positions offered.
The Group provides defined contribution to the Mandatory Provident
Fund as retirement benefits for its employees in Hong Kong and provides
its employees in China with various benefit schemes as required by the
applicable laws and regulations in China. All the Group’s employees are
required to undergo induction training before they commence work. In
addition, depending on the work nature, the Group’s employees are also
required to attend training pursuant to applicable laws and regulations.

Material Acquisitions, Disposals and Significant
Investment

On 31 October 2023, Jiutai Bangda, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, acquired 49% equity in Panzhou Power Generation Co. The
consideration for the acquisition was approximately RMB4.9 million,
and additional registered capital of RMB509.6 million was committed by
Jiutai Bangda to Panzhou Power Generation Co in four instalments, due
by 31 October 2023, 31 March 2024, 30 June 2024, and 31 March 2025,
respectively.

Upon completion of the acquisition on 31 October 2023, Panzhou Power
Generation Co has become an associated company of the Company and its
results and net assets have been accounted for using the equity method in
the consolidated financial statements of the Company with effect from 31
October 2023. For more information, please refer to the announcements of
the Company dated 25 August 2023, 15 September 2023, 18 September
2023, 19 September 2023 and 31 October 2023 and the circular of the
Company dated 25 October 2023.

Save as disclosed above, the Company did not have any material
acquisitions or disposals and significant investments during the year under

review.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

Final Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK5.00 cents per share).

Asset Charges

As at 31 December 2024, other borrowings from factoring of bills
receivables with full recourse amounted to approximately RMB475.6 million
(31 December 2023: approximately RMB241.8 million) and bank borrowings
amounting to approximately RMB711.3 million were secured by the pledge
of the Group’s bills receivables, the mining right of the Hongguo Coal
Mine, Baogushan Coal Mine and Xiejiahegou Coal Mine, respectively (31
December 2023: approximately RMB672.1 million were secured by the
pledge of the Group’s bills receivables, the mining right of the Hongguo
Coal Mine and Baogushan Coal Mine).

Event after the Reporting Date

The Directors are not aware of any significant event requiring disclosure that
has taken place subsequent to 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this
report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements of
the Company and the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group
is principally engaged in the exploration and mining of coking coal and
coal refinery in the People’s Republic of China. Details of the principal
activities of the subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 December 2024, distributable reserves of the Company amounted
to approximately RMB9.8 million (31 December 2023: approximately
RMB92.1 million).

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 and the
state of affairs of the Company and the Group as at 31 December 2024 are
set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 113 to 115 of this
annual report.

The Board does not recommend the distribution of a final dividend (2023:
HK5.00 cents per Share) for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Closure of Register of Members

For the purposes of determining shareholders’ eligibility to attend and vote
at the 2025 annual general meeting of the Company (the “2025 AGM”) to
be held on Thursday, 5 June 2025, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from Monday, 2 June 2025 to Thursday, 5 June 2025, both
dates inclusive. During this period, no transfer of shares will be registered.
In order to qualify for attending and voting at the 2025 AGM, all transfers of
shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office, Tricor
Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 30 May
2025.
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Financial Summary
A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
five financial years is set out on page 201 of this annual report.

Business Review

A fair review of the business of the Group as well as a discussion and an
analysis of the Group’s performance during the year ended 31 December
2024 including a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing
the Group and an indication of likely future developments in the Group’s
business are provided in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 7 to 10 and pages 17 to
31 respectively of this annual report. An analysis of the Group’s performance
during the year under review using financial key performance indicators is
provided in the Financial Highlights on pages 5 to 6 of this annual report.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Investment Properties

Details of the investment properties held by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Share Capital

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year ended
31 December 2024 are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EE -G

Purchase, Redemption or Sale of Listed Securities
of The Company

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or
sold any of the listed securities (including the sale of treasury shares) of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2024. As at 31 December
2024, the Company did not hold any treasury shares.

Arrangements for Directors to Purchase Shares or
Debentures

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2024 was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of an acquisition of Shares or debentures of
the Company or any other body corporate, and neither the Directors nor any
of their spouses or children under the age of 18, had any right to subscribe
for securities of the Company or exercised such right during the year ended
31 December 2024.

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association (the “Articles”) or the laws of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders of the Company.

Charitable Donations
Charitable donations made by the Group during the year ended 31
December 2024 amounted to approximately RMB2.3 million (2023:
approximately RMB1.6 million).

Major Customers and Suppliers

For the year ended 31 December 2024, sales attributable to the largest
customer of the Group amounted to approximately 55.2% of the total sales
and the five largest customers of the Group accounted for approximately
87.9% of the Group’s total sales.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, purchases attributable to the
largest supplier of the Group amounted to approximately 11.0% of the
total purchases and the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for
approximately 45.0% of the Group’s total purchases.

None of the Directors of the Company or any of their close associates or
any shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than
5% of the total number of issued Shares) had any interest in the Group’s
five largest customers and suppliers.
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Directors
The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2024
and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yu Bangping (Chairman)

Mr. Yu Zhilong (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Li Xuezhong (Chief Operating Officer)

Mr. Lau Kai Ming (Chief Financial Officer)

Mr. Yu Xiao

Mr. Wang Shize (resigned on 12 March 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Fong Wai Ho

Mr. Punnya Niraan De Silva

Mr. Si Zeyu (appointed on 7 June 2024)

Ms. Yau Shu Shan (appointed on 14 November 2024)

Ms. Cheung Suet Ting, Samantha (resigned on 14 November 2024)
Mr. Wang Xiufeng (resigned on 1 May 2024)

Pursuant to Article 16.2 of the Articles, the Board shall have power from
time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a Director either
to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any Director so
appointed shall hold office only until the first annual general meeting of the
Company after his appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election at
that meeting. Mr. Si Zeyu and Ms. Yau Shu Shan, who were appointed as
Directors on 7 June 2024 and 14 November 2024 respectively, shall hold
office until the 2025 AGM and being eligible, have offered themselves for
re-election.

Pursuant to Article 16.19 of the Articles, at each annual general meeting
of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to,
but not less than, one-third) shall retire from office by rotation, provided
that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Mr. Yu
Zhilong, Mr. Li Xuezhong and Mr. Lau Kai Ming will retire by rotation at the
2025 AGM and, being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EE -G

Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies EERSREEEERE
Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Group FEBEZREREEENBEFBHNANF
are set out on pages 11 to 16 of this annual report. WEI1E16H ©

Changes in Information of the Directors EEEREE

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities BEBIMEFS LRI EMRAL)E
(the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange, the changes in information of 13.51B(1)f§ - EFMEBERERNT -
the Directors are set out below:

Name of Director Details of changes

EEEW BEFE

Mr. Yu Bangping His salary was adjusted to RMB619,534 per annum paid by a subsidiary of the
RAF L Company with effect from 1 February 2024.

B2024F2 A1HR  HFEH AL A ARKEG19,5347T * AR AIMIBARSAT

Mr. Yu Xiao His salary was adjusted to RMB389,534 per annum paid by a subsidiary of the
RMEE Company with effect from 1 February 2024.

E2024F2 A1H R » HFEH AL A ARES89,5347T * AR AIMIBARISAT

Mr. Fong Wai Ho His director’s fee was adjusted to HK$240,000 per annum with effect from 14
FESERE November 2024.
B2024F11 H148 % - A FEEFHRE FHER240,0008 7T -

Mr. Punnya Niraan De Silva His director’s fee was adjusted to HK$240,000 per annum with effect from 14
Punnya Niraan De Silva%t 4 November 2024.
B2024511 A14RE - BHFEE ST 5240,0008 7T ©

Save as disclosed above, there is no other information required to be B EXFTEETRESN  BIEEMERARE LT
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules. FRAIZE13.51B(I)IE T LA EE -
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Permitted Indemnity Provisions

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this annual
report, the Company has in force indemnity provisions as permitted under
the relevant statutes for the benefit of the Directors (including former
Directors) of the Company. The permitted indemnity provisions are provided
for in the Articles and in the Directors and officers liability insurance
maintained for the Group in respect of potential liability and costs associated
with legal proceedings that may be brought against such Directors.

Management Contracts

No contracts, other than employment contracts or appointment letters,
concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of any business of the Company were entered into or
subsisted during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no contract of significance
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling
shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year ended
31 December 2024.

Equity-linked Agreements
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company did not enter into any
equity-linked agreement.

Directors’ Service Contracts

No Director proposed for re-election at the 2025 AGM has a service contract
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EE -G

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and

Debentures

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)),
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which the Directors and chief executive of the Company
were deemed or taken to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which
were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the
register therein, or were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to
the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long positions in Shares of the Company:

Capacity/

Name of Director Nature of interest

EEnE B0 HEtE

Mr. Yu Bangping Interest in a controlled corporation

RIBFEE (Note 2)
Sk E s (M E2)
Notes:
1. The percentage was calculated based on 1,600,000,000 Shares in issue as at

31 December 2024.

2. These Shares were held by Spring Snow Management Limited. The
issued share capital of Spring Snow Management Limited was held as to
approximately 61.21% and 2.87% by Lucky Street Limited and Seasons
In The Sun Limited respectively, both of which are wholly owned by Mr.
Yu Bangping. Accordingly, Mr. Yu Bangping was deemed to be interested
in 864,000,000 Shares held by Spring Snow Management Limited for the
purpose of the SFO.
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LA ER
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and

Debentures (continued)
Long positions in the shares of associated corporations:

Name of associated Capacity/

Name of Director corporation Nature of interest

BEEnE HECEEER B1p/ REmtE

Mr. Yu Bangping Spring Snow Interest in controlled

RITFHEE Management Limited corporation (Note 2)
RPEERER (ME2)

Notes:

1. The percentage was calculated based on 10,000,000 issued shares of Spring

Snow Management Limited as at 31 December 2024.

2. Mr. Yu Bangping owned the entire issued share capital of Lucky Street
Limited and Seasons In The Sun Limited which owned approximately
61.21% and 2.87% of the issued share capital of Spring Snow Management
Limited respectively. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Yu Bangping was deemed to
be interested in 6,407,945 shares of Spring Snow Management Limited in
aggregate held by Lucky Street Limited and Seasons In The Sun Limited .

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, so far as is known to the
Company, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which the Directors and chief
executive were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO);
or were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the
register referred to therein; or were required, pursuant to the Model Code,
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EE -G

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Shares and
Underlying Shares

As at 31 December 2024, the following interests in Shares or underlying
Shares of 5% or more of the issued Shares of the Company were recorded
in the register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions:

Name of Substantial Shareholder Nature of interest

TERRBE BB EEME

Spring Snow Management Limited Beneficial owner (Note 2)
EmB A (M5E2)

Lucky Street Limited Interest in controlled corporation (Note 2)

Ry (MEE2)

Ms. Qu Liumei Interest of spouse (Note 3)

BYixzt Ao B s (MIRE3)

EERRNIRAD R AR R
e

20245124318 » ARAR B EHITRNH5%
A E MO SRR B0 B 2 DR K
RAVRBE S R IE DI HIB6 AT ENE
wE M
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Percentage
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Shares held (Note 1)
hiFEERE
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864,000,000 54.00%
864,000,000 54.00%
864,000,000 54.00%
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Shares and
Underlying Shares (continued)

Notes:

1. The percentage was calculated based on 1,600,000,000 Shares in issue as at
31 December 2024.

2. The issued share capital of Spring Snow Management Limited was held as
to approximately 61.21% by Lucky Street Limited. Accordingly, Lucky Street
Limited was deemed to be interested in 864,000,000 Shares held by Spring
Snow Management Limited by virtue of the SFO.

3. Mr. Yu Bangping owned the entire issued share capital of Lucky Street

Limited and Seasons In The Sun Limited which owned approximately 61.21%
and 2.87% of the issued share capital of Spring Snow Management Limited
respectively. Ms. Qu Liumei is the spouse of Mr. Yu Bangping and was
therefore deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Mr. Yu Bangping
(through Lucky Street Limited, Seasons In The Sun Limited and Spring Snow
Management Limited) by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, so far as is known to
the Company, no other person (other than the Directors and chief executive
of the Company whose interests are disclosed in the section headed
“Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures” above) had interests or short positions
in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO or, which were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EE -G

Competing Business

During the year ended 31 December 2024, Guizhou Bangda, an associate
of the connected person of the Company pursuant to Rule 14A.12(1)(c) of
the Listing Rules, and owned by Mr. Yu Bangping (Chairman and executive
Director) as to 90% and Mr. Yu Bangcheng (brother of Mr. Yu Bangping)
as to 10%, both being the Controlling Shareholders (as defined in the
prospectus of the Company dated 26 November 2018 (the “Prospectus”)),
was principally engaged in the mining, production and sale of coking coal,
whereas the Group has been principally engaged in the mining, production
and sale of 1/3 coking coal. The Directors are of the view that there is
no actual or potential in competition in business between the Group and
Guizhou Bangda and there is a clear delineation of business between
the Group and Guizhou Bangda. The Directors are satisfied that Mr. Yu
Bangping is able to perform his role in the Company independently. The
Directors are also of the view that the Group is capable of managing
its business independently from the Controlling Shareholders and their
respective close associates during the year under review.

As at 31 December 2024, save as disclosed above, the Directors were
not aware of any business or interest of the Directors or the Controlling
Shareholders and their respective close associates that had competed or
might compete with the business of the Group and any other conflicts of
interests which any such person had or might have with the Group.

Non-Competition Undertakings by Controlling

Shareholders

In order to avoid and safeguard against any potential competition arising
between the Group and the Directors or the Controlling Shareholders and
their respective close associates, each of the Controlling Shareholders
(including Mr. Yu Bangping) and Guizhou Bangda (the “Covenantors”)
executed a deed of non-competition (“Deed of Non-Competition”) in favour
of the Company. Details of the Deed of Non-Competition are disclosed
in the section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders — Non-
Competition Undertakings” in the Prospectus.
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Non-Competition Undertakings by Controlling
Shareholders (continued)

The Covenantors have made an annual confirmation that they have fully
complied with the Undertakings given by them in favour of the Company
pursuant to the Deed of Non-Competition. The independent non-executive
Directors have reviewed the status of the compliance by the Covenantors
with the Undertakings during the year ended 31 December 2024 and
confirmed that, as far as they can ascertain, there is no breach by any of the
Covenantors of the Undertakings given by them.

Directors’ Interests in Transactions, Arrangements
or Contracts of Significance

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to which the Company or any related company
(holding companies, subsidiaries, or fellow subsidiaries) was a party and
in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Remuneration Policy

The remuneration policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Board on the basis of their performance, qualifications, competence and
job nature. The remuneration of the Directors is recommended by the
Remuneration Committee and decided by the Board, having regard to
their experience, responsibilities, performance and the time devoted to the
Group’s business. The Company has adopted a Post-IPO share option
scheme on 15 November 2018 (the “Share Option Scheme”) as an incentive
arrangement for eligible employees.

Retirement Benefit Scheme
Details of the retirement benefit scheme of the Group are set out in note 30
to the consolidated financial statements.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report, at
least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital is held by the public
under the Listing Rules.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EE -G

Share Option Scheme
Particulars of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme pursuant to an ordinary
resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company on 15 November
2018 which shall be valid and effective for a period ending on the tenth
anniversary of 12 December 2018, being the date of the listing of the Shares
on the Stock Exchange, subject to early termination by the Company in a
general meeting or by the Board. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme
is to provide an incentive or reward for the grantees for their contribution
or potential contribution to the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries.
Under the Share Option Scheme, the Board may offer to grant an option
to any full-time or part-time employees, potential employees, consultants,
executives or officers (including executive, non-executive and independent
non-executive Directors) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, and any
suppliers, customers, consultants, agents and advisers who, in the sole
opinion of the Board has contributed or will contribute to the Group.

The number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company at any time shall not
in aggregate exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time. The
maximum number of Shares available for issue under options which may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme or other share option scheme
adopted by the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares
in issue immediately following completion of the Share Offer (but taking
no account of any Shares which may be allotted or issued pursuant to the
exercise of the Over-allotment Option (as defined in the Prospectus)) (the
“Scheme Limit”), being 160,000,000 Shares. The total number of Shares
issued and which may fall to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted pursuant to the Share Option Scheme to each eligible person in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the number of Shares in issue as
at the date of grant unless approved by the shareholders of the Company in
general meeting.
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Share Option Scheme (continued)

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option granted
under the Share Option Scheme shall be determined by the Board provided
that it shall not be less than the highest of: (i) the official closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the offer
date, which must be a business day; (ii) the average of the official closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets
for the five business days immediately preceding the offer date; and (jii) the
nominal value of a Share.

Upon acceptance of the option, the grantee shall pay HK$1 to the Company
by way of consideration for the grant. An option may be exercised in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time after
the date upon which the option is deemed to be granted and accepted and
prior to the expiry of 10 years from that date. The period during which an
option may be exercised will be determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion, save that no option may be exercised more than 10 years after it
has been granted.

No share options were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the
year ended 31 December 2024 and no share options were outstanding as at
31 December 2024 under the Share Option Scheme.

As at the date of this report, the total number of Shares available for issue
under the Share Option Scheme was 160,000,000 Shares representing 10%
of the issued Shares.

The number of share options available for grant under the Scheme Limit as
at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 was both 160,000,000.
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Continuing Connected Transactions

On 12 December 2023, the Group entered into several continuing connected
transactions with the connected persons of the Company, namely Guizhou
Bangda and &/ EF4r4 82 )R B R & 72 7 (Guizhou Yue Bang Integrated
Energy Limited Liability Company®) (“Guizhou Yue Bang”). Guizhou Bangda
was owned as to 90% and 10% by Mr. Yu Bangping and Mr. Yu
Bangcheng, respectively. Mr. Yu Bangping is the Chairman and an
executive Director. Also, each of Mr. Yu Bangping and Mr. Yu Bangcheng
was indirectly interested in approximately 61.2% and 7.2% shareholding
interests in Spring Snow Management Limited, a substantial shareholder of
the Company, respectively as at 12 December 2023. Hence, Mr. Yu
Bangping and Mr. Yu Bangcheng were regarded as the Controlling
Shareholders. As such, Guizhou Bangda, an entity controlled by Mr. Yu
Bangping and Mr. Yu Bangcheng, was regarded as an associate of the
connected person of the Company pursuant to Rule 14A.12(1)(c) of the
Listing Rules. Guizhou Yue Bang was owned as to 48% and 52% by
Guizhou Bangda and an independent third party of the Company,
respectively as at 12 December 2023 and was therefore an associate of the
connected person of the Company pursuant to Rule 14A.12(1)(c) of the
Listing Rules. These continuing connected transactions are disclosed as
CCT No. 1 to 5 in the table below pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. Details of each of these continuing connected transactions are set
out in the announcement of the Company dated 12 December 2023.

*  For identification purpose only
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Continuing Connected Transactions (continued)

CCT Name, date and term of the agreements

No. and service fee
HERE
R5F%  BEER - ARRARARREE

1 QOperations Agreement signed on 12 December 2023
202312 12REFTHEE RS

Term: From 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2026
R 5202451 A1AZ2026512A317

Logistics service at cost of RMBS per tonne (tax
inclusive)
IAGHEARHETL( S50 WA AR MRS
2 Baogushan Gas Supply Agreement signed on
12 December 2023
R0BE12A 1B AT E AL R RS

Term: From 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2026
% 5202451 A1R 220265123317

Sale of coalbed gas: RMB0.0688 per KWh electricity
generated (tax inclusive)
HERER  LEETRBAARK0.068T(27)

3 Hongguo Gas Supply Agreement signed on
12 December 2023
12023512 AR BT AR R

Term: From 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2026
R 5202451 A1A 220265123317

Sale of coalbed gas: RMBO.18 /m® (tax inclusive)

HERER  SUIRARR0IST(2R)

*  For identification purpose only
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Transaction party Counterparty, nature and
within the Group description of the transaction
AEENNRS S REHTR - HERRE
Jiutai Bangda Logistics service provided by
ARHE Guizhou Bangda

mEMARRRRE

ENARPBERRREER Coalbed gas supplied to
AABFAREEALER Guizhou Yue Bang

(Guizhou Jiutai Bangda Energy ~ FEMNEARERER
Development Co., Ltd. Hongguo
Town Pan County Baogushan
Coal Ming’) (‘Baogushan Coal
Mine Branch”), a branch of
Jiutai Bangda
EMARARERREERLA
BEIREEALER(EAL
AN

BRADA]) (ARAENHD

)

ENARREREREER Coalbed gas supplied to
LS ML Guizhou Yue Bang

(Guizhou Jiutai Bangda Energy ~ FIEM EALEEER
Development Co., Ltd. Hongguo
Town Pan County Hongguo
Coal Mine) (Hongguo Coal
Mine Branch”), a branch of
Jiutai Bangda
EMARARERREERL TR
BURBURRR(MRRRD
AR AFAENLA)

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
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Consideration
Purpose of transaction for 2024
REEH NUERE
RMB'000
ARETFT
For temporary storage and loading 3,792
of Jiutai Bangda’s coal and
coal side products on trains
for onward transportation at
Huajiazhuang Railway Logistics
Centre
ERERARAENRRRERE
ERUHERENS  DlfHE
REFRERMARLENEE
Supply of coalbed gas from 2,802
Baogushan Coal Mine for
generating other source of
revenue
FRHALABRERIRREES
&R
Supply of coalbed gas from 1,446

Hongguo Coal Mine for
generating other source of
revenue

BRIRRERERMEEL R -
RERE
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Continuing Connected Transactions (continued)

CCT
No.
AR

Name, date and term of the agreements
and service fee

S - EHRARARBHE

Baogushan Electricity Supply Agreement signed on
12 December 2023
RBFRARBETNEALS RS

Term: From 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2026
R 5202451 A1AZ2026512A317

Purchase of electricity: RMB0.5038 per kWh
(tax inclusive)
BEEN: BTRRARB050%8T(2H)

Hongguo Electricity Supply Agreement signed on
12 December 2023
HBE1RARBETHIRE N RS

Term: From 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2026
% 5202451 A18 220265123318

Purchase of electricity: RMB0.5117 per kWh
(tax inclusive)

BESN: GTABARBOSNR(RH)

Transaction party
within the Group

ARERNRSR

Baogushan Coal Mine Branch
BALEEADA

Hongguo Coal Mine Branch
HESY U

Counterparty, nature and
description of the transaction

EOHES N E L

Electricity purchased from
Guizhou Yue Bang

HEMEAEER

Electricity purchased from
Guizhou Yue Bang
mENEARER

HERERS @)

Purpose of transaction

BCIEL

Purchase of electricity for use in
Baogushan Coal Mine

BES/MEALRRER

Purchase of electricity for use in
Hongguo Coal Mine
BESMIRRRER

Consideration
for 2024

NUFRE
RMB'000
ARETT

6,570

9,711
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Continuing Connected Transactions (continued)

All the above continuing connected transactions as referred to CCT No. 1
to 5 are exempt from the circular and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, but are subject to
the reporting, announcement and annual review requirements. None of the
transaction amount of each of the above continuing connected transactions
has exceeded its respective annual cap (on an aggregated basis where
appropriate) for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the continuing
connected transactions of the Company set out above and unanimously
confirmed that these continuing connected transactions were entered
into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (ii) on
normal commercial terms or better; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor of the Company
has issued an unqualified letter containing the findings and conclusions in
respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

Related Party Transactions

Details of the related party transactions of the Group are set out in note 31
to the consolidated financial statements. The Company confirmed that in
relation to the related party transactions for the year ended 31 December
2024, the Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Please refer to the section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” of
this report for further details.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
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Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group recognises the importance of environmental affairs and
considers business development and environment affairs are highly
related. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group implemented
certain environmental protection measures to save energy and reduce the
consumption of resources. These policies were supported by the staff of the
Group and were implemented effectively.

For more detailed information about the Group’s environmental policies
and performance for this financial year, please refer to the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” on pages 76 to 105 of this annual report.

Key Relationships with Stakeholders

The Group recognises that employees, customers, business associates
and the local community are key stakeholders of the Group’s success.
The Group strives to achieve corporate sustainability through engaging
employees, providing quality services to customers and collaborating
with business associates (including suppliers and contractors) to deliver
sustainable products and services and support the local community.

For more detailed information, please refer to the “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” on pages 76 to 105 of this annual report.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group is subject to various laws and regulations including the
Companies Act (As Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and Business
Registration Ordinance (Chapter 310 of the Laws of Hong Kong), etc. The
Group has put in place internal controls to ensure compliance with the
same. In addition, as the Group engages business in the People’s Republic
of China, compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to
applicable laws, rules and regulations in particular, the mining-related rules
and regulations which have significant impact on the Group. Any changes
in the applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought to the attention
of relevant employees and relevant operation units in the Company and
subsidiaries from time to time.
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Relief of Taxation
The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the Shares.

Auditor

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 have been
audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. A resolution to re-appoint Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu as the independent auditor of the Company will be
proposed at the 2025 AGM.

By order of the Board

Yu Bangping

Chairman

Hong Kong, 18 March 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERME

Corporate Governance Code

The Company recognises the importance of corporate transparency and
accountability. It is the belief of the Board that the shareholders of the
Company can maximise their benefits from good corporate governance. In
the opinion of the Directors, the Company complied with all code provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Compliance with the Model Code for Securities

Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix C3 to the
Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company
confirms that the Directors complied with the required standard set out in
the Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Company’s Culture and Values

The Company is committed to creating value for our customers and
contributing to the development of society through our products and
services. Our corporate culture is built on the following core values:

1. Professionalism: We focus on the coal industry and continuously
strive to improve our knowledge and skills. To uphold excellence,
we invest in employee growth with ongoing training programs and
technical skill development.

2. Integrity: We uphold high standards of business ethics and
corporate governance in all activities and operations. Our employees
are committed to maintaining integrity and acting ethically and
responsibly, with explicit standards and norms laid out in training
materials for all new staff and incorporated into various policies,
such as the Group’s employee handbook, anti-corruption policy and
whistleblowing policy.
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Company’s Culture and Values (continued)

3. Responsibility: We see products and employee responsibility are
the valuable assets. We take responsibility for our coal production
and ensure it meets environmental and safety standards. We also
prioritise the safety and health of employees in the workplace by
providing necessary training and resources to ensure their well-
being.

4. Sustainability: We recognize the importance of environmental
protection and sustainable development. We always strive to
minimize our negative impact on the environment and promote
sustainable development in the economic and social aspects.

These core values will guide our actions and decisions, and help us achieve
our mission: to become a trusted and sustainable coal company, creating
value for our customers, employees, and communities.

The Board of Directors

The Board is responsible for ensuring continuity of leadership, development
of sound business strategies, availability of adequate capital and managerial
resources to implement the adopted business strategies, adequacy of
systems of financial and internal controls and conduct of business in
conformity with applicable laws and regulations. All Directors have made full
and active contribution to the affairs of the Board and the Board has always
acted in the best interests of the Group.

The executive Directors and the senior management are delegated with
respective levels of authorities with regard to key corporate strategies and
policy and contractual commitments. Senior management is responsible for
the day-to-day operations of the Group with divisional heads responsible for
different aspects of the Group’s business.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the roles of the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company (“CEO”) were
performed by Mr. Yu Bangping and Mr. Yu Zhilong, respectively. Mr. Yu
Bangping is responsible for the overall management and strategic planning
and business development of the Group and Mr. Yu Zhilong is accountable
to the Board for the implementation of the Company’s strategies and the
coordination of various business operations. The Company has clearly
established the division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the
CEO, so that the balance of power and authorization between the Board
and the management of the Company could be maintained.

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises five executive Directors, namely Mr. Yu
Bangping (Chairman), Mr. Yu Zhilong (CEOQO), Mr. Li Xuezhong (Chief
Operating Officer), Mr. Lau Kai Ming (Chief Financial Officer) and Mr. Yu
Xiao and four independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Fong Wai
Ho, Mr. Punnya Niraan De Silva, Mr. Si Zeyu and Ms. Yau Shu Shan. Mr.
Yu Bangping is interested in the Company’s shares through his interests
in Spring Snow Management Limited, the immediate holding company of
the Company. Mr. Yu Bangping is the father of Mr. Yu Zhilong. Save as
disclosed aforesaid, the Directors have no other financial, business, family
or other material/relevant relationships with one another.

Mr. Si Zeyu and Ms. Yau Shu Shan, who were appointed as independent
non-executive Directors on 7 June 2024 and 14 November 2024
respectively, confirmed that they had obtained the legal advice referred
to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 3 May 2024 and 12 November
2024 respectively and they understood their obligations as Directors of the
Company.
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Board Composition (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the number of independent non-
executive Directors represents more than one-third of the Board. As such,
there exists a strong independent element in the Board which can effectively
exercise independent judgement. The Company has complied with the
requirements under Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the Listing Rules.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 11 to 16 of this
annual report.

Independence of Independent Non-executive

Directors

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence from each
independent non-executive Director. The Company has assessed their
independence and concluded that all independent non-executive Directors
are independent in accordance with the relevant guidelines set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Board Independence

The Board has established mechanisms ensuring independent views
available to the Board and such mechanisms are reviewed annually by the
Board. The Board considered that the following key features or mechanisms
under the Company’s Board and governance structure are effective in
ensuring that independent views and input are provided to the Board.
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Composition of the Board and
Board Committees

EXGNEFEZEEMAN

The Board endeavours to ensure the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive directors (“INED(s)”) and at least one-third of its members being
INEDs (or such higher threshold as may be required by the Listing Rules from time
to time).

Apart from complying with the requirements prescribed by the Listing Rules as to
the composition of certain Board committees, INEDs will be appointed to other
Board committees as far as practicable to ensure independent views are available.
EEeSNIMREAZL 2B UIIFNTES((BUFNTER ) REEL =92
—HIKE REIENITE S (S EMARRTRARENESFIE) o

BT EmRAMETESZRESNARRTEIN BUFRTEZTHRIEATH
BRATEZEZAMESTEZE S URRERBIER -



56 Perennial Energy Holdings Limited A &= BERIZERER QA

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

rEER®RE(E)

Board Independence (continued)

Independence Assessment °
L]
L]
B AT .
L]
L]
Compensation °
e .

BEESHE M @)

The Nomination Committee must strictly adhere to the Nomination Policy and the
independence assessment criteria as set out in the Listing Rules with regard to
the nomination and appointment of INEDs.

Each INED is also required to inform the Company as soon as practicable if there
is any change in his/her own personal particulars that may materially affect his/her
independence.

The Nomination Committee is mandated to assess annually the independence of
all INEDs by reference to the independence criteria as set out in the Listing Rules
to ensure that they can continually exercise independent judgement.
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No equity-based remuneration (e.g. share options or grants) with performance-
related elements will be granted to INEDs as this may lead to bias in their
decision-making and compromise their objectivity and independence.
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Board Decision Making
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EE2H M@

INEDs (as other Directors) are entitled to seek further information and
documentation from the management on the matters to be discussed at Board
meetings. They can also seek assistance from the Company’s company secretary
and, where necessary, independent advice from external professional advisers at
the Company’s expense.

INEDs (as other Directors) shall not vote or be counted in the quorum on any
Board resolution approving any contract or arrangement in which such Director or
any of his/her close associates has a material interest.

The Chairman shall at least annually hold meetings with the INEDs without the
presence of other Directors to discuss major issues and any concerns.
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AmEX

The Board shall, or may designate a Board committee to, make an annual review
of the implementation and effectiveness of these mechanisms.
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Directors’ Continuous Professional Development
The Company provides regular updates on the business performance
of the Group to the Directors. The Directors are continually updated by
the management of the Company on the latest development regarding
the Listing Rules and other applicable statutory requirements to ensure
compliance and upholding of good corporate governance practices.

The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development courses and seminars to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Directors
participated in continuous professional development by way of attending
training and/or seminars organised by professional organisations and
director training webcasts organised by the Stock Exchange and also
reading materials updating new practices, rules and regulations to keep
themselves updated on the roles, functions and duties of a listed company’s
director.
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Directors’ Continuing Professional Development

(continued)
According to the records provided by the Directors, a summary of training
received by the Directors for the year ended 31 December 2024 is as

follows:
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Training/Seminars/
Reading materials

I EES

Name of Directors EFEMA RS
Executive Directors HITEF

Mr. Yu Bangping (Chairman) RABFFREER) v
Mr. Yu Zhilong (CEO) REBREE(TTEAEEL) v
Mr. Li Xuezhong (Chief Operating Officer) TERELE(HEEEER) 4
Mr. Lau Kai Ming (Chief Financial Officer) BIERSE ST (BEAHE) v
Mr. Yu Xiao GG pitas v
Mr. Wang Shize (resigned on 12 March 2024) T4 (20243 A12HE(T) N/ATE
Independent Non-executive Directors HIHNTEE

Mr. Fong Wai Ho FIERSEE v
Mr. Punnya Niraan De Silva Punnya Niraan De Silvast 4 v
Mr. Si Zeyu (appointed on 7 June 2024) AR A (7R2024F6 ATEEZT) v
Ms. Yau Shu Shan (appointed on 14 November 2024) BT 2z £ (522024411 A14BEZE(T) v
Ms. Cheung Suet Ting, Samantha REE R (7R2024F 11 A14BEHT) N/A7~E A

(resigned on 14 November 2024)
Mr. Wang Xiufeng (resigned on 1 May 2024) THIEFE(R2024F5 A1 BEHT) N/ATE

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors
Each of the executive Directors has entered into an executive director
service agreement with the Company for a term of three years until
terminated by either party by giving to the other not less than one month’s
notice. Each of the independent non-executive Directors was appointed to
the Board pursuant to his/her respective letter of appointment for a term of
three years until terminated by either party by giving to the other not less
than three months’ notice. The procedures and process of appointment,
re-election and removal of the Directors are governed by the Articles. Each
of the Directors is subject to re-election at the annual general meeting (the
“AGM”) of the Company upon retirement by rotation.
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Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

(continued)

The Articles provide that any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until the first
AGM after his appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election at that
meeting.

In accordance with Article 16.19 of the Articles, at every AGM of the
Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number
is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to, but not
less than, one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any Director required
to stand for re-election pursuant to Article 16.2 of the Articles shall not
be taken into account in determining the number of Directors and which
Directors are to retire by rotation. A retiring Director shall retain office until
the close of the AGM at which he retires and shall be eligible for re-election
thereat. The Company at any AGM at which any Directors retire may fill the
vacated office by electing a like number of persons to be Directors.

Board Process

The Board meets regularly to discuss and formulate the overall strategy
as well as the operation and financial performance of the Group. Directors
may participate in meetings either in person or through electronic means of
communication. At least fourteen days’ notice of a regular Board meeting
is normally given to all Directors who are provided with an opportunity to
include matters for discussion on the agenda. According to the current
Board practice, if a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be
considered by the Board which the Board has determined to be material,
the matter will be dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board meeting
rather than by a written resolution. The Articles also stipulate that save for
the exceptions as provided therein, a Director shall abstain from voting and
not be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving any transaction,
contract or arrangement in which such Director or any of his/her close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) has a material interest.

In addition to Board meetings, the Chairman of the Board met with the
independent non-executive Directors once without the presence of other
executive Directors in 2024.
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Board Process (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, five Board meetings were held
and attendance of each Director at the Board meetings is set out in the
section headed “Attendance Records of Meetings” of this report.

Board and committee minutes are recorded in appropriate detail and
draft minutes are circulated to all Directors and committee members for
comments before being approved.

Board Committees

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the Remuneration Committee (collectively, the “Board Committees”)
on 15 November 2018. All the Board Committees perform their distinct roles
and functions in accordance with their respective terms of reference which
are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
The Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s
expenses.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three members, all being independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Fong Wai Ho, Mr. Punnya Niraan De Silva,
Ms. Cheung Suet Ting, Samantha (resigned on 14 November 2024) and Ms.
Yau Shu Shan (appointed on 14 November 2024). Mr. Fong Wai Ho is the
chairman of the Audit Committee.

The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee include, among others,
() monitoring the integrity of the Group’s financial statements including
but not limited to the Group’s interim and annual results; (ii) overseeing the
relationship between the Company and its external auditor; (iii) reviewing
the financial reporting system and risk management and internal control
systems of the Group; and (iv) performing the corporate governance
functions set out in code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

All members of the Audit Committee possess in-depth experience in
their own profession. At least one of the committee members possesses
appropriate professional qualifications in finance and accounting and meets
the requirements of Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.
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Board Committees (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no disagreement
between the Board and the Audit Committee on the re-appointment of
the external auditor. The Audit Committee is mandated to monitor the
independence of the external auditor to ensure true objectivity in the
financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee held two
meetings and performed the following duties:

(@) reviewed, with the management and the external auditor of the
Company, the 2023 annual results and the 2024 interim results of
the Group before their submission to the Board;

(b) monitored the integrity of such financial statements and the
accounting principles and policies adopted by the Group;

(©) oversaw matters concerning the external auditor including making
recommendations to the Board regarding the re-appointment of the
external auditor and approving their fees;

(d) reviewed the effectiveness of financial controls, risk management
and internal control systems of the Company as well as the
independence of the external auditor; and

(e) reviewed and was satisfied with the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget
of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions.

The attendance of each member of the Audit Committee is set out in the
section headed “Attendance Records of Meetings” of this report.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises one executive Director, namely Mr.
Yu Bangping, and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Fong Wai Ho, Ms. Cheung Suet Ting, Samantha (resigned on 14 November
2024) and Ms. Yau Shu Shan (appointed on 14 November 2024). Mr. Yu
Bangping is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.
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Board Committees (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

The primary responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the structure, size and composition (including without limitation, gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional experience, talents,
skills, knowledge, length of service, experience and other qualities of
Directors) of the Board at least annually and making recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy and assessing the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) with the aim of enhancing the Board’s quality of performance as
well as achieving the Company’s sustainable and balanced development.
Board diversity has been considered from a number of perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge, and
length of service. All Directors’ appointments will be based on meritocracy,
and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. The current Board consists
of a diverse mix of Board members with appropriate skills and experience to
lead and oversee the business of the Company. Depending on the needs of
the Group’s growing business and the availability of competent candidates
to fulfill those needs, suitably qualified individuals will be considered in the
future for Board membership.

As at 31 December 2024, the Board comprised one female Director
(independent non-executive Director) and eight male Directors (comprising
five executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors),
representing one over nine of the Board’s composition. The Board targets
to maintain at least the current level of female representation, with no
immediate targets as to the number of female directors on the Board.
The management believes that setting numerical targets and timelines
for achieving gender diversity on the Board is a valuable enterprise goal.
However such setting is not currently feasible as the coal mining industry
has encountered challenges in attracting and developing female talent.
The Company is committed to promoting gender diversity and inclusivity
within its organization in the long run. The Board will continue to explore
opportunities to increase the proportion of female board members over time
as and when suitable candidates are identified.
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Board Committees (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

As at 31 December 2024, more than 12% of the Group’s global workforce
(including senior management) was female. Accordingly, the Company
considers that gender diversity is also achieved in its workforce generally.
The table below summarizes the proportion of women at different position
levels across the Group as at 31 December 2024.

ﬁ%%jﬁi&%<%§)
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Level L1550
Senior
Director Management Manager Employee
Gender gzl = SREEE g BT
Male Esls 8 5 51 3,190
Female i - 5 439
Note: The above data is calculated based on the number of total employees of the MET :  EABURTIRAEEE £ 2024F12 A31H

Group as of 31 December 2024.

The Board has also adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
to formally set out the criteria, process and procedures for the Nomination
Committee to recommend suitable candidates for directorship. According
to the Nomination Policy, the ultimate responsibility for selection and
appointment of Directors rests with the entire Board or the shareholders
in general meetings, as the case may be. The Board has delegated the
relevant screening and evaluation process to the Nomination Committee,
which identifies suitably qualified Director candidates and recommends
them to the Board. In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate, the
Nomination Committee takes into consideration the expected contribution
of the candidate that would bring to the Board to ensure the Board has a
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business, his/her commitment and devoting
sufficient time and attention to the Company’s affairs, fulfiiment of the
independence requirements as set out in the Listing Rules (for independent
non-executive Directors) and diversity on the Board. After reaching
its decision, the Nomination Committee nominates relevant Director
candidates to the Board for approval of appointment and for consideration
and recommendation in respect of the re-election of the retiring Directors.
The Board will make recommendation to shareholders in respect of the
proposed re-election of Directors at general meetings of the Company.
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Board Committees (continued)
Nomination Committee (continued)
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Nomination Committee held

three meetings and performed the following duties:

(@)

reviewed the structure, size, composition of the Board and the
Board Diversity Policy, to ensure that the Board’s composition
complies with the Listing Rules and reflects an appropriate mix
of skills, experience, and diversity that are relevant to Company’s
strategy, governance, and business and contribute to the Board’s
effectiveness and efficiency. The Nomination Committee is satisfied
with the implementation and effectiveness of the Board Diversity
Policy;

assessed the independence of independent non-executive Directors;

reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the Board
Diversity Policy;

reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on renewal of
the executive Directors’ service agreements and the INEDs’ letters
of appointment; and

made recommendations to the Board on the re-election of the
retiring Directors and the appointment of new Directors.

The attendance of each member of the Nomination Committee is set out in

the section headed “Attendance Records of Meetings” of this report.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises one executive Director, namely

Mr. Lau Kai Ming and two independent non-executive Directors, namely

Mr. Fong Wai Ho and Mr. Punnya Niraan De Silva. Mr. Fong Wai Ho is the

chairman of the Remuneration Committee.
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Board Committees (continued)
Remuneration Committee (continued)

The primary responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include, among
others, (i) making recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure
for all remuneration of the Directors and senior management and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing policies
on such remuneration; (ii) reviewing and approving the management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals
and objectives; and (iii) making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of executive Directors and members of senior

management.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Remuneration Committee
held three meetings and performed the following duties:

(@) reviewed the remuneration of Directors and senior management
of the Group and recommended the Board to approve their

remuneration; and

(b) reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the proposed
remuneration package of the new Directors appointed during the

year.

The attendance of each member of the Remuneration Committee is set out
in the section headed “Attendance Records of Meetings” of this report.

Remuneration of the Members of the Senior Management by

Band

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, details of the annual
remuneration of the senior management by band for the year ended 31

December 2024 are as follows:

Remuneration band

Nil to HK$1,000,000

Details of the remuneration of each Director for the year ended 31 December
2024 are set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Attendance Records of Meetings
Set out below are the individual attendance records of each Director at the

Board meetings, Board Committees meetings and AGM held during the
year ended 31 December 2024:

Name of Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Yu Bangping (Chairman)

Mr. Yu Zhilong (CEO)

Mr. Li Xuezhong (Chief Operating
Officer)

Mr. Lau Kai Ming (Chief Financial
Officer)

Mr. Yu Xiao

Mr. Wang Shize
(resigned on 12 March 2024)

Independent Non-executive
Directors

Mr. Fong Wai Ho

Mr. Punnya Niraan De Silva

Mr. Si Zeyu (appointed on 7 June
2024)

Ms. Yau Shu Shan (appointed on
14 November 2024)

Ms. Cheung Suet Ting, Samantha
(resigned on 14 November 2024)

Mr. Wang Xiufeng (resigned on
1 May 2024)

# Attended in person

et

HITEE
RAFEREEE)
RXBELLE(TTEARR)
FEBRLE(BEELER)

BRSEE(BEAFEE)

T2k
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Punnya Niraan De Silvat £
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Attended by electronic means

Board
Meeting
EEg
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5/5
5/5
5/5
5/5

5/5
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5/5
5/5
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N/ATSE A

5/5
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Attended/Eligible to attend

Audit
Committee
Meeting
EVEZEE

i
% %

N/ATNEF
N/ATNEF
N/ATEA
N/ATE R

N/ATNEF
N/ATN

2/2
2/2
N/ATEA
N/ATE R

2/2

N/ATEA

HE/SERILRE
Nomination Remuneration
Committee Committee
Meeting Meeting
REZEE HHZzES
Lot Lo
3/3 N/ATNE
N/AT 3 A N/ATE A
N/AT 3 A N/AT i A
N/ATNE R 3/3
N/ATNEF N/ATNE
N/AT 3 A N/AT i A
3/3 3/3
N/ATNEF 3/3
N/AT 3 A N/AT i A
N/ATEA N/ATiEA
3/3 N/ATNE
N/AT 3 A N/AT i A
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© BBHE

AGM
RRBE
N

11
1/1*
1/1*
11

171
N/ATNEF

11

1/1*
N/ATE A
N/ATSE

11

N/ATE A



Annual Report 2024 £% 7

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

EERRE(E)
Auditor’s Remuneration 1% B4 B %5 B
The remuneration paid or payable to the Company’s auditor, Deloitte RABIEZ AN el ER S FTAITR
Touche Tohmatsu, for services rendered in respect of the year ended 31 HZE2024F12 A31 B L FE iR BRE B
December 2024 is as follows: SEMNBBM ST
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETTT

Audit services ZE AR 2,404 2,341
Non-audit services B RS

Other services H bR 41 1,877
Total BEt 2,445 4,218
In considering the re-appointment of the external auditor, the Audit BERZEENEHEEINEZEANEEER
Committee has taken into consideration their relationship with the Company BN T2 MR REE T - BIREHE
and their independence. Based on the results of the review and after RUWKEZRAEBEEENER B&EES
taking into account the opinion of the management of the Group, the EMEFEEREERYBMERA AT
Audit Committee recommended the Board to re-appoint Deloitte Touche RARNTBE T —FEERINBZERED - AR
Tohmatsu as the external auditor of the Company for the ensuing year, 2025F R BF ARG EARNTIRRA LR

subject to approval by the shareholders of the Company at the 2025 FAEE - ItIh - BEREESRAZEEINE
AGM. In addition, the Audit Committee is of the view that the auditor’s SRR ERT RIS A -
independence is not affected by the non-audit services rendered.
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Directors’ and Auditor’s Responsibilities in respect

of the Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for presenting a clear,
balanced assessment of the Group’s performance and prospects and
preparing the financial statements that give a true and fair view of the
Group on a going-concern basis. The management provides the Board with
the relevant information it needs to discharge these responsibilities. The
Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 106 to 112 of this annual report.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining sound and effective risk
management and internal control systems to safeguard the Group’s assets
and the shareholders’ interests. The risk management and internal control
systems are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
of no material misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate
risks of failure in operational systems and achievements of the Group’s
objectives.

Main Features of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

Risk Management System

The risk management system comprises risk identification, risk evaluation
and risk management. The management is entrusted with duties to identify
and communicate risks associated with any activity, function or process
within its scope of responsibility and authority. Risks are evaluated by the
Board and management based on the severity of the impact of the risks on
the Company’s financial results and the probability that the risks will occur.
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Risk Management and Internal Control (continued)
Main Features of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems (continued)

Risk Management System (continued)

Based on the risk evaluation, the Company manages the risk as follows:

° Risk mitigation — management will implement risk mitigation plan to
reduce the likelihood and severity of the risk to an acceptable level.

. Risk retention — management will retain the risk if the risk rating is at
acceptable level and no action is required.

° Risk monitoring — management will monitor the level of risk
continuously and will take necessary action to reduce the risk to
acceptable level.

Internal Control System

The Company has put in place an internal control system which enables the
Group to achieve objectives regarding the effectiveness and efficiency of
operations, reliability of financial reporting and compliance with applicable
laws and regulations. The main features of the internal control system are
shown as follows:

° Monitoring — ongoing evaluations are conducted to ascertain
whether the internal control system is functioning.

° Risk assessment — a risk management system is established for
identifying and analysing risks to achieve the Company’s objectives,
forming a basis for determining how risks are managed.

° Information and communication - internal and external
communication are made to provide the Company with information
needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

Our internal audit department is responsible for assessment of the
effectiveness of the performance of the safety production measures.
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Risk Management and Internal Control (continued)
Main Features of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems (continued)

Internal Control System (continued)

The Board has an ongoing process for identifying, assessing, and managing
the significant risks (including environmental, social, and governance
(“ESG”) risks) encountered by the Group. As part of this process, the risk
management systems and internal controls are reviewed at least annually
and improved from time to time in response to changes in the business or
external environment. By identifying and evaluating the risks encountered
as well as designing, operating, and monitoring effective internal controls
to mitigate and control these risks, management assists the Board in
the design, implementation and maintenance of the Group’s policies,
procedures, and limits within the Board’s approved risk appetite.

The review covers all material controls, including financial, operational and
procedural compliance controls as well as the process for the identification,
evaluation and management of the significant risks (including ESG risks)
faced by the Group. The Board also reviews the Group’s accounting,
compliance, risk management, internal audit, and financial reporting
functions, as well as those pertaining to the Group’s ESG performance and
reporting, in terms of resources, employee qualifications and experience,
training programmes, and budget of the Group.

In order to ensure a sound and effective internal control system
underpinning the risk management framework, the Board, through the Audit
Committee, conducted an annual review of the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group with the assistance
of an independent internal control consultancy firm, Richard Poon &
Partners Risk Management Limited (“Richard Poon”), for the year ended 31
December 2024. Richard Poon submitted its internal control review and risk
assessment reports of the Group to the Audit Committee and the Board in
March 2025.

The above-mentioned review report with examination results and relevant
improvement recommendations duly enabled the Audit Committee
and the Board to assess the effectiveness of the internal control and
risk management systems of the Group. Any material deficiencies or
weaknesses identified in the internal control system were dealt with through
appropriate remedial actions in a timely manner. All remedial actions
shall also be regularly followed up where necessary to ensure that the
deficiencies and weaknesses have been mitigated or duly addressed.
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Risk Management and Internal Control (continued)
Main Features of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems (continued)

Internal Control System (continued)

During the review, the Board also considered the resources and staff
qualifications and experience of the Group’s internal audit, accounting,
financial reporting and business support functions, and found their training
and budgets adequate. The Board considers that the risk management
and internal control systems are effective and adequate and that the
Company has complied with code provisions of the CG Code relating to risk
management and internal control.

The Company is aware of its obligation under the SFO, the Listing Rules and
the overriding principle that inside information should be announced on a
timely basis and conducts its affairs in strict compliance with the applicable
laws and regulations. The Company has established disclosure mechanism
regarding the procedures of identifying inside information and preserving its
confidentiality until proper dissemination with the Board’s approval through
the electronic publication systems operated by the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

ESG compliance and governance

The Group has developed internal strategies aiming at creating sustainable
value for its stakeholders and minimizing its negative impact on the
environment. To carry out the Group’s sustainability strategy from top
to bottom, the Board holds ultimate responsibility for ensuring the
effectiveness of the Group’s ESG strategies.

Dedicated teams have been established within each business division
to manage ESG issues and monitor progress toward corporate goals for
addressing climate change. These teams are responsible for enforcing and
overseeing the implementation of relevant ESG policies throughout the
Group and have designated staff members to carry out these tasks.

The Group’s management and responsible teams regularly review and
adjust its sustainability policies to meet the evolving needs of stakeholders.
Detailed ESG risk and information on the Group’s management approaches
for environmental and social aspects can be found in various sections of
our ESG report. The Board is satisfied with the adequacy of the Group’s
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and
budget relating to ESG performance and reporting.
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Procedures and Internal Controls for the Handling BREREAAREENEFREA
and Dissemination of Inside Information BB EL

With respect to the procedures and internal controls for the handling and PRI RFEMAREEEMEF KA EEM
dissemination of inside information, the Group conducts its affairs with = AREEMEEBR G RIETES K
close attention to the inside information provisions under the SFO and the EEHI R EMRAETHAEEERTE - ES

Listing Rules. The Directors and senior management are responsible for ke EREaaETAMNFEEREST AN
determining whether any particular information is inside information and BHE - AREERBHAAEEANEE ST
overseeing and coordinating disclosure of inside information of the Group. BIEN - REMBETRNGIBEE - BIRT
They are also responsible for taking reasonable measures to ensure that R E RIRFEIEHE - LARD IE iR R BN SR
proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure requirement BEMNBEREATE - WHRARREEREEER
in relation to the Group from time to time and that disclosures are made REGERIERER,RAHEASE - LHEHESST
and/or announcements are published on a timely basis in accordance 2RAREE 2R FEERREBRE A

with the applicable laws and regulations, and before such information is HE c BEENBMNERAEMHAERTSHE
fully disclosed to the public, they shall ensure the same is kept strictly EEEHABEBIAREN  FEEREKX
confidential. The Directors are also committed to ensuring that information EEMBERIERGN - HMEWMPEHE
contained in announcements is not false or misleading as to a material fact, WER o

or false or misleading due to the omission of a material fact so as to present

information in a clear and balanced way.

Communication with Shareholders and Investor HEERNBRRIREERR
Relations
The Board communicates with its Company’s shareholders and investors EEeRREEREBEANARERIEEEE

through various channels. The Board members meet and communicate o EEGNENKRRBAFAG REMARRA
with shareholders and investors at AGMs and other general meetings 2LERRRVEESEIOEDE  EREA
where shareholders can obtain a better understanding of the business and ETHRAEEERREERR o ARBHAHI

operating performance of the Group. Corporate communications (such as AR FERE  BE BREAE)ER
interim and annual reports, notices, circulars and announcements) are sent Freg s TARE - WAl AR B RE R Friduh &
to shareholders in a timely manner and are available on the websites of the B e

Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Company has adopted the Shareholders Communication Policy, RABRERAREBABR - ZBCRARAR
which is available on the Company’s website and sets out the Group’s A LB - WIRE AR ERRRR AR
objective of ensuring timely, transparent and accurate communications Al AR BRARERBERNER -EFT

between the shareholders and the Company. The Board reviewed the F BRI R BN EUR A R AN & B R 2024 F 1T
Shareholders Communication Policy and the Group’s shareholders and IR R EE L HA KBS - WHARRA
investor engagement and communication activities conducted in 2024 and AMBEHNERMNE B RIRE

was satisfied with the implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholders

Communication Policy.

During the year under review, the 2024 AGM was held on 5 June 2024. REEFE « 2024 F R REF KNS E 72024
FASHZTT
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Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy”). According
to the Dividend Policy, in deciding whether to propose a dividend and
in determining the dividend amount, the Board takes into account the
following:

(@) The financial results of the Group;

(b) The working capital requirements, capital expenditure requirements
and future expansion plans of the Group;

(c) The retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company;

(d) The general economic condition, industry cycles of the Group’s
business and other internal or external factors that may have an
impact on the business or financial performance and position of the
Group;

(e) Any banking or other funding covenants by which the Company is
bound from time to time;

4] Any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by
the Group’s contracting parties;

(9 The shareholders’ and investors’ expectation; and
(h) Any other factors that the Board considers relevant.

The payment of dividends is also subject to compliance with applicable laws
and regulations including the laws of the Cayman Islands and the Articles.
The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy from time to time
and there can be no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular
amount for any given period.

Company Secretary

Mr. Chan Kwong Leung, Eric is the company secretary of the Company who
was nominated by an external service provider in respect of his appointment
as the company secretary of the Company. The primary corporate contact
person at the Company is Mr. Lau Kai Ming, an Executive Director and the
Chief Financial Officer of the Group. Mr. Chan has confirmed that he took
no less than 15 hours of the relevant professional training during the year
ended 31 December 2024.
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Shareholders’ Rights

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for the shareholders
to exchange views directly with the Board. Subject to provisions of the
applicable laws in the Cayman Islands and rules and regulations of the
Stock Exchange, an AGM is held each year and at the venue as determined
by the Board. Each general meeting, other than an AGM, is called an
extraordinary general meeting (‘EGM”).

Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting
Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Articles, an EGM shall be convened on the
written requisition of any one or more members of the Company holding
together, as at the date of deposit of the requisition, shares representing
not less than one-tenth of the voting rights, on a one vote per share basis,
of the Company which carry the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the
company secretary at the principal place of business of the Company
in Hong Kong, which is presently situated at Unit A1, 25th Floor, NCB
Innovation Centre, 888 Lai Chi Kok Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong, for the
purpose of requiring an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business specified in such requisition and signed by the requisitionist(s).
If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting, the requisitionist(s) (themselves) may do so in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s)
by the Company.

Putting Forward Enquiries by Shareholders to the Board
Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for the attention
of the company secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals by Shareholders at
Shareholders’ Meeting

Shareholders are requested to follow Article 12.3 of the Articles for putting
forward a resolution at a general meeting. The requirements and procedures
are set out above in the section headed “Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting”.
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Significant Changes in Constitutional Documents

On 5 June 2024, the shareholders of the Company approved at the 2024
AGM the proposed amendments (the “Amendments”) to the Memorandum
and Articles of Association of the Company by way of adoption of the new
set of Memorandum and Articles of Association in substitution for and to
the exclusion of the existing Memorandum and Articles of Association in
order to (a) bring the existing Memorandum and Articles of Association
up to date and in line with the latest regulatory requirements in relation to
the expanded paperless listing regime and the electronic dissemination of
corporate communications by listed issuers and the relevant amendments
made to the Listing Rules which took effect on 31 December 2023; and (b)
incorporate certain housekeeping amendments. Details of the Amendments
were set out in the circular of the Company dated 26 April 2024. The latest
Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association of the
Company is available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

By order of the Board
Yu Bangping
Chairman

Hong Kong, 18 March 2025
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Reporting Principles and Scopes

Perennial Energy Holdings Limited together with its subsidiaries (collectively
the “Group”, the “Company”, “We” or “Us”) listed on the Main Board of
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (“HKEX?”), is committed to fulfilling its
disclosure obligations concerning environmental, social, and governance
(“ESG”) matters, as required by HKEX regulations. In compliance with
regulatory mandates, this ESG Report strictly adheres to the guidelines
outlined in the Environmental, Social, and Governance Reporting Guide
(the “ESG Guide”) within Appendix C2 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) of the HKEX. Furthermore, it makes specific
references to the most recent iteration of Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules,
the Environmental, Social, and Governance Reporting Code (the “ESG
Code”) on certain aspects mainly related to climate-related disclosures. For
aspects requiring quantitative representation, the calculation methods and
key parameters adopted in the ESG Report are based on HKEX’s Reporting
Guidance on Environmental and ESG Reporting Guidance on Social KPlIs.

The preparation of this ESG Report follows the principles listed below:

1. Materiality: the channels of stakeholder engagement as well as the
process of identifying material ESG factors, will be disclosed in the

sections to follow;

2. Quantitative: the reporting of emissions/energy consumption follows
HKEX’s ESG Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs and uses
calculation tools it recommends; any assumptions made in relation

to a specific calculation are disclosed in the relative sections;

3. Consistency: there were no major changes to the methods or
KPls used, or any other relevant factors affecting a meaningful

comparison with the previous year;

4. Balance: to maintain transparency and credibility, the Group
engages an independent consultancy firm to assess and validate
the report’s findings. By incorporating both positive achievements
and areas requiring improvement, the report aims to provide
stakeholders with a comprehensive and impartial view of the Group’s

ESG initiatives and challenges.
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The Group primarily focuses on mine development, coal mining, and clean
coal production and sales at its main production sites in Guizhou Province,
China. To a smaller extent, the Group is also engaged in the sales of other
related products including middling coal, sludge coal and coalbed methane
gas. This ESG Report primarily discusses the influence of the Group’s core
business and operations spanning from 1 January 2024, to 31 December
2024 (the “year under review”), encompassing the Hongguo Coal Mine,
Baogushan Coal Mine, Xiejiahegou Coal Mine, Songshan Coal Preparation
Plant, and Xiejiahegou Coal Preparation Plant in Guizhou, along with offices
in Guizhou and Hong Kong.

A Message from the Board

In accordance with the guidelines set forth by HKEX’s ESG Guide and
ESG Code, the board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) assumes
full accountability for the Group’s environmental, social, and governance
strategies and reporting. Accordingly, the Board actively embraces this
responsibility, engaging comprehensively in all matters related to ESG
initiatives. Specifically, the Board plays a key role in the following areas:

Formulating ESG Policies and Strategies

The Board is responsible for developing the Group’s overall policies and
strategies related to ESG matters. This includes assessing and prioritising
the significance of various issues and devising feasible plans to optimise
the Group’s performance in these areas. When establishing regulations, the
Board appoints an ESG task force within the Group and, where necessary,
engages external consultants to interpret compliance requirements. Specific
policies will be detailed in this ESG Report in the relevant sections.

Supervising ESG Affairs

The Board oversees the Group’s ESG affairs, ensuring that ESG-related
activities are effectively managed. It periodically reviews the work of the
ESG task force and requires that key ESG metrics — including pollutant
emissions, electricity consumption, and water usage — be incorporated into
the annual reporting process and disclosed in this ESG Report.
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Evaluating ESG Progress

Beyond establishing policies and regulatory frameworks, the Board
continuously assesses progress towards ESG-related goals. Given that
the Group’s principal business involves the extraction of natural resources,
pollutant emissions and resource consumption remain top priorities. The
Group’s key objectives are to reduce emissions and optimise resource
efficiency. Additionally, as a labour-intensive industry, the Group is
committed to enhancing the working environment and ensuring the

operational safety of its employees.

Stakeholders Communication

Environmental, social, and governance issues are increasingly becoming
a focal point of interest across various sectors. As a publicly listed
corporation, the Group’s performance in this realm is subject to scrutiny and
oversight by various stakeholders, including: shareholders and investors,
government and regulatory bodies, customers, employees, communities,
and media. The table below identifies the major stakeholders’ demands and
expectations and outlines our communication channels with each of them.

Stakeholders Major demands and expectations
& FEERRHE
Shareholders and investors e Profit sustainability

e Corporate governance system

e Consumption of energy and
emission of pollutants

e Prevention of operational risks

B RIREE o RERFAL

o EEREM

o BERHERENTRMBEN

o MHBALERMR

Government and regulatory e Compliance with regulations
bodies e Consumption of energy and
emission of pollutants
e Conservation of resources
BT & BB o EEM
o BERERE R TRMBER
o HIAEIR
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Main communication channels
FEBBRE

e Company announcement
e General meetings
e Annual report and interim report

o FHRRPHHE

e Supervision and evaluation
e ESG Report
® Inspection

. EERIH
o BE - HBREARSE

o BE
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Major demands and expectations
FEERKHE

e Quality of products and services
e |nformation security

e Ease of communication

o EmERBEE

LI ik

o BBEF|

e Job security

e Workplace safety

e Corporate governance system
e Employee rights and benefits
e Employee remuneration and welfare
e Career development

o FEMRE

o TEGMRE

o (PEEREM

o [EERENREF

o EEHMEE ML

o MEHRE

e |nvolvement in public welfare activities
e Emission of pollutants

e Community investment

e Providing jobs

o RENTHED

o ISEMBER

e HERE

o iRMHmLE

e Transparent information

e Sustainable business development
e Production safety

o EiBEHA

o TIFHEEBERE

o LHRHEE

RE e REams (&)

Main communication channels
FEBERE

e Business communication
e Customer feedback

o XKER
s FPRE#E

e Staff meetings and activities
e Staff training

e Workers’ congress

e Recruitment process

o BI@mNED
e BT
o BIRKAR®

Bmie
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e Communication with communities and
local government
e Charity activities
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e Company’s website

e Company’s advertisements
e Press releases
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We cordially invite all stakeholders to monitor the Group’s performance BB EEROEREIIRE 8Kk
through the examination of this ESG Report. Should you have any inquiries ERMENERASENRKRE - e BETH

or recommendations in this regard, please do not hesitate to contact us. LB &R EZ - BREREARM -
Environmental Protection RIBIRE

Our General Environmental Policies RN ERIRIBECR

The Group’s mining operation mainly comprise the following key phases, all REBERBIEXEEREATHRLR - G
of which involve a certain level of environmental impact: RO R —ERERNRRTE

Coal Mine
Development

Coal Mining

Our coal mining operations in the Panzhou area of Guizhou Province in the BMEFEEMNEEMNENREEBEELE

PRC, primarily influence the land environment during mine development and RS2 RARSE AMZE LIRS o ¥
extraction activities. The coal preparation phase demands a significant water HEBERERERAK  FEHEKETEEN
usage, requiring appropriate wastewater treatment to mitigate ecological IR - ERREAERNEE  c REMERTEE
disruption. Air pollutants and carbon dioxide emissions generated during VZERS AR AR EE R AE R
product transportation are attributed to vehicle exhaust and the use of fossil REACEREIEE R o BIFIEGREST THE2R
fuels. We actively engage in land reclamation initiative to rehabilitate and T+ LAVRIE I ST ATHS EE )RR £ 13t (% A
establish a sustainable post-mining land-use cycles. FEER o

In our commitment to environmental compliance, we rigorously adhere to REMBADEITRERERE - RMBREETE
local and national environmental regulations, including: R BIRIRIR AR - B

. Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China ({7 . (hEARLFBIRBEREER) &

FEARKMBIRFR#EE)); and

. Environmental Impact Assessment Law of the People’s Republic of . (hEARLFBIRBESETEE)
China (P ZE AR EMBEIRZEFETHEE)).

For new construction projects, we adhere the Administrative Measures BIEREAME - BMEKEREBEERT
for Environmental Protection Inspection and Acceptance of Construction IRBREBRWEEIER) - HIRTEH TR

Projects (%A B % TIRFREHWEIZNE)) ensuring timely inspections R MR E R - WA EERRIERE -
and audit during project completion phases and compliance with relevant
environment standards.
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At both national and provincial levels, regulatory landscape places
increasing emphasis on sustainability, with stringent penalties and potential
closures for non-compliant coal mines. In Guizhou Province, non-compliant
coal mines are subjected to penalties and potential closures as part of this
initiative. The Group remained fully compliant with environmental regulations
throughout the reporting period, with no recorded instances of non-
compliance.

Operating in outdoor environments, the Group acknowledges the challenges
posed by unpredictable climates and extreme weather conditions. Despite
these challenges, no significant climate-related disruptions issues occurred
during the year under review.

To minimise the environmental impact of our activities, our Group
meticulously monitors coal extraction and pollution control measures,
documenting statistics to track performance trends over time. Sustainable
business practices are integrated into our decision-making processes
through periodic site assessments and planning. Our environmental
objectives for the review period primarily focus on resource conservation
and reducing pollutant emissions. Specific steps taken in each aspect are
outlined in relevant sections of this ESG Report. The Group is committed to
continually updating existing procedures as needed to ensure environmental
sustainability and compliance with regulations.

Continuous
monitoring and
reporting
FEEERRE

PASRAE F P %HE B X R B OGS ©

Water resources
conservation
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We have implemented a robust monitoring system to track and assess the environmental
impact of operations. Regular reports are provided to stakeholders, reinforcing our
commitment to transparency and accountability.

HPIERRAFH D ERHES

We enforce strict water conservation policies and upgrade machinery to improve water-use
efficiency. Our coal mines are equipped with water treatment facilities, sewage circulation
systems, and recycling pools, enabling the safe recycling and reuse of wastewater.

VERS(]
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RE @ RERWE(E)

Wastewater
management
B ERE

Solid waste
treatment

B B2 RE SR R R

Reduction of dust
and air pollutants
RWOBERZERTEY

o
o

o

Noise control

R A

4\$>

Biodiversity
conservation

EMZEERE

&

Continuously researching the mining water treatment techniques and adhering to the latest
discharge policies, the Group has adopted an advanced wastewater treatment solution to
minimise the impact of mining water discharge. A combination of chemical and physical
treatments must be applied to our mining wastewater until it meets relevant regulatory
standards for discharge.

AEETHHREKREBE  CAFRIOYREE - RALEOEKEEFE  BE
OB AFHOTE - BHE MO RBRRETHA N BRYRRE - B SE5RNE
B o

Treated coal wastes from our mines are securely loaded onto trucks and transported to
designated areas nearby, with current capacity sufficient for over 10 years of waste
containment.

RABRFESEREEREZEYH REL2EEZWINETRERE - EREEENRNA
10 A EHEERRY) -
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Low-concentration methane power generators are built in each of our coal mines to generate
electricity from gas while significantly reducing the methane emissions from our coal mining
productivity. We have also installed water sprinklers to control dust and maintain a safe work
environment.

B EREEZAEREFREEE  BRROESANEE - RAERDRFAERE
EEFROFL - RRITELRKEKEBEAENERER TERERR

Our noise control measures include the use of silencers, noise and vibration dampening,
enclosure of noisy equipment, use of insulation materials, and ongoing equipment
maintenance.

BB SETEBEERESS  RREE EHRRERE  ERBEMHRSEE
TR -

We recognise the impact of mining activities on local ecosystems and implement measures
to enhance biodiversity conservation. We conduct reclamation activities according to the
laws and regulations in the PRC, making our contribution to recovering and preserving
damaged farmland, grassland, and forests so that current and future generations can
continue to benefit from these natural spots.

EMRBIFEEDHEEHAERRGNTE - WRIERINBEDZHELERE - RIFRED
BUREMEREITERED  BHBRIBROHL - B RANRERRE - <ZFEA
ERRHERTERRFREN -
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Climate Change Policy and GHG Emission Reduction

Global climate change has profoundly impacted both the ecological
environment and economic activities, presenting one of the most severe
challenges to humanity. In this context, businesses are increasingly
required to assume responsibility for addressing the risks associated with
climate change. The HKEX ESG Code has introduced enhanced climate-
related disclosure requirements (“New Climate Requirements”), aligning
closely with the IFRS S2 Climate-related Disclosures published by the
International Sustainability Standards Board (ISSB). These updates will be
implemented in the disclosures for the upcoming fiscal year. In response to
these changes, the Group has integrated these requirements into its internal
climate policy, covering the following areas:

RE @ REaWmE(8)
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Assessment and Target:

FERER

° Identify and evaluate significant climate-related risks and
opportunities affecting our business and stakeholders.

° Establish targets to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and
enhance energy efficiency.

. AW EHE R B HPRH R DEN
EARIEABERR LS -

BIFHA R E R R R FHURR
HERAE -

the supply chain, setting long-term carbon reduction goals to
diminish our carbon footprint.

° Address climate change factors throughout the project
management lifecycle, promoting the use of low-carbon products
and renewable energy to achieve our carbon reduction targets.

° Encourage employees, contractors, and customers to reduce
carbon emissions in their operations and daily activities.

. Integrate climate-related risks into our risk management and

internal control systems.

Mitigation: IR
o Monitor and minimise greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions across . BRI SRARRE LR A EEARE

REE(NRERE D - RLEHR
BB B R AR E R PIHO BB BT
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the value chain, exploring opportunities to integrate renewable
energy.

° Monitor the impact of mechanisms such as carbon emission
trading on our business according to regional government policies.

Adaptation: TS

o Factor climate change into the planning of new projects and . EHREIFNEB KRR ZERIEE L
facilities. E=x -

. Assess the impact of climate change on business operations and . pﬂéﬁﬂl“ftﬂ%f"%@&fiﬁiﬁ%E’J

FE e BAERRESRNEHE -

. AR B BT BOR BRI BB IUR 555
HHIHRPIEBOTE

Review: B
. Regularly review and update this policy as needed. . TEHAIR AT I IR 7R BT ANBUR ©
o Board of Directors’ approval required for any policy amendments. . FRBERETAKES S -

The most direct impact of the Group on climate change arises from the
emissions of carbon dioxide (CO,) and other greenhouse gases. The
Group’s operations generate greenhouse gas emissions primarily from a
few key sources: (1) methane (CH,) released during the coal mining process;
(2) combustion of fossil fuels by mining equipment and transportation
vehicles; and (3) electricity and other energy consumption at coal mines,
coal preparation plants, and offices.

Recognising the climate impact of these emissions, the Group targeted to
maintain GHG emissions at a relatively low level in the next year as in 2024.
The Group has implemented strategies to minimise its carbon footprint.
Methane, a potent greenhouse gas, has 28 times greater global warming
potential than that of carbon dioxide over a 100-year time scale and is 84
times more potent on a 20-year timescale.

To mitigate its impact, the Group has constructed low-concentration
methane gas power plants at Hongguo Coal Mine, Baogushan Coal Mine,
and Xiejiahegou Coal Mine. These facilities capture and convert methane
emissions from the mining process into usable electricity, preventing
these emissions from being released into the atmosphere. By generating
power from waste methane, the Group can reduce direct GHG emissions
by preventing methane leakage, improve energy efficiency by utilising an
otherwise wasted resource, and lower its reliance on grid electricity, which
indirectly reduce GHG emissions associated with grid consumption.
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The Group is committed to minimising energy consumption across its
operations. Key initiatives include optimising power usage at coal mines
and processing plants through energy-efficient equipment and automation;
enhancing operational efficiency to reduce unnecessary fuel and electricity
consumption; and encouraging employees to adopt energy-saving
practices, such as switching to LED lighting and automated shutdown
systems.

As a result of these efforts, the Group has achieved a significant reduction
in indirect emissions from 2023. The overall GHG emission also recorded
a notable decrease, while emission intensity dropped over approximately
16kg per tonne of coal products sold. This decline reflects the Group’s
continued progress towards energy conservation and sustainability goals.
The table below presents a comparison of the GHG emissions for the Group
in the years 2024 and 2023:

RE @ REaWmE(8)

REBB R R AR EH PR E & @ P RER
B TERERIESRHEREREDL -
BEREMIMOENER  BALER
T RO TRERRE R E B - AREE
B TIRFAENAEEHE + (lanck FALEDARRA & B &)

FEIBEME S B2023F AL B AR HE
MEBRERD - BEAEFTEERITEET
P& - WA 84 & B E A BE R E BT BE
FHIBAI16T 52 o WREREAEEEEIRED
RERAIERRA S EBEISER - T&
S IR E @R 2024F 2023 F K8 = R EEHE
HRELES

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE
2024 2023
2024%F 2023%F

GHG emissions (kilogram in CO, BEREBHKE(ZHEIREE Total Key emissions Total  Key emissions
equivalent) F=) emissions intensity" emissions intensity’
BHHE  FEHREE BEME ETEHREE
(kg) (kg/tonne) (kg) (kg/tonne)
(=) (F5=/®) (F=) (F3,/18)
Direct (Scope 1) B (HE1) 4,203,746 2.97 3,718,474 3.04
Indirect (Scope 2) i (8 E2) 83,499,142 58.98 91,992,349 75.10
Total “ast 87,702,888 61.95 95,710,823 78.14

Note: FfsE -
(1) Key emissions intensity is calculated by kilogram (kg) of CO, equivalent (1 FEFREERGWMEEERRERN

emissions per tonne of coal products sold.

BALTREBHR(TR)ETE -
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Air Pollution Control

The Group’s operations result in the emission of key air pollutants, primarily
Nitrogen Oxides (NO,), Sulphur Oxides (SO,), and Particulate Matter (PM).
Among these sources, vehicle emissions from mobile equipment constitute
the most significant contributor to air pollution.

To mitigate these impacts, the Group has implemented multiple air pollution
control measures. The Group targets transitioning to cleaner transportation
by reducing reliance on conventional fuel-powered vehicles and
encouraging the adoption of new energy vehicles to lower overall emissions.
It also works to optimise the operation of mobile equipment to minimise
fuel consumption and pollutant discharge. To ensure that all vehicles and
machinery meet stringent emission standards, the Group conducts routine
inspections and servicing to maintain optimal performance. Whenever
feasible, the Group explores low-emission machinery and cleaner fuels to
further reduce NO, and SO, output.

The Group’s emissions of key air pollutants:

BRTREH
AEENEHEZDSERTRE=RISRYY
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T o H - BEREBNERHRAREENZT
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& URFSHREERE - IMERIIERAITTIER
T AEEYEEAEHRERMMNE INFR
BV - E—TRERE(LY RBAICDEE
e

7

AEEMERERSRMAOBEREE -

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEFE
2024 2023

20244 2023F
Total Key emissions Total  Key emissions
emissions intensity’ emissions intensity
Key Air Pollutants FTEERSTHRY BEERE  FEHRERE wwE TEHREE
(9) (g/tonne) ) (g/tonne)
(%) (52,/W) () (=/18)
NO, AEy 278,142 0.20 202,827 0.17
PM BT 26,628 0.02 19,435 0.02
SO, maity 513 0.000363 379 0.000309

Note: MI3E -

1) Key emissions intensity is calculated by gram (g) of respective air pollutant 1) FEPREEIRTWDHE R RERNE

per tonne of coal products sold.

EERAAY (R)FE -
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Hazardous Wastes and Treatment

Throughout the operational process, gangue, a form of commercially
negligible by-product, emerges as the primary hazardous waste, exerting
adverse effects on the environment. This waste material contributes to
air and soil toxicity, encroaching upon otherwise fertile agricultural or
commercial land.

The Group channels its gangue to a specified field near the mines for
storage, where qualified local village cooperatives undertake the treatment
procedure. The contained gangue is enveloped with a layer of soil conducive
to cultivation, holding the potential for land restoration. Looking ahead,
utilising facilities from China Power Construction Panzhou Low Calorific
Value Coal Power Generation Co., Ltd offers a promising avenue for gangue
treatment. Given the pivotal role of gangue as a primary raw material in
this power generation process, effective utilisation and management are
envisaged through this strategic investment.

During the year under review, the Group has achieved a reduction in
gangue emissions from each of its three coal mines, reflecting a more
environmentally friendly mining approach.

As part of our commitment to sustainable practices, we aim to maintain the
hazardous waste intensity at a lower level in the coming year. This target
aligns with our broader environmental strategy to minimize waste and
enhance resource efficiency, contributing to a cleaner and more sustainable
mining operation.

A breakdown of gangue generation and intensity by mines:

RE e REams (&)

BEBRMREERED A
EELEBRT AR EEEEAENTR
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For the year ended 31 December

HZ12A31ALEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
Hazardous Hazardous
Gangue waste Gangue waste
generation intensity’ generation intensity’
BEEEY BEEEY
HadnE ZE TaERE BE
(tonne)  (tonne/tonne) (tonne) (tonne/tonne)
(1) (Mg, 1) (1) (Wg,/W8)
Hongguo Coal Mine 4T RIETE 995,090 0.70 1,125,262 0.92
Baogushan Coal Mine BRI 529,552 0.37 913,716 0.75
Xiejiahegou Coal Mine EIENT Y8 362,804 0.26 527,149 0.43
Total mE 1.33 2,566,127 2.10

1,887,446
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Note:

(1) Hazardous waste intensity is calculated by tonne of hazardous waste per
tonne of coal products sold.

Non-hazardous Wastes and Treatment

The primary non-hazardous wastes generated by the Group consist of
general production waste and domestic waste. These wastes are sorted at
their source and subsequently managed by the local government. These
wastes are not substantial in quantity, no specific records quantifying them

have been maintained.

Throughout the year under review, the Group has persisted in promoting
recycling practices among its employees, both at the workplace and in their
residences. This initiative is aimed at reducing general waste generation and
fostering a more environmentally sustainable setting.

Energy Consumption

The Group primarily depends on purchasing electricity to power its offices in
Guizhou and Hong Kong. Diesel is utilised for powering generators, mining
fleets, machinery, and equipment, while unleaded petrol is predominantly
used for land transportation. Fuel and resource usage undergo evaluation by
an internal audit department, serving as a gauge for assessing the Group’s
energy conservation efforts.

In a bid to diminish dependence on fossil fuels, the Group remains updated
on industry advancements to ensure its machinery adheres to energy
efficiency standards. Employees are encouraged to conserve electricity
by turning off lights and appliances when not in use, as well as limiting
air conditioner usage during summer. These proactive steps underscore
the Group’s dedication to efficient energy management, with an expected
reduction in energy consumption intensity in the upcoming years.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the consumption of diesel and
petrol increased due to the expansion of production output, while electricity
consumption has slightly decreased compared to the last year. The
consumption intensities (measured per unit of output) for all energy sources
were maintained lower compared to the prior year’s levels, reflecting the
Company’s ongoing efforts to optimize resource utilization and reduce
environmental impact.
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Diesel and unleaded petrol consumption and the intensity:
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SOh K TR R REE

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A1ALEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
Energy Energy
Energy consumption Energy consumption
consumption intensity’ consumption intensity
REREE  REREERE feREE  RREETE
(litres) (litres/tonne) (litres) (litres/tonne)
(F#) (#,W) (71) (F+,/m)
Diesel e 1,571,062 1.11 1,394,897 1.14
Unleaded petrol | Uh 34,910 0.02 25,769 0.02
Note: M3 -
(1) Energy consumption intensity is calculated by litre of energy consumption per (1) EREETEREWE HERKE DAL
tonne of coal products sold. RFER (FH)EHE -
A breakdown of electricity consumption by region: i@ Bl S HFEE SR
For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
Electricity Electricity
Electricity consumption Electricity consumption
consumption intensity!  consumption intensity’
HEE HEZE REE RERE
(kWh) (kWh/tonne) (kWh) (kWh/tonne)
(FRE) (TRE W) (FRE) (TR W)
Mainland China e lEiy N 136,318,443 96.30 150,112,329 122.54
Hong Kong B 10,118 0.01 9,229 0.01
Total we 136,328,561 96.31 150,121,558 122.55
Note: Mz -
1) Electricity consumption intensity is calculated by kilowatt-hour (kWh) of (1) HERELRGHWEHERARERNEER

electricity consumption per tonne of coal products sold.

(FRH)HE -
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Water Consumption FEKE

Reliable water sources are essential for the Group’s production operations. AISEKBEENAEEEELEFZHZPEE -
To ensure a stable and sufficient supply, all three mines have access AEREERTERTE - Z@RES ] R
to ample water resources, sourced from both surface and underground IR Ee R IKIES B AR © BERTHEMEVEEIERR
reservoirs. This proactive approach eliminated any water-sourcing HHRAM R E T EAKRENER -
challenges during the reporting period.

Water extracted from the Group’s mines undergoes filtration and is REEBRESBUKEBREEFTARSAES
repurposed for various operational needs, including coal preparation, fire Bk BIEAKR B RERRBE - BAFIE
safety systems, and dust suppression. The total water usage during the Lt BEFEMNSERKERE T - TSHIEH
year under review saw a slight drop as compared to the previous year ERREMEKEEINBI TR - REKER

and its intensity per tonne of coal products sold also decreased, reflecting R RFIAREERA - RMWBEIERF
enhanced water resource efficiency and improved utilisation rates. We HEFFEE2024 F FRIARIREK B E K o

target to maintain the similar level of water consumption intensity in next

year as in 2024.
A breakdown of water consumption by workshop: AT I58I5 M FEK 284

For the year ended 31 December

HZ12A31ALEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
Water Water
Water consumption Water consumption
consumption intensity!  consumption intensity’
FEKE FXBE FEKE KB
(m3) (m3/tonne) (md) (m?%/tonne)
(LK) (7K, W) (SLFkK)  (SLRHXK/WE)
Hongguo Coal Mine AT R 508,738 0.36 603,950 0.49
Baogushan Coal Mine BALERE 661,321 0.47 763,579 0.62
Xiejiahegou Coal Mine BIENEN-vs4 306,172 0.22 488,650 0.40
Songshan Coal Preparation Plant #2311 JE AR 153,174 0.11 195,703 0.16
Total #at 1,629,405 1.16 2,051,882 1.67
Note: G
1) Water consumption intensity is calculated by cubic meter (m?) of water (1) KRB EREWE HE R IRERIFEKE

consumption per tonne of coal products sold. (SZLFK)EE -
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Paper Consumption and Packaging Materials

Paper consumption takes place across multiple sites, such as Hongguo
Coal Mine, Baogushan Coal Mine, Xiejiahegou Coal Mine, Songshan
Coal Preparation Plant, and offices in Mainland China and Hong Kong.
To manage paper usage effectively, the Group advocates for digital
information processing across all departments whenever possible. Besides,
the Company has been offering shareholders the option to choose their
preferred method and language for receiving all corporate communications
since 2024. This initiative is expected to reduce printing and paper
consumption, thereby minimizing associated carbon emission.

With the increasing adoption of paperless office initiatives, paper
consumption in the year under review declined compared to the previous
year, underscoring the Group’s ongoing commitment to sustainability and
resource conservation.

Paper consumption and intensity:

Paper consumption (kg) FEHR=E(FR)
Paper consumption intensity (kg of paper
consumption per tonne of coal products sold)

(kg/tonne)

RE @ REaWmE(8)
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For the year ended 31 December
BZ12B310LEE

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
9,299 10,628

FEAREE (IR B NA S 85 B R E fm i)
FEARE(Tr)8E) (T /1)

0.007 0.009
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Working Environment and Employee Development
The Group is committed to being a responsible employer by ensuring fair
and lawful employment practices, including compensation, benefits, and
working conditions. All employees in Mainland China are protected under
the Labour Law ((FFE A R £ M 4 &)k )), the Labour Contract Law ((/
#= N RHFE LB A FE)), and the General Principles of the Civil Law
= ARKEFERZEBAI)). Similarly, employees in Hong Kong are governed
by the Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57), the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485), and the Minimum Wage Ordinance
(Chapter 608) of the Laws of Hong Kong.

The Group operates three coal mines in rural areas, where a relatively high
employee turnover rate is observed, aligning with industry trends. Various
factors contribute to workforce mobility, including limited local employment
alternatives, seasonal fluctuations, and evolving socio-economic conditions.
Recognising these challenges, the Group actively develops retention
strategies and employee engagement initiatives to enhance workforce
stability.

THRREREEERE
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The table below shows detailed employee statistics of the Group
categorised by job function, gender, age group, and employment location:

&

By Job Function

Directors of the Company

Administration and management

Accounting and finance
Sales and marketing
Production scheduling
Production safety

Mine production

Coal preparation

Supply and procurement

By Gender

Male
Female

& By Age Group

<30
31-40
41-50
51-60
> 61

By Employment Location

Guizhou
Hong Kong
Total number of employees
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RERARE D
30B%E AT
31-403%
41-50%%
51-60%%
615%3 A £

RIEES D
M
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HIEBAH

RE @ REaWmE(8)

TREIAEEIZRAE - 15 - FicARRT
VMR &1 0 B0 Al R B BB -

Number of employees
EEAH
As at 31 December
M12A31H

2024 2023
2024%F 2023%F
9 10
483 420
29 25

5 5

36 36
321 302
2,496 2,617
316 326
4 4
3,254 3,289
445 456
619 663
1,291 1,284
1,107 1,155
665 624
17 19
3,686 3,734
13 11
3,699 3,745
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The table below sets out the employee turnover rate by gender, age group TREFIZER - FhBRRIBERBSHEES

and geographical region: KR
Employee turnover rate (%)
EERKE(%)
For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A1BLLFE
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
&P By Gender RIS S
Male Xl 45 65
Female gegis 29 19
& By Age Group RERERE D
<30 30K T 63 75
31-40 31-4053% 49 73
41-50 41-507% 39 53
51-60 51-607% 17 22
>61 615%3A - 153 158
By Geographical Region B EES
Guizhou = 43 59
Hong Kong B 23 9

Total employee turnover rate BEESREE 43 59
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Employment Standards
Based on strict adherence to relevant laws and regulations, the Group

has established internal labour employment management regulations to

standardize recruitment criteria. These regulations set forth requirements for

the employment activities within the Group, including:

(1)

The Group implements a hierarchical responsibility system for labour
management. Company executives and subordinate enterprise
leaders are appointed by the Chairman or authorized leaders,
while human resource (“HR”) department manages the relevant
procedures. General managers oversee recruitment of other
employees in subsidiaries, with a labour management department
under HR department handling employee affairs, social insurance,
and reporting.

The Group’s HR department provides guidance and supervision for
labour management within subordinate enterprises. Approval from
leadership is required to address common issues, and individualized
guidance is provided as needed.

The Company and its subordinate enterprises are required to
execute written labour contracts or employment agreements with all
recruited employees. For specific situations, tailored contracts will
be arranged to align with the requirement or operational needs.

The following individuals are ineligible for recruitment: individuals
under 16, individuals with unidentified identities, individuals
prohibited by laws and regulations from employment or engaging
in certain professions, individuals with existing labour relationships
with other entities, individuals who fail to meet medical examination
standards, and other individuals who do not comply with labour
policies.

The Company strictly prohibits soliciting or retaining deposits from
employees and withholding their personal identification or official
documents.

There were no cases of non-compliance with hiring regulations recorded

during the year under review.
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Equal Opportunities

The Group is committed to upholding equal employment opportunities
and prohibits discrimination based on race, gender, age, religion, or
disability. Recruitment and employment decisions are based solely on skills,
qualifications, and job-related criteria.

During the year under review, the Group’s workforce primarily consisted
of individuals between the ages of 31 and 50, with a certain proportion
of individuals beyond this age range, reflecting the current labour market
trends. In terms of gender, it was observed that more men were inclined
to join labour-intensive frontline positions in Guizhou, due to physical job
requirements. As a result, the Group employed more men than women,
though gender-neutral hiring practices are upheld. Besides, equal access
to training and development opportunities and equal consideration for
promotions and other job opportunities are given to all employees. More
about remuneration and on-the-job training will be explained in the following
sections.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not receive any
complaints in relation to unequal employment or workplace discrimination.

Remuneration and Benefits

The Group offers competitive salaries, reasonable working hours, and paid
leaves to employees. Employees under the clock-in wage system work 5
days a week, excluding holidays. Weekends and holidays are generally free
from overtime work; however, if necessary, overtime pay follows the rule
of double pay for weekends and triple pay for public holidays. The salary
structure comprises basic pay plus overtime, or bonuses, with the basic
pay set not lower than the local minimum standard. In cases where the
workweek exceeds 5 days, the salary statement must explicitly delineate
basic pay and overtime, aligning with attendance records. In addition,
the Company also provides employees with various benefits, such as
dormitories and festival-related perks.

For employees in Hong Kong, the Group complies with the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance by making contributions
to all their mandatory provident fund and retirement benefits scheme.
In Mainland China, we adhere to local regulation by providing pension
insurance, medical insurance, unemployment insurance, employment injury
insurance, maternity insurance, and housing fund, collectively known as
the “Five Insurances and One Fund”, a mandatory framework for employee
welfare in the region.
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Occupational Health and Safety

The measures outlined in this section primarily pertain to frontline employees
engaged in the mining process within Mainland China, given the inherently
higher operational risk profiles of their roles. By contrast, our back-office
staff face minimal exposure to workplace hazards due to the nature of their
duties.

During the year under review, the Company reinforced its commitment
to sustainable mining and operational safety by securing two proprietary
utility patents, includes the Fault Zone Grouting Reinforcement Device for
Return Air Roadways and the Composite Support System for Ventilation
Tunnel Openings. These innovations enhance structural stability in fractured
geological zones, significantly mitigating collapse risks during extraction.
Besides, the safety and durability of high-stress entry points in underground
coal mines would be improved.

Developed in-house through our operational experience, these
advancements underscore our focus on technological innovation and risk
reduction. By systematizing our technical expertise into patented solutions,
the Company not only bolsters its long-term competitiveness but also
advances workplace safety and operational efficiency.

Throughout the year under review, the Group has diligently adhered to
all relevant laws and regulations concerning health and safety at our coal
mines in China. Specifically, this includes compliance with the Law of the
People’s Republic of China on Work Safety and the Prevention (% A R
MELZ 2 A ZE %)) and Control of Occupational Diseases Law of the People’s
Republic of China ((# 2 AR X MEIB B 85)).

Besides, each of the Group’s mines has been assigned a dedicated
management unit to supervise daily activities aimed at preventing and
managing occupational diseases. While individual mines have their
own specific policies and oversight structures, these guidelines can be
summarized as follows:

1) All staff members at mines must adhere to safety protocols and
procedures and mandatory use of protective equipment such as
masks, earmuffs, and safety helmets during operations;

2 Standard ventilation systems are installed in work areas, and the
level of toxic gas in the mines is regularly monitored;
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3) Workers must complete training and obtain relevant qualification
proofs prior to operating the mining machinery, including excavators,
drills, explosives and trucks;

4) Each coal mine maintains a production safety management
department led by designated heads. Their responsibilities include
inspecting of mine condition to ensure safe working environment;

5) Each coal mine is assigned with over 30 safety officers from the
production safety management department who have received
professional training and are qualified. These officers are assigned to
different teams and critical operational activities;

6) Pre-shift meeting will be conducted to reinforce safety protocols,
heighten hazard awareness and ensure employees implement
preventive measures before entering the mine; and

(7) A series of emergency response plans has been communicated to
all employees, to address critical incidents such as fires, natural
disasters and other workplace emergencies.

The Group rigorously upholds the safety operation regulations mentioned
above. However, owing to the intricate operational circumstances within the
mining industry and challenging geological environment of coal mines, three
fatal accidents occurred during the year under review, one each at Hongguo
Coal Mine, Baogushan Coal Mine, and Xiejiahegou Coal Mine, respectively.
In 2023, the Group experienced a total of two fatal accidents. We extend our
deepest condolences to the families and friends of the deceased workers.
Moving forward, the Group will prioritise production safety even more to
proactively avert such incidents.
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In 2024, the number of work-related injuries within the Group improved
compared to the previous year, with a total of 54 recorded injuries
(2023: 81). The table below summarises the number of injuries from the
occupational accident and related lost working days in the Group:

RE e REams (&)

20244 - BB —FAEL - NEBRH TIEE
BRI E - HBE54R TEREH% (20234 : 81
R) o TREMASERTEBEINNEHLN
RENBRAEABATIERS -

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE
2024 2023
2024 2023%F
Number of Number of
Number of  Working days Number of  working days
injuries from lost due to injuries from lost due to
occupational occupational occupational occupational
accidents injuries accidents injuries
ETEBEIM EIGEBRX FAIEBEIM EIBREK
EYZBEAH IHERH SHEXBAH IERHE
Hongguo Coal Mine ARS8 27 3,721 25 3,164
Baogushan Coal Mine BALERE 7 937 26 3,877
Songshan Coal Preparation Plant AL E/AE R 242 0 0
Xiejiahegou Coal Mine BIENEN-vs4 19 2,868 30 2,506
Total st 54 7,768 81 9,547
Development and Training R RIEIN

Employee development and training are critical drivers of organizational
success. To maximize individual potential, operational excellence, and
sustainable growth, the Group prioritizes equipping employees with
targeted training and advancement opportunities aligned with their roles.
We foster a culture that encourages innovation, accountability, and
proactive skill development, empowering employees to excel in their current
responsibilities while preparing for future leadership roles. Role-specific
training programs are curated to address the evolving needs of teams

across all levels, including:

(1) Leadership & Safety Management Training

For mine managers, principal responsible individuals, and safety
management employee, the Group mandates annual in-person
production safety training, complemented by rigorous assessments.
These sessions cover mine safety management systems, updates
to safety laws and regulations such as the “Work Safety Law of
the People’s Republic of China” (% AR MBI Z 24 E%), and
advancements in mining technologies, equipment, and materials.

REZRIEIIRABKINERE ) - B&
RREMFEFBEAES  BREBEERAF
BEE  AREELSESREHEEBSMAN
MEEEEIIRETHE - RAIEEEA
o AEERIPREZROUL - FEBE
BITERBENRE - TEASRKRNBEAE
R - SHEREABMNEIIETE - TR
EREFTENRENT K - B

(1)  FEDHEZEEEIE)

HEELE  TEREARREERE
BME  ARBRESFETRER
2AEEY - WE ARSI - Z
SRIRERBEBLE2ERRLS 12
ERERER - AR EARIE
REEEER)  ARSTERBRERI -
REE RIS



1 OO Perennial Energy Holdings Limited A &= BERIZERER QA

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
B g RERHRE ()

@

(&

“)

Specialized Operation

Specialized operators engaged in critical mining roles, such as
explosives handling or machinery operation, undergo state-approved
safety production training to obtain the “Special Operations
Certificate of the People’s Republic of China” (7 ¥ A B £ M E 4
& 1E % #& {E 78 ), issued by provincial coal mine safety authorities.
Before assuming independent duties, these operators complete a
four-month internship under the guidance of seasoned mentors with
at least three years of field experience, ensuring compliance with
operational standards.

General Workforce Safety & Compliance Training

For general staff, the Group provides foundational safety production
training to instill essential hazard mitigation skills, pre-employment
occupational health protocols, and conflict prevention strategies.
This training ensures all employees understand their safety-related
rights, responsibilities, and emergency response procedures,
fostering a uniformly compliant and safety-conscious workforce.

Emergency Preparedness Dirills

The Company implements structured Emergency Drill Plans,
including a Mine Disaster Prevention and Response Plan to address
operational risks such as gas leaks, collapses, and ventilation
failures. Regular multi-scenario drills cover fire evacuation, flood
response, and geological disasters, ensuring preparedness across
operations. Training integrates safety standards, case studies,
electrical safety, and compliance with relevant regulations. Regularly
reviews align procedures with evolving risks, fostering accountability
and operational safety in high-risk environments.
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The table below shows a breakdown of the number of attendances by TRESIZEEERED/EEAKRMA
employee type:

2024 2023
20245 2023F
Total Average The Total Average The
numberof  training hours  percentage of numberof  training hours  percentage of
attendances  completed per attendances attendances  completed per attendances
trained attendances trained trained attendances trained
BN BUBESENIN
BN EEMTIE BN BRI EENTISE BN
By categories ek EEAR B EENEA EEAR B8 EEMNEIN
(hour) (%) (hour) (%)
(/MEE) (%) (/MEE) (%)
By gender RAERIED
Male Bt 3,185 45 97.2 5,278 48 97.8
Female peqid 93 19 2.8 121 20 22
By job categories RERED
Administrative and management ~ {THEE 47 3 15 44 3 038
Accounting and finance BRI 19 3 0.6 18 3 03
Sales and marketing HEREHR 10 3 0.3 10 3 02
Production scheduling FEHR 17 46 0.5 18 24 03
Production safety EEZR 29 90 0.9 65 36 12
Mine production FELE 3,148 45 96.0 5,236 48 97.0
Supply and procurement HERFE 8 3 0.2 8 3 02
Supply Chain Management e EE
To ensure operational efficiency, timely delivery and workplace safety, the RIBEREENER REINRI(EGMEE
Group oversight its supply chain carefully. We externally source mechanical RNEBFIELEE MG o TN EPERIE A
auxiliary materials like rollers, conveyors, pipes, rubber, etc. Given the MR - IR - WX BE BBE -
critical role of these items in our operations and worker safety, we maintain HRZEMRERMNEERTARZEFHE
stringent supplier selection criteria. EEZAGE  BREMERERSNHEREE
RS o
Suppliers must possess legal certifications, adhere to quality regulations, HEEEFESEZRAE BTRERT - LA
and demonstrate adequate production capacity. We assess their customer HRANEERN - BMIETERSENETPR
service history and may request product samples for evaluation. Approved 08k - I A] g B E ik AT o
suppliers are documented, and for significant orders, we compare multiple B ERMHRERE AR - ¥HREKRETE -
suppliers based on quality, price, and services before obtaining internal RESAEIERT - BPIERELE - B8 KL

approvals. ARTS PR LR 2 R ERY o
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Beyond qualifications, we prioritise suppliers who uphold ethical values and
demonstrate minimal environmental impact.

During the year under review, the Group had 286 suppliers (2023: 277), all
located in Mainland China.

Product Responsibility

Quality Control

Dedicated to delivering high-quality products, the Group recognizes the
environmental and end-user risks associated with subpar fossil fuel products.
To elevate our product standards, we have developed a comprehensive
guidebook, distributed internally at the beginning of each year. This manual
serves as an essential reference for our quality control team, outlining clear
and comprehensive policies. The key points of this guidebook include:

(1) All staff members at mines, plants and offices must adhere to
regulations and are responsible for ensuring the quality of coal
products;

2 The mining process is scientifically designed to prevent external
moisture, gangue and other impurities from entering the raw coal;

3) Generally accepted market guidelines are adopted to manage the
Company’s coal product standard, and advanced technologies are
used to ensure the quality of coal in the production process;

4) The storage processes is under strict management, safety and
hygienic conditions of the storage facilities are regularly inspected,
and non-compliant products are prohibited from entering the storage
areas;

5) The transportation process is strictly managed, vehicles and ports
facilities involved in coal product transportation are undergo regular

inspections and cleaning;

6) The international requirements for coal quality supervision and
testing are adopted, and a designated quality control laboratory is
set up in Songshan Coal Preparation Plant to conduct preliminary
testing; and

(7) An incentive and disciplinary mechanism are established to reward

high-quality coal production units, while penalising units that violate
established regulations.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not violate or
breach any laws and regulations relating to product responsibility and did
not receive any product complaints or claims.

Customer Services and Information Management

To effectively address customer needs, the Group has formed a dedicated
sales team ready to resolving client inquiries and issues. Equipped with
the latest industry knowledge, our sales team proactively collaborated with
customers, including coking enterprises, iron and steel manufacturers,
chemical producers, and power plants. They negotiate selling prices based
on production costs, market demands, product specifications, quality
standards, and prevailing market rates. Furthermore, the team ensures
customers receive accurate and timely product information throughout the
engagement process.

In compliance with our customer relationship management guidelines,
we prioritize strict adherence to laws and regulations governing customer
data privacy. Customer information is securely stored digitally behind our
antivirus firewall, managed by sales managers who oversee document
printing and physical file storage. Access to customer data, whether in hard
copy or electronic form, is restricted to authorized personnel only. Our IT
department manages the creation of authorized user accounts, while the HR
department enforces our customer privacy policies. Violations of these rules

may result in fines or termination of employment.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not receive any
reports or customer complaints on violation of the laws and regulations

relating to customer services and information management.

Intellectual Property Management

The Company has implemented an intellectual property management
system to safeguard patents, trademarks, copyrights, trade secrets, and
production techniques. All works created by employees using materials
from the Group’s subsidiaries are owned by the relevant subsidiary. Our
system adheres to relevant legal requirements and is managed by the legal
team and departmental staff. Confidentiality clauses are included in external
contracts to protect our intellectual property.

During the year under review, the Group has obtained a total of 2 patent
certificates, recognising our dedication to technological advancement
in mining processes. Furthermore, there were no breach of intellectual
property laws and regulations reported during the year under review.
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Anti-corruption RES
The Group is committed to upholding ethical and responsible business REEFON@EERLREBRNEIETR B
practices. To reinforce this commitment, an Anti-Fraud Code has been negszAss - |OIBHIE R KEFER - LUEE

established to guide ethical behaviour and combat corruption. This code EETARITEES o ZEATF AR - LR
is regularly updated to align with changing laws and regulations while aNE L EERER - RIFAERSEENH
maintaining the Group’s integrity. As a publicly listed company, we adhere F o ER—RKLEMAT - BT EmRAIM
to the Code of Corporate Governance Practices outlined in Appendix C1 of BRC1ATHEL A R EERERSTA) - AEBE

the Listing Rules to shape internal rules for integrity and clean governance. s RERZEARNNERA

The Board and Audit Committee oversee the Group’s anti-corruption EEeRERZEERINERNEZERTN

initiatives, with support from both external and internal auditors. We provide B TERASENRESTE - BIIREER
whistleblower channels, such as telephone hotlines and emails, to enable g FINBRERANETEG  EREEN
employees to report suspected violations securely and without fear of REHRBAIRAERTA - MARELESD
reprisal. Any breaches of anti-corruption rules are reported directly to the WE - AMERRESHENTAEEEER
Board. Cases of non-compliance with laws are reported to the appropriate EFgWRE  c BANRSMEENTERBR
authorities, ensuring that staff are held accountable. Regular training & BRETEEILIEABNET - THLTH
sessions are conducted for all employees to reinforce awareness of anti- FRES2IHFIERE - IR ERESHER
corruption policies. K)RRA ©

During the year under review, the Group was not involved in any corruption REIREFE - ANEEWEY R ESHA
litigation and has not received any suspected corruption report. B EMERER EISHmE -

The following table shows the number of anti-corruption training sessions TRETASBRRHENORETEIIRIZAR
provided by the Group: o

During the year ended
31 December
BZE12A31BLEEE

2024 2023
20245 20234
Number of anti-corruption training sessions held £ #ix &5 3I:RI2 X & 5 5

Number of employees receiving anti-corruption X R E /55 HIEHE AR
training 2,585 2,270
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Community Investment

As a Company deeply rooted in the Liupanshui area of Guizhou Province,
we are committed to enhancing the well-being of the local community.
Our resources are primarily towards poverty relief, medical assistance,
and educational initiatives. We actively support the local impoverished
population by improving their living conditions, providing medical aid, and
promoting educational development. We believe that these initiatives will
contribute to the overall development and progress of the local community.

During the year under review, the major resources dedicated to community
investment are detailed below:

1) Donated RMB900,000 to Hongguo Community Office in Panzhou
City to support public safety initiatives and residential environment
governance.

2 Donated RMB980,520 to Songshan Village in Hongguo Community
Office for the annual New Rural Cooperative Medical Insurance for
2025, ensuring healthcare access for residents.

3) Provided financial support to 13 students, totaling RMB138,900 to
cover tuition fees for economically disadvantaged students from the
community, ensuring access to higher education for those who have
successfully gained admission to university.

4) Donated RMB45,000 in operating funds to Nuowan Primary School
in Songshan Village to enhance educational resources.

5) Extended RMB11,988 in condolences to underprivileged families in
Songshan Village during the 2024 Spring Festival.

(6) Provided financial assistance to three low-income worker households
facing economic hardship in 2024, totalling RMB159,000.

Our commitment extends beyond financial donations. We proactively
interact with local authorities and communities to assess their needs
and collaboratively develop long-term solutions. Through continuous
communication and forming partnerships, we strive to create a positive
and enduring influence on the enhancement of the communities that have
played a significant role in our story.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF PERENNIAL ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
ARIPERRIZRER AT
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Deloitte

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Perennial
Energy Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 113 to 200, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matter

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.
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Key Audit Matter (continued)

Key audit matter

BsEERT SR

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)
BAAZBEN RS ()

R E T EIE @)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMNERNMEERRETSE

Depreciation of mining structures included in property, plant and equipment and amortisation of mining rights

FTAYF - B KR BRI FRIBE BRI HTEE R FRAB 1S

We identified the depreciation of mining structures included
in property, plant and equipment and amortisation of
mining rights (“mining related assets”) as a key audit matter
due to the involvement of significant estimation and the
management’s judgement in determining the total proven and
probable reserves of the coal mines.
HRPREBRHERER EETABEEE MR ERFERFER
TR - RS AYE - BERRENTEBEMITER
PRuERE ([ SRIBIERI B ) BT RRARE RS F 18 -

As explained in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group determines depreciation of mining
structures included in property, plant and equipment and
amortisation of mining rights by using the units of production
method based on the actual production volume over the total
proven and probable reserves of the coal mines concerned.
MANARE B SRR M ArT - EREREBABEEEE L
REHENEREERAEEBMWEETTAYE  BEIR
BV ERIE B SE YT E DA IR TSR -

The estimated reserves are the estimates of the quantity
of coal that can be economically and legally extracted
from the Group’s mining properties, which are determined
by management of the Group according to applicable
independent technical review report prepared by external
specialists, with the consideration of most recent production
and technical information of each mine. In addition, a
variation on recovery rates or unforeseen geological or
geotechnical perils may cause the management to change
the production plan resulting from a revision to the estimates
of coal reserves.

hEtREEAE BESEREMEAALERGNH A AERK
WEREEMFTHT B ESEEEERBIMNIERERN
HAE S R EN SRS M EREES N SOI PAEE RETER
REETE o WAHD - EIEREF AR E SiA RIS A
B EEERR RS AT BT SR M A A

Our procedures in relation to the depreciation and
amortisation of mining related assets included:

BN AR E EMNITE M HIEF B

e Understanding the process performed by management
of the Group on estimation of total proven and probable
reserves with reference to applicable independent
technical review reports prepared by external specialist;

e T EEETEEZZIVERGRNEMRBULRKMNE
Bl ST EE MR AR ENBIE

e Evaluating applicability of the independent technical
review reports adopted by management of the Group on
estimation of total proven and probable reserves;

o HMh ESEEEREERMNBURMBEMHREMEAEEL
MR ARENEAMN

e Assessing the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the external specialist who prepared the independent
technical review reports used by the management;

o MEGRHEEREMERBLRMEHBRENIIERNE
7’ g R

e Obtaining an understanding from the external specialist
about the techniques applied in estimation of total proven
and probable reserves of the coal mines, the basis of
calculation, key inputs and data used in the estimation
used by the management;

o MINBERTRMEFHEBEIERMKERSMERNR
o EREMEARAEMGHTANGEREE  FTEH A
BRER
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)
B AZBEN RS (F)

Key Audit Matter (continued)

R E T EIE @)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BRELTS1E BN ERNAEERERENSE

As set out in notes 14 and 16 to the consolidated financial e
statements, depreciation of mining structures and the
amortisation of mining rights for the year ended 31 December
2024 amounted to RMB52,619,000 and RMB49,274,000,
respectively.

MAERE IS IRF M TE14 R 16FTit - B E2024F12A31H 1k
FE - SRBEHEYITE RRGEREED R R AR %52,619,000
TR AR 49,274,0007T °

Assessing the reasonableness of key inputs used in
calculation of depreciation and amortisation of mining
related assets, by examining the annual production
summary provided by the management of the Group
and checking the consistency by comparing it against
estimated production volume throughout the useful lives
of the mines included in the estimated coal reserves
(comprising total proven and probable reserves), based
on the applicable independent technical review report
prepared by external specialist;

SHE AR ET EIRIEARRE & E T E R H VR W A BUR S
BRMY FERMEAEEERERENFELEERE -
WIRBINTFERFRBEHERB RN ES R BBLLEL
BB RRE(EC PSS o RN ETES P BE LR K
E(HEE MR ERHSEN) N —IE

Testing actual production volume by checking to delivery
and settlement documents on a sample basis;

BRMERAIN REEX - AAEREES

Testing the integrity and arithmetic accuracy of the
calculation of depreciation of mining structures and
amortisation of mining rights for the year ended 31
December 2024.

BH B ZE2024F12 431 B I FEREEEYIT EMRIERE
BHETE A A TR R BT
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors of the Company
and those charged with Governance for the

Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

B BE RS ()

HtpfE 8
BAREFEHEMESAE - Ko 01
FIBRERAMES - BFRERAMERE

R H 93 e AR R R W

B A B RO E 2D TR E Rl
8 BRI RS A E S ERE AR
T -

HRBFBEAMBRROBEZMS - RFANE
TRMABEMESR - HIBET - ZEEME
BRREGAMBRRIBIEETBRETHM
THROBAGTEEAEBLEUFFEEX
HRBUEAIEN - ZERBACHITHIE -
REMBREMESFEERERBL - H I
FEREZEE - HEHH - RIFPRBEAR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)
B AZBEN RS (F)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of

users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We

also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on

the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures

made by the directors of the Company.

BB B AR S P SRR A
EHEE

BB RR SR M HRRERRS MR
RN IREF A RR M B M E A RS A
BRE - WIRBRMABHENRBERERZE
BRHABEEMERWOZEENRE - ik
S ANRENAREEMAR o TAWLATA
WEZANBRHERMEMALE LR EEMNE
- AERRERZFRFORE - ETERER
REBETENETHOESR  EX - EXRER
BRILFFERS AL IR o FRRRIRIML T A A EREF =X
HHERSI L - IR A IR TE A H BB ER AT
BERERA VMR ERERBGEMBRER
FRYEH BV EDRTE » RIB REROSARRER I T 145
fEERX °

ERREBEFEENERETEZN—#D - &
PESEZBRETER T HEHE - RIFTEXE
IRERREE o AITT -
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the group as a basis for forming an opinion on
the group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among

other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that

we identified during our audit.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

B BE RS ()

BB B AR S P SRR A
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)
B AZBEN RS (F)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken or safeguards applied to eliminate threats.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Zhu Chen.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

18 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
LeBEmkHEMPEKGER

For the year ended 31 December 2024

EZE20245F12A31ALLFE

2024 2023

NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000

BRE ARET T ARET T

Revenue Iz 5 1,706,108 1,715,623
Cost of sales SHEE RN (820,977) (771,333)
Gross profit EF 885,131 944,290
Other income Em A 7 25,991 35,661
Share of losses of an associate PMEHE R REE (12,711) (3,037)
Other gains and losses Hablhes R E1E 8 (4,126) (17,395)
Distribution and selling expenses DR HERY (90,636) (97,441)
Administrative expenses THAX (160,909) (134,038)
Other expenses HEbFHY (65,431) (86,792)
Finance costs A& R 9 (50,255) (36,044)
Profit before taxation Br A g ) 10 527,054 605,204
Taxation charge IESZ 11 (86,825) (101,011)

Profit and total comprehensive income A& | & 2 EUW A 4258

for the year 440,229 504,193

Earnings per share (RMB cents) BREFNARES)
Basic HAK 13 27.51 31.51




114 Perennial Energy Holdings Limited X 2= 3B AL R AR A F

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
REMBARE

As at 31 December 2024
72024F12H31H

2024 2023
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
{iEsd ARBT T ARETTT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BE k& 14 2,376,772 2,162,544
Investment properties B 15 46,200 47,200
Mining rights PRAETE 16 847,570 828,778
Interest in an associate REE &N AR 17 376,300 95,011
Restricted bank deposits ZREIRITER 18 7,006 21,658
Deferred tax assets RIERIR & BE 19 54,500 46,626
Rental deposits Hekse 22 40 432
Deposits for purchase of property, plant B E %% - BERRENEE
and equipment 22 7,977 4,348
Other receivable H b WA 22 6,345 9,300
Deposits for acquisition of mining rights W EEERIEREN LS 22 - 90,566
3,722,710 3,306,463
Current assets RBEE
Investment in a debt instrument B TAERE - 36,248
Inventories T7E 20 33,879 57,834
Trade and bills receivables Z S EWEIE R EREE 21 896,981 789,003
Deposits, prepayments and other 24 - BN N E A ERRIE
receivables 22 28,385 45,987
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBESEED 23 177,076 93,712
1,136,321 1,022,784
Current liabilities mEEE
Trade payables B 5 RINTR 24 128,503 139,422
Other payables and accrued charges Hib e RIERETE A 25 278,942 334,054
Lease liabilities HEBE 26 - 1,299
Tax payable JERTTRIA 17,675 43,812
Bank and other borrowings HRIT R E AR 27 976,910 683,854
1,402,030 1,202,441
Net current liabilities MENEEFE (265,709) (179,657)

Total assets less current liabilities HEEBAREBERE 3,457,001 3,126,806
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)
e MBIRAR ()

As at 31 December 2024
72024F12 4318

2024 2023
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
B ARETFT ARETTT
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Deferred tax liabilities EEHEAE 19 16,041 15,051
Bank and other borrowings SRIT M E M SRR 27 210,000 230,000
Provision for restoration costs TEBRAN AN A 28 75,051 73,943
Other payables and accrued charges Hib e RIE R EET B A 25 - 19,636
301,092 338,630
Net assets EEFE 3,155,909 2,788,176
Capital and reserves ERRGE
Share capital [N 29 14,136 14,136
Reserves G 3,141,773 2,774,040
Total equity RS 3,155,909 2,788,176

The consolidated financial statements on pages 113 to 200 were approved HRE113E200E NG E T BHRAKREHRE
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 18 March 2025 and FEN2025F3 A18 A R IE T - Ih

signed on its behalf by: IATALEE :
Mr. Yu Bangping Mr. Li Xuezhong
RIBFEE ZEREE
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR

EF EF
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CONSOL[DATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
BARREDE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE2024F12A31BIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ADNRER AL
Statutory
Share Share Other surplus Retained
capital premium reserve reserve profits Total
EERER
RA ROEE  HtbfEE #E  REEN st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETR ARETRT ARETR
(note (i) (note (ii))

(aE()  (BEREGH))

At 1 January 2023 F2023F1 518 14,136 341,549 212,664 191,799 1,702,495 2,462,643
Profit and total comprehensive FREMREEKALE

income for the year - - - - 504,193 504,193
Dividend recognised as distribution REDEZBRE(HFE12)

(note 12) - (178,660) - - - (178,660)
Transfer to statutory surplus reserve ~ EE T EF RS A - - - 53,120 (53,120) -
At 31 December 2023 120234125318 14136 162,880 212,664 244919 2153568 2,788,176
Profit and total comprehensive FREFIRZABAESE

income for the year - - - - 440,229 440,229
Dividend recognised as distribution ~ #:2 A K2 B8 (HFH12)

(note 12) - (72,49 . . - (72,49
Transfer to statutory surplus reserve  EEE AT BHHE - - - 41,934 (41,934) -

At 31 December 2024 20245128318 14,136 90,393 212,664 286,853 2,551,863 3,155,909




Notes:

(i)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (Continued)

Other reserve as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023 represented
the aggregate amount of (i) the aggregate profit of RMB130,191,000 in
respect of operations of the Mining Business (as defined in note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements of the annual report for year ended 31
December 2019) carried out by Old Operating Entities (as defined in note 2
to the consolidated financial statements of the annual report for year ended
31 December 2019) prior to the Assets Transfer (as defined in note 2 to
the consolidated financial statements of the annual report for year ended
31 December 2019) and the profit was legally belonged to Old Operating
Entities and non-distributable by the Group; (ii) net historical transfer from
non-controlling interests of RMB222,669,000; (iii) the credit of RMB5,664,000
arisen from historical derecognition of assets and liabilities of Old Operating
Entities; (iv) historical distribution of profits of a subsidiary of RMB145,860,000
to the then Shareholders (except for Hong Kong Resources (as defined in
note 2 of consolidated financial statements for year ended 31 December
2019)).

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations of the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”), before distribution of the net profit each year, the
subsidiaries established in the PRC shall set aside 10% of their net profit after
taxation for the statutory surplus reserve fund (except where the reserve has
reached 50% of the subsidiaries’ registered capital). The statutory reserve
fund can only be used, upon approval by the board of directors of the relevant
subsidiaries and by the relevant authority, to offset accumulated losses or
increase capital.

PiEE

(i)

RERaEER(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

7202412 A31 H &%2023F 12 31 HAY
HiEEATISENERN  \(HELEER
B(ExREZ2019F12A31H I FEHR
ERZEATERERNE) EEAEERE(TE
EREZR2019F12A31AEFEREF 2
RABISIRARMT ) AT TT IR (8
#RBEET2019F12A31 B LEEREF 2
RAEMBHRENF) EENRFAEAR
#130,191,0007T * &% m FfE AR LEBRE
EEERE  ALETADR ()VBAFEE
B IR =T A R 16222,669,0007T :
(iR ItERELS EEENEERABESE
HEE AR5,664,0007T  K(v)@BEAE
HHRF(BEERER(EERLEZE2019
F12ANBIEFEREP 2HEEHBRE
B 5E2) BR AN 72k — R B B A R FI A R
145,860,0007T °

A E ARARME ([HEDEREER
ERAETR  REFESIRANA - R E
AR SLEO P B X B85S B R BR AE M EY10%
BRiEZEBHRBES ZRBEIMNBR
AlEMEARMNS0%E I - LIABMER
AEEg RAMIPIHER - ETHERE
EeERARNEHRERIIENER -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

AN N~ — 1
FREREMNER
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:
Interest income
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Finance costs
Amortisation of mining rights
Share of results of an associate
Loss on disposal/written-off of property,
plant and equipment, net
Fair value change of investment
properties
Exchange difference

Operating cash flows before movements in
working capital

Decrease (increase) in inventories

Increase in trade and bills receivables

Decrease (increase) in deposits,
prepayments and other receivables

Increase in trade payables

(Decrease) increase in other payables and
accrued charges

Decrease in contract liabilities

Cash (used in) generated from operations

Income tax paid

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

KEEH
BRI AT A
SLATIRE (EHFHE
UESY PN
W% - BERRBITE

BE A
PRUZ S 35

DME—EEB R R REE

HE WEME - BERRENER -

HER
BREWMENFERE

P EEE
LESTEDANKERERE
FERD (3B N)

B 5 & YUK R [ e MR PRI

Ze  RNRAEREMEKIA
A (S hn)

B 5 IR R IRIE N

oAl & 5008 e e s & A OB ) & N

BRAERD

KReE (R mERE
EAEE

HEEB (TR R ERER

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREET T
527,054 605,204
(436) (1,595)
134,410 121,999
50,255 36,044
49,274 40,589
12,711 3,037
1,249 8,914
1,000 4,300

®) 632
775,514 819,124
23,955 (8,390)
(1,165,252) (620,199)
6,143 (1,476)
89,081 104,118
(33,535) 33,772

= (1,639)
(304,094) 325,310
(119,846) (111,932)
(423,940) 213,378
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
RERERERE)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREETT

INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREEE
Payment for purchases of property, plant SXNEEYE  RE RBRENTIE
and equipment (365,357) (815,861)
Investment in an associate R—BE QRN E (294,000) (98,048)
Placement of restricted bank deposits FI 3 PR ISR TR 5K (4,478) (4,419)
Withdrawal of debt instruments REHREBHBTIA 36,248 -
Withdrawal of restricted bank deposits IREVZ R HIERITIE R 19,130 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEWE - BE KEREMSHKIE
and equipment 17,527 2
Interest received BUFLE 436 1,595
Purchase of mining right and related assets WA RIEHE LIRS E - (413,186)
Purchase of debt instruments BEEFTIA - (36,880)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES ®R&ZEFTAE S FE (590,494) (866,797)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEEE
Repayment of bank borrowings EBIRITIER (486,300) (256,000)
Dividend paid BEIRE (72,496) (178,660)
Interest paid on bank borrowings and HITEREREEEENEAHE
lease liabilities (46,848) (31,619)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEAEERE (1,299) (1,275)
New borrowings from factoring of R EUERFRIZFTER
bills receivables 1,291,070 509,558
Bank and other borrowings raised EEEMIRITREMBE R 399,560 503,070
Dividend refunded RERE 14,111 -
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  Bt& EEFriSIRE R4 1,097,798 545,074
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND R4 RIRSZEYEMORL ) F5E
CASH EQUIVALENTS 83,364 (108,345)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FHNRERREEEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 93,712 202,057

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATTHE SRR ERHBEZEY -
END OF THE YEAR, BRITHSBRES
represented by bank balances and cash 177,076 93,712
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

i =]

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

General Information

Perennial Energy Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
and registered as an exempted company with limited liability in the
Cayman Islands under the Companies Act Chapter 22 of the Cayman
Islands on 7 June 2017. The shares of the Company were listed on
the company Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“the Stock Exchange”) on 12 December 2018 and its parent
and ultimate holding company is Spring Snow Management Limited,
a limited liability company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
(“BVI”). The address of the Company’s registered office and principal
place of business is P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1104, Cayman Islands and Unit A1, 25th Floor, NCB Innovation
Centre, 888 Lai Chi Kok Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong, respectively.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the exploration
and mining of coking coal and coal refinery in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC” or “China”).

The controlling shareholder of the Company is Mr. Yu Bangping (“Mr.
Yu”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB”) which is also the same as the functional currency of the
Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Application of New and Amendments to

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on 1 January 2024
for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Noncurrent and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements

Except as described below, the application of the amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBI A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

2. Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)
Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year (continued)
Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification
of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the
“2022 Amendments”)

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year.

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional guidance
on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve
months from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current
or non-current, which:

o specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-
current should be based on rights that are in existence at the
end of the reporting period. Specifically, the classification
should not be affected by management intentions or
expectations to settle the liability within 12 months.

o clarify that the settlement of a liability can be a transfer
of cash, goods or services, or the entity’s own equity
instruments to the counterparty. If a liability has terms
that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in
its settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own equity
instruments, these terms do not affect its classification
as current or non-current only if the entity recognises the
option separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32

Financial Instruments: Presentation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Application of New and Amendments to

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year (continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification

of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the
“2022 Amendments”) (continued)

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date which are conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the 2022 Amendments specifically clarify that only
covenants that an entity is required to comply with on or before
the end of the reporting period affect the entity’s right to defer
settlement of a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting
date, even if compliance with the covenant is assessed only after the
reporting date. The 2022 Amendments also specify that covenants
with which an entity must comply after the reporting date (i.e. future
covenants) do not affect the classification of a liability as current or
non-current at the reporting date. However, if the entity’s right to
defer settlement of a liability is subject to the entity complying with
covenants within twelve months after the reporting period, an entity
discloses information that enables users of financial statements
to understand the risk of the liabilities becoming repayable within
twelve months after the reporting period. This would include
information about the covenants, the carrying amount of related
liabilities and facts and circumstances, if any, that indicate that the
entity may have difficulties complying with the covenants.

In accordance with the transition provision, the Group has applied
the new accounting policy to the classification of liability as current
or non-current retrospectively. The application of the amendments in
the current year had no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBI A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

2. Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year (continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7
Supplier Finance Arrangements

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year.

The amendments add a disclosure objective to HKAS 7 Statement of
Cash Flows stating that an entity is required to disclose information
about its supplier finance arrangements that enables users of
financial statements to assess the effects of those arrangements on
the entity’s liabilities and cash flows.

In addition, HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures was
amended to add supplier finance arrangements as an example within
the requirements to disclose information about an entity’s exposure
to concentration of liquidity risk.

In accordance with the transition provision, the entity is not required
to disclose comparative information for any reporting periods
presented before the beginning of the annual reporting period in
the first year of application as well as the information required by
HKAS 7:44 (b)(ii) and (b)(iii) above as at the beginning of the annual
reporting period in which the entity first applies those amendments.

The Group has provided additional disclosures related to the
amendments in notes 27 and 35.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments

to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards
Amendments to HKAS 21

HKFRS 18

Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent
Electricity®

Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instruments®

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture'

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting
Standards - Volume 113

Lack of Exchangeability?

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

Except for the new HKFRSs mentioned below, the directors of the

Company anticipate that the application of all other amendments to

HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated financial

statements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBI A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

2. Application of New and Amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements,
which sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures in
financial statements, will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. This new HKFRS Accounting Standard, while
carrying forward many of the requirements in HKAS 1, introduces
new requirements to present specified categories and defined
subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in the notes to the
financial statements and improve aggregation and disaggregation of
information to be disclosed in the financial statements. In addition,
some HKAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS
7. Minor amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and
HKAS 33 Earnings per Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with
early application permitted. The application of the new standard is
expected to affect the presentation of the statement of profit or loss
and disclosures in the future financial statements. The Group is in
the process of assessing the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Material Accounting Policy
Information

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include the applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had net current liabilities
of RMB265,709,000 and outstanding capital commitments
payable within twelve months of RMB122,500,000. During
the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded net
profit for the year of RMB440,229,000 and the net operating
cash outflow of RMB423,940,000. In order to mitigate the
liquidity risk, the Group had prepared cash flows forecast
for 12 months from end of reporting period and obtained
sufficient short and long-term of bank facilities. The Group
has unutilised portion of facilities of RMB555,177,000 as at
the report date. In addition, the management will undertake
close monitoring process to control the timing of the
expected cash outflows associated with the mining operation
and the payment of capital expenditures. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group’s liquidity
risk has been significantly reduced and they are satisfied that
the Group will be able to meet its financial obligations in full as
and when they fall due for the coming twelve months from 31
December 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBI A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial 3.
Statements and Material Accounting Policy
Information (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee becomes
an associate.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with
the associate are recognised in the consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate
that are not related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
iR BTSRRI A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial 3.
Statements and Material Accounting Policy
Information (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

Information about the Group’s accounting policies relating to
contracts with customers is provided in note 5.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be

received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they become receivable.

3.2

TEETREEN @)
RE B AW S
BRAREREFIIANN
SHBROER - SIS -

BT

BUSH BN A & IR A K
7 155 B IR T 48 B P PR 85 f6 1 %
# g W B BT & T AR
R

B Bh iR R B R A R
15 488 B 468 14 5 HO AR BE R AN AR,
RAXEOHMAERRDHER

S A ERE R BT E B = 1S
BEELNFHER#E X
B4 TASE BI85
RN - WERRABEX
A - BEEEEER BT i

W o

Leases HEe
The Group as a lessee REBEREEA
Right-of-use assets FREEE

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “property,
plant and equipment”, the same line item within which the
corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they
were owned.
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HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

RBG ST HRRNELE
REEESHBERER @)

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial 3.
Statements and Material Accounting Policy
Information (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily

3.2
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The Group as a lessor REBEERDEAA
Classification and measurement of leases HESBEKF=E

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as REEBEAHBANBESE
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease BRESKEHEE - SHEE

transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is
classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease.

Rental income of leasing the investment property is included
in other income.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction
in progress, are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.
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Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial 3.
Statements and Material Accounting Policy
Information (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include any costs
directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management, including costs of
testing whether the related assets is functioning properly
and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Depreciation
of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets, other than construction in progress and mining
structures, over their estimated useful lives after taking into
account their estimated residual value, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of the reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted
for on a prospective basis.

The mining structures are stated at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is provided to write off the
cost of the mining structures using the units of production
method based on the actual production volume over the total
proven and probable reserves of the coal mine concerned.
Reserve estimates are reviewed when information becomes
available that indicates a reserve change is needed, or at a
minimum once a year. Any material effect from changes in

estimates is considered in the period the change occurs.
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3.

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Material Accounting Policy
Information (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Mining rights

Mining rights are carried at cost less subsequent
accumulated amortisation and subsequent accumulated
impairment loss. Mining rights include the cost of acquiring
mining licenses. Amortisation for mining rights is provided
using the units of production method based on the actual
production volume over the total proven and probable
reserves of the coal mine concerned.

A mining right is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of a
mining right, measured as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Investment properties

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value,
adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease
income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Material Accounting Policy
Information (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Impairment loss on non-financial assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its non-financial assets to determine
whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include cash on hand and
demand deposits and those cash equivalents which held for
the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather
than for investment or other purposes.

Bank balances for which used by the Group is subject to
third party contractual restrictions are included as part of
cash unless the restrictions result in a bank balance no
longer meeting the definition of cash. Regulatory restrictions
affecting use of bank balances are disclosed in note 18.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

3.

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Material Accounting Policy
Information (continued)

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments

3.2

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when

a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions

of the instrument.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

(ii)

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and
is included in the “other gains and losses” line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
iR BTSRRI A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

RBG S RRNELE
REEESHBERER @)

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial 3.
Statements and Material Accounting Policy
Information (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets which are
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities, including trade payables, other payables
and accrued charges, and bank and other borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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AN
A

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

3.

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Material Accounting Policy
Information (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Provision for restoration cost

A provision for restoration cost is recognised when the
Group has a present obligation (legal or construction) as a
result of exploration, development and production activities
undertaken, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and the
amount of the provision can be measured reliably. The
estimated future obligations include the costs of removing
facilities, abandoning sites and restoring the affected areas.

The amount recognised as the provision for restoration cost
is the best estimate of the present value of the expenditure
required to settle the present restoration obligation at the
end of the reporting period, based on current legal and other
requirements. Future restoration costs are reviewed annually
and any changes in the estimate are reflected in the present
value of the provision at the end of the reporting period.

Changes in the estimation of the restoration provision that
result from changes in the estimated timing or amount of
cash flows, including the effects of revisions to estimated
lives of operation or a change in the discount rate, are
added to, or deducted from, the cost of the related asset
in the period it occurred. If a decrease in liability exceeds
the carrying amount of the asset, the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss. Unwinding of the effect of
discounting on the provision is recognised as finance costs.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit scheme and
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.
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RBG S RRNELE
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Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial 3.
Statements and Material Accounting Policy
Information (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the
benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries) after deducting any amount
already paid.

Taxation
Taxation represents the sum of current and deferred income
tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases
used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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3.

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Material Accounting Policy
Information (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period when the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or
deferred tax assets for investment properties that are
measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts
of such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely
through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The
presumption is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale, except for freehold land, which is
always presumed to be recovered entirely through sale.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

3.

RS

IR VAR

REESHHERER @)

3.2

SRTBERER ()
fﬁflﬁ(%ﬁ)
EEVREER B ERBHE
EREXEREENRERN
BE - WRERREHREH
R EE BT R (RBE)

S

AT EBRAFEEAFTENR
BEMENRELTHRA ESRET
MBEEME @ ZEWENR
B TSR E A P33 B R B
Wl - BRIEZ AR HR R RIME
A - MIREMERA TIE
AR -—BEEAFE - M&
EEILEN=R SR NIE S
HERRZREMERSHNE
REPD BNz - R BRERD
%&T’&ﬂ KA M B BE
R B ETEU BRI

BIVER K3 L%RIEF\\TE ﬁ@u/u °



Annual Report 2024 £ %

139

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Material Accounting Policy
Information (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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4. Critical Accounting Judgements and Key

Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the management of the Group is required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimates is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if
the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the management of the Group have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
in the consolidated financial statements.

Deferred taxation on undistributed profits of subsidiaries
At 31 December 2024, the Group provided for deferred tax liabilities
of approximately RMB16,041,000 (2023: RMB 15,051,000} in relation
to the tax impact arising from the expected to be distributed from
certain subsidiaries.

Deferred tax liabilities have not been provided on the distributable
profits of subsidiaries amounting to RMB2,193,058,000 (2023:
RMB2,042,812,000) which is the retained profits arising from
previous year that the Group plans to retain in the respective entities
for their daily operations and future developments. The Group
expects distributions from certain subsidiaries do not exceed 30%
of their profits generated by those subsidiaries on that year. In case
where the actual distribution of profits from those subsidiaries are
larger or smaller than expected or changes in the Group’s future
development plan which affects the expected timing and amounts
of future distributions, material tax liabilities will change, which
will be recognised in the profit or loss for the period in which such
profits are distributed or the future development plan of the Group

changed, whichever is earlier.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Critical Accounting Judgements and Key
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (continued)
Supplier finance arrangement

As disclosed in note 27, the Group entered into certain supplier
finance arrangements during the year. While the agreement with the
Group’s suppliers and the invoice due date remains unchanged,
the banks offer to pay amounts the Group owed to its suppliers
and the Group pays according to the terms and conditions of the
arrangements at the same date as, or a date later than, the suppliers
are paid. These arrangements provide the Group with extended
payment terms, or the Group’s suppliers with early payments terms,
when compared to the related invoice due date. In determining
whether the liabilities to the banks under these arrangements are
presented separately from trade and other payables, the directors
of the Company consider whether the nature and function of these
liabilities are sufficiently different from trade and other payables.
For liabilities that are part of the working capital used in the Group’s
normal operating cycle, they are presented within trade and other
payable. The directors of the Company also determine whether the
arrangement has extinguished the entity’s obligation to suppliers and
whether the terms and conditions in the agreements with the banks
are similar to the Group’s financing activities. When the liabilities are
part of the Group’s financing activities, the Group presents these
liabilities within bank borrowings in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

For the purpose of presenting cash flows statement, cash flows
related to the liabilities arising from supplier finance arrangements
that are classified as trade payable are still part of the working capital
used in the entity’s principal revenue generating activities. Therefore,
the cash outflows to settle the trade payables under supplier finance
arrangement are presented as arising from operating activities. On
the other hand, for the arrangements which the related liability is not
a trade or other payable because the liability represents borrowings
of the Group, the Group presents cash outflows to settle these
liabilities as arising from financing activities in the consolidated
statement of cash flows.
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4. Critical Accounting Judgements and Key
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following is the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.

Depreciation of mining structures included in property,
plant and equipment and amortisation of mining rights
As explained in note 3, mining rights and mining structures are
amortised or depreciated using the units of production method based
on the actual production volume over the total proven and probable
reserves of the coal mine concerned.

Proven and probable coal reserves estimates are estimates of the
quantity of coal that can be economically and legally extracted from
the Group’s mining properties, which are determined according
to applicable independent technical review report prepared by an
external specialist, with the consideration of most recent production
and technical information of each mine. However, the mining rights
were granted for terms of 20 (2023: 20 years). The management
of the Group is of the opinion that the Group will be able to
continuously renew the mining rights and the business licences
without significant costs. Accordingly, the Group has used the
proven and probable reserves as a basis of estimation for the useful
lives of its mining rights.

Fluctuations in factors including a variation on recovery rates
or unforeseen geological or geotechnical perils may render the
management of the Group to change the production plan, resulting
from a revision on the estimates of coal reserves.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Critical Accounting Judgements and Key
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (continued)
Depreciation of mining structures included in property,
plant and equipment and amortisation of mining rights
(continued)

Because the economic assumptions used to estimate reserves
change from period to period, and because additional geological
data is generated during the course of operations, estimates of
reserves may change from period to period. Changes in reported
reserves may affect the Group’s financial results that depreciation
and amortisation charged to profit or loss may change where such
charges are determined by the units of production basis, or where
the useful economic lives of assets change. The carrying amount of
mining rights was RMB847,570,000 (2023: RMB828,778,000) and the
carrying amount of mining structures included in the property, plant
and equipment was RMB1,336,520,000 (2023: RMB1,162,283,000)
as at 31 December 2024. The amortisation of mining rights and
depreciation of mining structures for the year ended 31 December
2024 amounted to RMB49,274,000 (2023: RMB40,589,000) and
RMB52,619,000 (2023: RMB39,244,000), respectively.

Estimated useful life of machinery included in property,
plant and equipment

Machinery included in property, plant and equipment are depreciated
over their useful economic lives after taking into account their
estimated residual values. The assessment of estimated useful lives
is a matter of judgement based on the experience of the Group’s
management, taking into account factors such as technological
process, conditions of machinery and changes in market demand.
Useful lives are periodically reviewed for appropriateness. The
carrying amount of machinery included in property, plant and
equipment was RMB610,814,000 (2023: RMB587,857,000).

A MIEwARME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

j( Jr#Ji%ﬁ&TETquT\EE
‘1‘)\4@% r%&nﬁﬁﬂﬁ?‘”ﬁﬁﬁ
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HEHIREE - IMEENEHHE
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BME RS EFEET - 120244
128318 REENFEEEAAR
847,570,000 7T (2023 F : AR #
828,778,0007T) * Mat A¥% - KE

BENTEEEYOREREAAR
#£1,336,520,0007T (20234 : AR¥
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBI A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

4. Critical Accounting Judgements and Key

Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (continued)
Provision for restoration costs

Provision for the Group’s restoration costs are based on estimates
of required expenditure to restore the sites of Group’s mines in
accordance with PRC rules and regulations. The Group estimates
its liabilities for final reclamation and mine closure based upon
detailed calculations of the amount and timing of the future cash
expenditure to perform the required work, escalated for inflation,
then discounted at a discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
liability such that the amount of provision reflects the present value
of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
Estimates are regularly reviewed and adjusted as appropriate for
new circumstances. The carrying amount of provision for restoration
costs as at 31 December 2024 was RMB75,051,000 (2023:
RMB73,943,000).

5. Revenue and Segment Information
Revenue
Revenue represents the fair value of amounts received and
receivable from the sales of goods and services provided by the
Group to related party/external customers, net of related taxes, for
the year.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

Sales of coal products and coalbed methane gas

For sales of coal products and coalbed methane gas, revenue is
recognised when the control of goods is transferred, being when the
goods are delivered to the customer’s specific location. A receivable
is recognised by the Group when the goods are delivered to the
customers as this represents the Group’s right to consideration
becomes unconditional, as only the passage of time is required
before payment is due. The customers have neither rights of return
nor rights to defer or avoid payment for the goods once they are
accepted by the customers upon receipt of goods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Revenue and Segment Information (continued)
Revenue (continued)

All revenue contracts are for period of one year or less. As permitted
by HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied
contracts is not disclosed.

Types of goods and services EmkRgER
Recognised at a point in time: RE—F R HER
Sales of coal products: SHE B REM

- Raw coal — R

— Clean coal — e

- Middling coal —

— Sludge coal —JERE
Sales of coalbed methane gas HEKER
Geographical market i %

The PRC i

5.

A MIEwARME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

Wiz K o 2B E R @)

3% (48)

FE RS A K AE — E SRR - RE
B TR A B 1A KE -
B EZER BTN SHBRTE
WE -

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARET T

= 2,468
1,551,553 1,620,390
123,685 64,925
26,622 22,741
1,701,860 1,710,524
4,248 5,099
1,706,108 1,715,623
1,706,108 1,715,623
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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A
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

5.

Revenue and Segment Information (continued)
Segment information

The Group’s operation is solely derived from the production and
sales of coal products and coalbed methane gas. For the purpose
of resources allocation and performance assessment, the chief
operating decision maker (“CODM?) (i.e. the chief executive officer)
reviews the overall results and financial position of the Group as a
whole prepared based on same accounting policies of the Group.
Accordingly, the Group has only one single operating segment and
no further analysis of this single segment is presented.

Geographical information

The Group’s revenue are all derived from the PRC based on
the location of the customers and the Group’s non-current
assets, excluding financial assets and deferred tax assets, of
RMB3,627,585,000 (2023: RMB3,227,151,000) are located in the
PRC and of RMB27,234,000 (2023: RMB1,296,000) are located in
Hong Kong, respectively, by physical location of assets.

Information about major customers
Revenue from customers of the corresponding year contributing
over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are as follows:

Customer A ZEA
Customer B =FB
Customer C =FC
Customer D ZFED
* The revenue of relevant customer did not contribute over 10% of the

total revenue of the Group.

Wz K o EER @)
DEER

78 B T T B A R B R
SREER - REREERERTH
mME X TERERRE([ETELER
#% ) (AT BeH) B IR E B
EEENEC T LIRS L EY Y
BEHR - B - AEBES —EE

M1 E R
REBEREFEDARZE 2 EPK
BFRE - MASEZEEMRLEE
DEFERBDEE(TRESREERE
JERIEE B ) b A K 13,627,585,000
JC (2023 F : A R ¥ 3,227,151,000
TC) R A B R A R ¥ 27,234,000 7T
(20234 : AR¥1,296,0007T) (IR E
7 o

B+ EEPHIER
RASERGEETER10% A 8948
EFEEPKENAT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBFIT
942,040 719,358
197,030 N/ATNE R *
N/AT & 225,344
N/ATE 175,485
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

6. Directors’ and Employees’ Emoluments 6. ESKESHMH
(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (2 EERITHEAZFMH
The emoluments paid or payable to the directors of the HASEENERED MR EN
Company by entities comprising the Group are as follows: RATIESHFMAT -
Executive Directors Independent Non-executive Directors
HEs BUHTES

Mr.Punnya Ms. Cheung
Mr. Wang Mr.Li Mr. Yu Mr.Yu  Mrlau Mr.Fong Niraan ~ SuetTing, Mr.Wang  Ms.YAU
Mr. Yu Shize  Xuezhong  Zhilong Xiao  KaiMing ~ WaiHo  DeSiva Samantha  Xiufeng ~ ShuShan Mr.SIZeyu Total
Punnya
Niraan
REE IHERE PERRE ARERE  REAL FEUEE BERAE DeSivaii EERRL IFBAL MEMnL FEEAE &5
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARMTr ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARETR ARETL ARETR

(Note (J)  (Note (ii) (Note (vi))  (Note(iv) (Note(vi))  (Note(v)
(W) (hisgin) (M) (WEEG)  (WfsEa)  (BEEQ))
Yearended 31 December ~ EZ2024F 12831 H
2024 IFER
Fees we M 22 1 1 1 11 318 318 289 67 29 13 1,711
Other emoluments: RHEH -
Salaries and other benefits 54 A f7ET 479 9% 1,154 1,276 389 1,255 - - - - - - 4647
Retirement benefits schemes R /RETI3t 213
contributions 2 4 2 2 20 2 - - - - - - 111

Total emoluments HHes 611 120 1,287 1,409 520 1,388 318 318 289 67 29 113 6,469
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBI A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

. = = 3 .

6. Directors’ and Employees’ Emoluments 6. ESKESHM@
(continued)
(@ Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (@) EERTHRERFHE)

(continued)

Executive Directors Independent Non-executive Directors
417gs BUiTES
Mr. Punnya  Ms. Cheung
Mr.Sun Mr. Wang Mr.Li Mr. Yu Mr. Yu Mr.Lau  Mr.Fong Niraan ~ SuetTing,  Mr.Wang
Mr. Yu Dawei Shize  Xuezhong Zhilong Xiao  KaiMing Wai Ho DeSilva  Samantha Xiufeng Total
Punnya
Niraan
ARE OBAERE IHERE SRR AERLE  ABAL DREMEL  FESRE DeShakt REELL IAMRE at
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB000 ~ RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTL ARRTR ARETL ARBTR ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR
(Note () ~ (Notefil)  (Note i)
(o) (em) (G
Yearended 31 December 1220235127318
223 LLEE
Fees ik 108 2 108 108 108 108 108 324 324 324 200 1,847
Other emoluments: Efpw
Salaries and other benefs & REMET 893 81 893 1,124 1,030 393 1,187 - - - - 5,551
Retirement benefits schemes R VETIF3/451
contributions 21 - 21 2 32 19 2 - - - - 137
Total emoluments EMiiag 1,022 108 1,022 1,254 1,170 520 1,267 324 34 324 200 7,53

Notes Bfsx

(i) On 31 March 2023, the board of directors approved the 0 HNo0234E3A31H » =
relinquish of Mr. Yu Bangping from the role as the Chief e ESR I AT EIE
Executive Officer (the “CEO”) of the Company with effect FEARRNT TR LEE ([T
from 1 April 2023, while Mr. Yu Bangping will remain as @) - 8202344 A1
the chairman of the Board and an executive Director of the AW £HFLEEE
Company and the chairman of the nomination committee of s T RN EEe T
the Company. And Mr. Yu Zhilong, an executive Director, o HMTREERAATIE
was appointed as the new CEO with effect from 1 April 2023. ZEEEXE - HITEE

REBEEEEZERFE
TR, - B20234F4 A1
HRAER o

(ii) On 31 March 2023, the board of directors accepted the (ii) HNo0234E3A31H  BE

resignation of Mr. Sun Dawei from executive Director. CEISHRAIEEABIE
TEE

(iii) On 12 March 2024, the board of directors accepted the (i) 20243 H128 &%

resignation of Mr. Wang Shize from executive Director. SIS B 5 A BT
TEE -

(iv) On 1 May 2024, the board of directors accepted the (iv) Ho024E5A1H  BEE
resignation of Mr. Wang Xiufeng from independent non- ST RIELEBTBY
executive Director. JEHITES -

(v) On 7 June 2024, the board of directors approved the ) No02456A7H » EEE

appointment of Mr. Si Zeyu as independent non-executive
Director.

HEZERIEREERE
SIFMITES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

6. Directors’ and Employees’ Emoluments

(continued)

(@)

(b)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(vi) On 14 November 2024, the board of directors accepted
the resignation of Ms. Cheung Suet Ting, Samantha from
independent non-executive Director.

(vii) On 14 November 2024, the board of directors approved
the appointment of Mr. Yau Shu Shan as independent non-
executive Director.

The emoluments of executive directors stated above were
for their services in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company and the Group. The emoluments of
independent non-executive directors stated above were for
their services as directors of the Company.

There was no arrangement under which a director of the
Company waived or agreed to waive any remuneration in any
of the year. No remunerations were paid by the Group to the
directors of the Company as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office in any
of the year.

Employees’ emoluments

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the
year are all directors (2023: all directors), details of whose
emoluments are set out in note 6(a) above.

HK$0 to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,000 to HK$1,500,000

07 7C21,000,000/% 7T

A MIEwARME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B ZE2024F12 A1 B ILFE

6. EEREEFMN@E

(@)

(b)

1,000,000/ 721,500,000/ 7T

ESERITBAEREWN (3

Hist - ()

(vi) #2024F11 4148 - &
FERERTELLEE
BNIITEE -

(vii) N2024F11 148 &
=S T MLt
REBIIERITES o

PlMTEEFMERBREE
BARRRRAEEEBH RS
s fi o B IEITE S
HRRMFIERARRRIES
HI ARSI S A ©

RERFE - TEEDAQR]
EREWNESRERE T
W - REMFE - ANEE
I A [ AN A B B S A B
RWE IMAREEI R INA
NGBS SR E S Ve R B

f& o

12 & 5
FAREE 2 REH ALY
REH(2023F : 2FEF)
BRAEFMOFIREIIN £X
Fi7E6(a) ©

2024 2023
Number of Number of
employees employees
BEAH EEAH

2 _

3 5




1 50 Perennial Energy Holdings Limited A &= BERIZERER QA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBI A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

7. Other Income

Government grant (Note (i) B B (B EEG))

Sale of electricity BHEEWA

Rental income (Note (ii)) S WA (M EEG))

Bank interest income HRITFBUMA

Income from scrap sales EERHHE A

Others EAh

Notes:

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, government

grant mainly represents grants received by the Group upon meeting
production volume target of coal products and coalbed methane gas
and safety requirement set by the local government.

(ii) The amount includes lease payments of fixed office building of
RMB1,101,000 (2023: RMB1,101,000) received under operating
leases from a related party, Guizhou Bangda Energy Development
Co., Ltd (“Guizhou Bangda”), an entity was owned as to 90% and
10% by Mr. Yu Bangping and Mr. Yu Bangcheng, respectively.

HAuUg A

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETT ARBTT

18,636 15,721
1,475 13,929
1,644 1,773

436 1,595
2,675 1,345
1,125 1,298

25,991 35,661

BFE

H ZE 20244 K 202312 A318 1
FE BAEEERRERNE
R SRS P 2R S B B R 7 R B
BREEZEBEZREZERTREKE
HIfEED ©

ZEERRRIECETREL RS
EMNFPERERERBRAR(E
MHBE] - DRIBERBFEERR
FORR e A 90% K 10% K EEE)
WEBWEERAEHENIAR
#1,101,0007T (20234 : AR
1,101,0007T) ©



Annual Report 2024 £ 151

Other Gains and Losses

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
iR BTSRRI A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

8. HttlzmEKIEE

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETT ARBTT

Fair value change of investment properties % &M% QT EES) (HFE15)

(note 15)

Loss on disposal/written-off of property,
plant and equipment, net

Net exchange loss

Finance Costs

(1,000) (4,300)

HE MEmE - BEREENEE
HE (1,249) (8,914)
PE H 518558 (1,877) (4,181)
(4,126) (17,395)

9. ®EMAK

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBT T

Interest on bank and other borrowings HRIT R EADERFLE 39,587 27,997
Unwinding of discount on restoration costs 1828k A< 8527 # 0] 3,705 3,381
Interest on discounted bills EEFRERRFE 2,468 2,479
Interest on supplier finance arrangements  {ffEREREE ZHERIF B 4,482 1,630
Imputed interest arising from payables for W& ERIEEFE (S B HEF S

acquisition of mining right - 519
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEHNTE 13 38

50,255 36,044
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

* No forfeited contributions may be used by the Group to reduce the

existing level of contributions.

10. Profit before Taxation 10. BRBLAIER
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARBFIT
Profit before taxation has been arrived at BB AT AR (BT A -
after charging (crediting):
Auditor’s remuneration: ZEMME -
Audit services ZH AR 2,404 2,341
Non-audit services IERZ B RS 41 1,877
Directors’ emoluments = EH 6,469 7,535
Other staff costs: EAth B TR -
Salaries and other allowances e M H MR, 396,990 394,169
Retirement benefits schemes RKE A B
contributions* 74,552 72,534
Less: Capitalised in construction in W ERIRREARNME
progress (110,330) (150,661)
Less: Capitalised in inventories W FEERME (255,406) (233,871)
Total staff costs (included in administrative, 8 TAXAN42EE (FFATTEL » D&
distribution and selling expenses and SHEERT R EAMF)
other expenses) 112,275 89,706
Depreciation of property, plant and M - WEREEITE
equipment 134,410 121,999
Less: Capitalised in inventories B FEERL (116,567) (104,969)
Total depreciation of property, plant and FFAITBRIE M 2 H2E -
equipment included in administrative B KT E AR
and other expenses 17,843 17,030
Amortisation of mining rights PRERE T 49,274 40,589
Less: Capitalised in inventories B FEERE (49,274) (40,589)
Inventories recognised as an expense REAZHNGEE 820,977 771,333
Research and development expense EEF S (GTAEALR )
(included in other expenses) 56,773 58,536
Rental income from investment properties & MEREIWA (FOFR A 2BEF L)
(net of negligible outgoing expenses) (1,101) (1,101)
Penalties arising from operations LEEERMEIR(GEARMRAS)
(included in other expenses) (8,658) (24,718)

AEETN SR WMH H TR RFEE

RERFOKE -



11.

Annual Report 2024 £

153

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Taxation Charge

PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”):

- current year —AFE
— Underprovision in prior years —RAFERETRE
— withholding tax — a0

Deferred tax credit (note 19) EIER B S (FI5E19)

B H

Taxation charge

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the
subsidiary in Hong Kong has no assessable profits for both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT and Implementation Regulation
of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries is
25%. Subject to certain conditions on preferential tax treatment,
the applicable tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 15% for the year
ended 31 December 2024. On 26 May 2021, Guizhou Jiutai Bangda
Energy Development Co., Ltd. EM A FTHZERHAEBR A A
(“Jiutai Bangda”) obtained an approval notice from the relevant
authority, which approved Jiutai Bangda as being engaged in
encouraged industry in the western region. Furthermore, the income
derived from its coal refinery business accounted for more than 60%
of its gross income in 2024 as stipulated in the Announcement of
the Ministry of Finance, the State Taxation Administration and the
National Development and Reform Commission on Continuing the
Enterprise Income Tax Policies for the Large-Scale Development
of Western China (“Announcement No. 23 2020”). The profits are
therefore subject to preferential tax treatment and the applicable tax
rate for the calendar year ended 31 December 2024 was 15%.

R EMSH(TREMERD)

A MIEwARME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

BIEZ
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREET T ARBT T
85,712 97,184
1,589 3,121
6,408 20,169
(6,884) (19,463)

86,825 101,011

R BB B A AR W EFE S EE
AP A - MBS B RIS E
B -

RIEFBEMBEMEEERDEMS
BUOEB IR - AL E A B E R A
W& 525% « EREETEER
BEBKRET - FRNBRARTNEZE
2024F12A31HIEFEZEARE R
15% ° $H2021F5H26H » EIMAZE
R RABARAT ([ ARTBE])
WRIERERZIEBRN  BREASR
BEAN BRI HEOSEEESE -
LA - 2024 4F - B RN T E U
MMEBUAB0% A E - FFE B EED -
BMsRE BEREERREZHERLE
FEHARABECEMETERENRE
([20205 52355 1) 2 #17E ° ALt - PRI
HERNAIZEEENBEE  #HE
2024F12 A3 B ILEFHEARE R
15%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

11. Taxation Charge (continued) 1. HIEXZH @)
The taxation charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit FABIA HERB AT B ERAT

before taxation as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETT ARBTT

Profit before taxation R A A 527,054 605,204
Taxation at PRC EIT rate of 25% RPBI RSB E25% T H Y
TIE 131,763 151,301
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for AAMBFAZORETE
tax purposes 8,205 13,719
Additional tax benefit on research and T 85 A ST )RR MR T2 B (52 (7))
development expenses (Note (i)) (13,416) (14,634)
Tax effect of share of results of an associate fE(L— [l & AR ZEE 2 T E 3,178 759
Underprovision in respect of prior years MBAFEREBETR 1,589 3,121
Income tax at preferential tax rates REBHETEONMEH (51,892) (60,458)
Withholding tax on distributed profits of a M8 A RIE D IRFER AN IE
subsidiary 6,408 20,169
Deferred tax charge (credit) arising on P BB B A B AR 2 IR R R A IR
undistributed profits of PRC subsidiaries MIBZ H (E2) 990 (12,966)
Taxation charge for the year FARIAZ 86,825 101,011
Note: MzE -
i) According to the relevant laws and regulations promulgated by (i B+ REBRBEMRHA
the PRC State Administration of Taxation made effective from 2023 F B AE M MR BE R AR -
2023 onwards, enterprises engaging in research and development NERHEZHNEECEETZFE
activities are entitled to claim up to 200% of their qualified research HIERBUR MR - ARGEEERN
and development expenses incurred as tax deductible expenses HE BTN EAZNES200%
when determining their assessable profits for that year. The Group FHERTIIBIAY - REBEMAE
has made its best estimate for the additional deduction to be claimed ERENTETE LB E2024512 A
for the Group’s entities in ascertaining their assessable profits during 31 H IEFE #ERT R R 2 By

the year ended 31 December 2024. DNEHNBRVE S AT ©




12.

13.

Annual Report 2024 £

155

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Dividends

Proposed final dividend of nil BRERERERT

(2023: HK5.00 cents) per share

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, no final dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK5.00 cents)
per ordinary share (2023: HK$80,000,000), has been proposed by
the directors of the Company. The majority of the final dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2023 has been paid during
the year. However, a portion of the dividend remain unclaimed by
the shareholders of the Company and was presented as dividend
payable as at 31 December 2024.

Earnings per Share

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following
data:

Earnings: &
Earnings for the purpose of basic
earnings per share (profit for the year

attributable to owners of the Company)

Number of shares: fRDERE -
Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of calculating

basic earnings per share

ik Sl

No diluted earnings per share was presented for both years as there
was no potential ordinary shares in issue for both years.

12.

(20234 : FR%A195.007811)

13.

AR EESRERRNN AT
(ARRIEA NEIEFREF)

AR ESRERRN N EEBK

A MIEwARME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

Iz 2.
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBETTT

= 72,496

RRERZ% - RRAREETEH
A E2024F12 A31 B FFEIRE K
B B.(20234F : Ti%E @ %5.008
fili) (20234 : 80,000,000/57T) ° &
F2023F 12 A31HIEFEMARIBO K
HRBERFERIRN - A - BOK
BANARERR R RFERAE - B71742024
F12R31H 25 BEMAERE -

FIREF
ARTEE ABETREARETR
IR TSI BEE 5 -

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBT T

440,229 504,193

’000 ’000

T T
1,600,000

1,600,000

mMRMEFEHLEDETEEER
I MWRESESL B2 SREE

B -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBI A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31BIEFE

14. Property, Plant and Equipment 14. Y% - BMERZME
Office and
Construction Mining electronic Motor  Leasehold Leased
inprogress  Buildings  structures  Machinery  equipment  vehicles land  properties Total
HER

EEIE By REREN B% STRE HEER HEfh  AENR e
RMBOOO  RMBO00  RMBOOO  RMBO0D  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBI000
ARRTR ARRTT ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR

C0ST A
At 1 January 2023 1202351 A1E Q674 203101 977023 990696 27202 33831 4977 8901 2,465,495
Additions g 325,326 1260 25638 55502 10450 2,833 886 - 41904
Transfer BH (327,904 21942 204467 11,495 - - - - -
Disposal/written-off e /s - (12109 - (30,989 - (65) - - (5215
At 31 December 2023 120238124318 90096 30427 1207128 1017707 37742 36599 42863 8901 2,835,243
Addtions E U718 28,100 - 1562 1677 381 - - 3261
Transfer a% (260542 17761 229453 13,328 - - - - -
Disposal/written-off HE /i - - @597) (5679 - (392 - B901)  (17,569)
Exchange adjustments ERRE - 3 - - 5 15 - - 53
At 31 December 2024 120045123318 7673 350110 1523984 1100618 39424 36603 42863 - 3170338
DEPRECIATION i
At 1 January 2023 1202351 1R - 170 %5801 381640 15263 20,182 5,084 6350 568,200
Provided for the year EREE - 9383 39244 655% 2982 2,763 826 1215 121,999
Eliminated on disposal/ &/ ihE

written-off - 219) - ({17316) - (55) - - {7590)
At 31 December 2023 2023512318 - B33 134845 420850 18245 22,890 5910 7625 672,699
Provided for the year Gy - 10292 52619 64308 2943 2137 8% 1216 134410
Eliminated on disposal/ HE /i

written-off - - - (4,357) - (341) - (B901)  (13599)
Exchange adjustments ERRE - 34 - 3 5 14 - - 56
At 31 December 2024 120245123318 - 63660 187464 480804 21,193 24700 6,745 - 793566
CARRYING AMOUNTS KEE
At 31 December 2024 120245123318 7673 286450 1336520 610814 18,231 1903 3118 - 2378712

At 31 December 2023 12028512318 90,096 250873 1,162,283 587,857 19,497 13,709 36,953 12716 2,162,544
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress and mining structures, are depreciated on
a straight-line basis after taking into account their estimated residual
values, at the following rates per annum:

2.33% to 5%
6.7% to 20%
10% to 20%
10% to 20%
Over the shorter of estimated

Buildings
Machinery
Office and electronic equipment
Motor vehicles
Leasehold land

useful life and the lease term
Leased properties Over the shorter of estimated

useful life and the lease term

The leasehold land represents the payments for land use rights
which are under medium-term lease (i.e. 40 to 50 years) in the PRC.

The buildings are situated on the leasehold land in the PRC.

The mining structures include the main and auxiliary mine shafts and
underground tunnels. The construction in progress comprises mainly
the main and auxiliary mine shafts and underground tunnels in the
course of construction and machinery under installation.

Depreciation are provided to write off the cost of the mining
structures using the units of production method based on the actual
production volume over the total proven and probable reserves of
the coal mine concerned. The mining structures have estimated
remaining useful lives of 17 to 20 years (2023: 20 to 43 years) based
on the proven and probable reserves of the coal mine concerned.

The legal titles of the buildings, with aggregate carrying value of
RMB246,834,000 (2023: RMB209,499,000) as at 31 December 2024,
have not been granted by the relevant government authorities and
the relevant titles are still under application. In the opinion of the
management of the Group, taking into account of the PRC lawyer’s
legal opinion, all the risks and rewards of ownership of the buildings
have been transferred to the Group.

A MIEwARME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

14. Y% BENRE @)

KEt R fhErRER - DAYE - BE
RETE B (2 T2 RARIEH E IR
SN ABBOEIRA T FRITE -

BF 2.33%E5%

s 6.7%Z=20%

WAREFHRE 10%E20%

T ) 5 8 10%Z20%

e+ fhEtAlE A B K
TEnERE

Gizh=¢7ES s Al fE A E R
AN REE

HELwEP R HEE(B405 =
504 )8 T L b FREFRIA

v

ZERFRRPEEE L -

p=Ill

RIEWEY BB IHEF R TE
BoHERETRIEEEBEITNIEH
B Nt TR B IA M 2 R ey teas -

REBEENFE K ARERE
EREENLEEMENIENER
# - DAMSHIRIB B AR - 12
FHERBRNFEREREEFNE - &
EEEYET RS FERERA1TE
204 (20234 : 20F 435 ) ©

M2024F12A31H - REBEARA
R #246,834,0007T (20234 : AR
209,499,0007T ) K& F /AR W AR
R BT R A - AR SR
FEHRFEP - K P BEEMAEEE
R-AEEEBRERE BFhAE
WETEER R EHE SR EAEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBI A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31BIEFE

14. Y% - BERZRE @
REBERFEMEA
BRREEHAYE  BERSE)

14. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)
The Group as lessee
Right-of-use assets (included in the property, plant and equipment)

Leasehold Leased
land properties Total
FHE L HEME st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREEFTT AREEFIT AREETTT
As at 31 December 2024 7A20245F12831H
Carrying amount BRMEE 36,118 - 36,118
As at 31 December 2023 72023F12831H
Carrying amount REE 36,953 1,276 38,229
For the year ended HZE2024F12A318 LFE
31 December 2024
Depreciation charge EER 835 1,276 2,111
Capitalised in inventories FEEXRE (835) - (835)
- 1,276 1,276
For the year ended BHZ2023F12A318LFE
31 December 2023
Depreciation charge WEeEsEH 826 1,275 2,101
Capitalised in inventories FEERE (826) - (826)
- 1,275 1,275
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTIT
Total cash outflow for leases HERSRL42EE 1,312 1,313
Additions to right-of-use assets TREEERE - 886
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

The Group as lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets (included in the property, plant and equipment)
(continued)

For both years, the Group leases various offices for its operations.
Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of three years
(2023: three years). Lease terms are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns several buildings. The Group is the
registered owner of these property interests, including the underlying
leasehold lands. Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire
these property interests. The leasehold land components of these
owned properties are presented separately only if the payments
made can be allocated reliably.

Investment Properties

The Group leases out office premises under operating leases with
rentals payable monthly. The leases typically run for an initial period
of 3 years (2023: 3 years), with unilateral rights to extend the lease
beyond initial period held by lessees only.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the
lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the respective
functional currencies of group entities. The lease contracts do not
contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to purchase
the property at the end of lease term.

FAIR VALUE
At 1 January 2023
Fair value changes recognised to profit or loss

AFE
720231 A1H

At 31 December 2023

Fair value changes recognised to profit or loss iNei=End

At 31 December 2024

72023412 H31H
RN EZE)

R2024F12F31H

14.

15.

REOATFELD

A MIEwARME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

Y ER Y S L1 )
AEBIEAEBA (HF)
EAREEE (GIAYE - BiERLE)
(##)

RRETE  AEEREEEHEBZ
BRAE - eI HEAHNNEEE
B AHA = (20234 : =) - FHE
FERERBERERET  YHASE
TRMESR R G o PARE & TR R T
TR S EAR N BR B - AEEE
AHMTEEWLET SN RGBT
HARS o

AN AEBBERETRT - AKH
REEMFEED(BREERBEELT)
MEBREAA - CHKRBEZEMERE
BRM—RERRK - ZEEBBYEN
HET S EHESER I REER 5
DENERTBILETY

REWE

AREBBESCLHASEARAETME
TEHAKBEE - ZEHE—RVIF
BE=F(2023F : =F) - EAHEA
BHEEFEBHARTCEEVIATELE

HAMAEEHNEEERES BN
EEEE  BAKBYAREBRHEHE
ZHFTBHMSMNERKR - MEA OB
TEERGEEERE SABEAR
HEE RS EEREYENEEE -

Owned
properties
BB
RMB’000
ARBFT

51,500
(4,300)

47,200
(1,000)

46,200
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

AN
A

BT IRRMTRE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

15.

Investment Properties (continued)

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are measured
using the fair value model and are classified and accounted for
as investment properties. All changes in fair value are recognised
through profit or loss.

The fair value of investment properties as at 31 December 2024
and 2023 have been arrived at on the basis of valuation carried out
by Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited, independent qualified
professional valuer not related to the Group.

The fair value of investment properties was determined based on
the direct comparison approach assuming sale of each of these
properties in existing state and by making reference to comparable
sales transactions as available in the relevant market and adjusted
for differences in the location and condition. There has been no
change on the valuation technique used during the year ended 31
December 2024.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, the highest
and best use of the properties is their current use. At the end of
the reporting period, the management of the Group works closely
with the independent qualified professional valuer to establish the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs into the model. Where
there is a material change in the fair value of the assets, the causes
of the fluctuations will be reported to the management of the Group.

15.

T E Y (@)
REBRBQEHEREARDES
SEERILERNEMEREERA R
FEERFE  TOBERARABRE
ME - IB A TFEEHTRIBET E
20244 }2023F12A31H - &Y
N T (ED iR i BN & A B A
B A BB LA LIRS
FBIAARAREITHEERE -

BEWMELNTFEEREBEEZLEER
BURBREHESEZEWERE
B2 E MR T 5 A S8 P B LR
ERGETE UHMNERKIANER
FLAFHE - HE2024F12A31H ILF
B FTRAS A ER e .

REFHR B E D TER - WERE
RgEREaR&ERSE - NEREH
R AEHEEEERBIABREE
HEMEZEAE  URIEERY
BEDERBARE - WEERATE
BHEBEREY  KBEHRBAAEE
EEERS -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Investment Properties (continued)
Information about fair value measurements using

significant unobservable input

The following table shows the valuation techniques used in

the determination of fair values for investment properties and

unobservable inputs used in the valuation models.

Date of valuation Fair value

fhERS LYE
RMB'000
ARBTR

31 December 2024 46,200
2024F12A31H

Fair value
hierarchy

DYERER

Level 3
E=

Valuation techniques

fhERH

Direct comparison

BRUEA

Unobservable
inputs

TUEZERAHE

U

(il

(il

Discounting
factors on
location and
condition

fir & R

B

REx

Adjusted
Transaction
Price

i

L

1

AERHE

A MIEwARME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

15. REW= @)
BREHEATTBERARE
EIT A HETENER
TRBIBEEREYE DT B
B B R A AR BT SR M R 8

KBABIE -

Range of significant
inputs

EXBAREEE

Office: Discounting factors
ranging from 5% to 30%

WRE : BRRENT5%
£30%

Retail shop: Discounting
factors ranging from 5%
t020%

TEER BREENT
5%%20%

Car parking space:
Discounting factors
ranging from 2% to 12%

[EENL : BREEN T2%
212%

Office: RMB2,914-
RMB3,011 per square
meter

WAE  BFHRARE
2914LEARKS 0T

Retail shop: RMB5,049-
RMB5,367 per square
meter

TEER  BYARARY
5,049 2 AR5,3677C

Car parking space:
RMB52,800-76,560 per
parking lot

el - BEFELARY
52,8007 AR 76,560
T

Relationship of inputs
to fair value
WABES
ATENEEG

The lower the discounting
factor, the higher the fair
value

HREZHE - AATEY

=
[R]

The higher the adjusted
transaction price the
higher the fair value

BRERSERES AT
E¥E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBI A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

15. Investment Properties (continued) 15. REVIFE @)
Information about fair value measurements using EBHEAERTAHRE ALE
significant unobservable input (continued) ET AT ETFENERE)
Fair value Unobservable Range of significant Relationship of inputs
Date of valuation Fair value hierarchy Valuation techniques  inputs inputs to fair value
HARBE
fHERH NHE DTEER MAERS TUBEBAHE EXBARBHE DHENEE
RMB’000
ARETT
31 December 2023 47,200 Level3 Direct comparison () Discounting  Office: Discounting factor is The lower the discounting
2023%F12A31H = BELBE factors on 20% factor, the higher the fair
locationand ~ MAE : BBEZA20% value
condition URAZMWE - AIATES
() fIERMKTE  Retail shop: Discounting 5
BRZ factors ranging from 2%
to 15%
TEES  BHAERNT
2%%15%
Car parking space:
Discounting factors

ranging from 2% to 27%
{REf : MRARENF2%

£27%

(i) Adjusted Office: RMB2,687- The higher the adjusted
Transaction RMB3,181 per square transaction price the
Price meter higher the fair value

(i) SREXHE BRE:BTHRARE  SRERSERES
1 268TLEARKS I8  EEE

Retail shop: RMB5,423-
RMB5,914 per square
meter

TEEH  STHKARE
542370 E AR 59147

Car parking space:
RMB63,360-73,000 per

parking lot
[FEN : BEFELARE
63,3601 % AR 473,000
T
The carrying amount of the Group’s investment properties is a level AREBKEMENERBERE =4
3 fair value measurement. There were no transfers into or out of level FEA=E c PREEE - $Ej£ﬁ$q)\jz
3 fair value measurement during both years. BHE =M NFETE

The owned properties are stated in the PRC. BEMEMPTER -



16.

Mining Rights

COST

At 1 January 2023
Addition

At 31 December 2023

Addition
At 31 December 2024

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION

At 1 January 2023
Charge to profit or loss

At 31 December 2023
Charge to profit or loss

At 31 December 2024

CARRYING AMOUNTS
At 31 December 2024

At 31 December 2023

Annual Report 2024 £
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DS

720231 A1H
NE

/3

#R2023F12A831H

NE

72024412 H31H

ZETH#H

72023%F1A1H
BEZNBR

72023412 H31H
BEZNBR

72024912 A31H

BREE
72024412 H31H

M2023%12A31H

The mining rights represent the rights for the mining of coal reserves
located in Hongguo Town and Yangchang Village, Panzhou County,
Guizhou Province, the PRC. The mining rights have average
remaining legal lives of 15 years (2023: 16 years) but in the opinion
of the management of the Group, the Group will be able to renew
the mining rights and business licences without incurring significant
costs.

Amortisation are provided to write off the cost of the mining rights
using the units of production method based on the actual production
volume over the total proven and probable reserves of the coal mine
concerned.

The Group has pledged mining right with carrying amounts of
RMB847,570,000 (2023: RMB99,960,000) to secure bank and other
borrowings granted to the Group.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

A MIEwARME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

PRIERE

RMB’000
ARBT T

985,327
40,500

1,025,827

68,066

1,093,893

156,460
40,589

197,049
49,274

246,323

847,570
828,778

RS BAERAL I P B & M A B
SURARFSBOERFEENE
F o RBEFHH AT FRABI15F
(20234 : 164 ) * BALEERER
B REE AL E ERTEAE K AT
A EEMABELEAKA

RERRRODE R AEERE
ERER S EEELAHERY - 1
SRR B o

AEED SEREEAR847,570,000
TZHBEE(202F : AR
99,960,0007T) #EH LAVE A T AR & &
SR1T R EL DS FRAOPER o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBI A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

17. Interest in an Associate 17. REFE N TIMNER
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBETTT

Unlisted investments: REMIRE
Cost of investment in an associate RERE N B AR E AR 392,048 98,048
Share of post-acquisition losses and R g B R R b 2 EF
other comprehensive expenses (15,748) (8,037)
376,300 95,011
Particulars of the associate as at 31 December 2024 is as follows: M2024F 12 A1 BHA AR EMFBN
™
Place of
establishment/ Percentage of ownership
principal place interest and voting rights
Name of company of business held by the Group Principal activities
EBRLZ FrEBRENRER
AT B TEEBR RRRAELH FTEEHK
2024 2023
% %
PowerChina Panzhou Low Calorific Value Coal ~ Mainland China 49 49  Power generation, power plant
Power Generation Co., Ltd A B A i, under construction as at 31
FEEBMNENEEBEEERAA December 2024
BE - 202451231 B £
BB E R
Note: The Group has 49% ownership interest and voting right in Power MizE : AEBEEPEEREMEDERSE
China Panzhou Low Calorific Value Coal Power Generation Co., Ltd BAEMRAR([HBINNEEE)A9%HFT
(“Panzhou Power Generation”). By considering that the Group has ERERERRRE - ZRIAEE
no sufficiently voting right to direct the relevant activities of Panzhou P R SIS A R SR E RN BB
Power Generation, the directors of the Company conclude that the HHEEE) AR EERARNER
Group only has significant influence over Panzhou Power Generation EYURINFEEEAFES » Eitt,

and therefore it is classified as an associate of the Group. BN ANEE/EE QT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
iR BTSRRI A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

17. Interest in an Associate (continued) 17. E’\\\H ERARER
Summarised financial information of the associate as follows: B A% Tzﬁﬂ%’éﬁﬂﬁxw? :

31 December 31 December

2024 2023
20245 20234
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREET T

Current assets MEEE 91,418 31,490
Non-current assets JEMBNEE 1,568,283 344,671
Current liabilities nREBEE 238,995 190,622
Non-current liabilities EREAE 661,186 80
Total comprehensive expenses for the year F A% M 4258 (25,940) (6,199)
Reconciliation of the above summarised i E R E B A ISR

financial information to the carrying R ER _H Eos REE R

amount of the interest in the associate
recognised in the consolidated financial

statements:
Net assets of Panzhou Power Generation &M 3 E & E FE 759,520 185,459
Proportion of the Group's ownership REEGEREERGEMNEBA LA

interest Panzhou Power Generation 49% 49%
The Group's share of net assets of AEEELRINEENEEFE

Panzhou Power Generation 372,164 90,875
Goodwiill [EES 4,136 4,136

Carrying amount of the Group's interest in ~ AEER BN HER SN EEE
Panzhou Power Generation 376,300 95,011
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

AN
A
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

18.

19.

Restricted Bank Deposits 18. ZRHIWITIER
The restricted bank deposits are amounts held in a bank under the 2R SR 1T IR 52 P B AR B AT
requirement of the relevant government authority of the PRC in HEATERRBRERNRITFEN S
respect of environmental rehabilitation. The amounts will be released o2 HEZHBARLNRFIRET
at the cessation of mining activities or closure of mines if and only EREBURESR - BIZEZ 2B gn
if the environmental rehabilitation work of the relevant mines meets IR ERTEVE Bk B PR L B AR RR © 3%
government’s requirements. Such deposits are classified as non- EEFEOBRIERDEE - R
current assets. The restricted bank deposits carried interest at HIRITFRIRBITTISFERNEAE
prevailing market rate of 0.1% (2023: 0.20%) per annum. (20234 : 0.20/2) °
Details of impairment assessment for the year ended 31 December BEAEE20244F 2023F12 4318 1
2024 and 2023 are set out in note 35. FEBERANFIEEIINMEESS
Deferred Tax 19. IEFEFLIE
The following are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities) recognised LT ARKNERE RBAREHARE
by the Group and the movement thereon, during the current year BN T EEEREEE (BB R
and prior reporting period. HAHE) o
Fair value
adjustment on
Accelerated  property, plant
tax  and equipment,
depreciation leasehold ~ Adjustment on Undistributed Revaluation
and land and acquisition of profits of of investment
amortisation mining rights mining right subsidiaries properties Total
0% BER
R HELH
MERERE  URFEEN WEEFER RABMH
R NYERE MRZ  WELEER  RENEER &5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETT
(Note () (Note (i)
(Ps)) (Pis )
At 1 January 2023 R2023%1A1H (33,072) 30,103 45,000 (28,017) (1,902) 12,112
Credit (charge) to profit orloss ~ FMEZEHA (1) 7,992 (266) (1,874) 12,966 645 19,463
At 31 December 2023 R2023%12 3318 (25,080) 29,837 43,126 (15,061) (1,257) 31,575
Credit (charge) to profit or loss 7 EZEHA (1) 10,074 (266) (2,084) (990) 150 6,884
At 31 December 2024 20245124318 (15,006) 29,571 41,042 (16,041) (1,107) 38,459
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

19. Deferred Tax (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

The temporary difference from the fair value adjustment on property,
plant and equipment, leasehold land and mining rights are mainly
arisen from acquisition in 2016 that these assets were transferred
to Jiutai Bangda with reference to their fair values estimated by an
independent qualified professional valuer not related to the Group.
Such fair value adjustments result in an increase in tax bases of Jiutai
Bangda. For the preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
the Group did not recognise such fair value adjustments as these
assets are measured at cost model. Thus, a deductible temporary
difference is arisen from the difference between the carrying amount
of these assets and their tax bases.

The temporary difference from adjustment on acquisition of mining
right is mainly arising from finalisation of contingent consideration
of acquisition of mining right. Such contingent consideration results
in an increase in tax base of the mining right. For the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements, subsequent measurement of
contingent consideration was recognised in profit or loss. As a result,
the deductible temporary difference is arisen from the difference
between the carrying amount of the mining right and its tax base.

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of

financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have

been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances

for financial reporting purposes:

Deferred tax assets EETHIEEE

Deferred tax liabilities

A MIEwARME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B ZE2024F12 A1 B ILFE

IEFAERA IE ()

GEX

(i)

(ii)

W - BEREE  HELHIAR
RN A TERREREHEIE
EM2016F M EIAEL - M
ZEAERDE ARG EY R
B A AR EEMEMGEZE
AENAFEREETARIE -
BN TEABEHARHEND
FIRIN - NAREUAR B TS IRERE -
HRZEEERRARAGE - &
AEEWEERBARFEFE
At - AIMHEREFREZEE
ERRREESEEEZ MMEHE -

TR My R B AR T 5| B R =
£ I ERHNRERE YRR
BzHAREBMES - ARAKAR
BRI 2 HEEN - RRR
REMTBMERE - KRB ZHER
STECNERIER o Bt - AT
T E )RR SRR I & F
HEEzBmERMmEL -

ARERAMBIRAKRN2IIME © &
TEEREEENMBBEDERE - XA
TREAEMBRE BN ETEHIRE
RO

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETTT
54,500 46,626
(16,041) (15,051)
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19.

20.

Deferred Tax (continued)

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiary
from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been
provided for in these consolidated financial statements in respect
of temporary differences attributable to certain retained profits
of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to RMB2,193,058,000 (2023:
RMB2,042,812,000) as at 31 December 2024, as the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it
is probable that the temporary differences will not be reversed in the
foreseeable future. As at 31 December 2024, a deferred tax liability
of RMB16,041,000 (2023: RMB15,051,000) has been recognised in
respect of undistributed profits of subsidiaries in the PRC amounting
to RMB160,410,000 (2023: RMB150,510,000).

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost of inventories are determined on the weighted average cost
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale
include incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and non-
incremental costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.

BRI EEfR
W R

Coal products
Auxiliary materials and spare parts

19.

20.

AR FE R TH ()
RIEREMEMSRE - B20084F1
A18# - R E KB B2 EE
EAEIROREFNTEIND - GREH
BRERL A MN2024512 A31 A
M N ElE TR & F S| A =
%8 A R #2,193,058,000 7T (20234 :
AR #2,042,812,0007T ) £ H R FE T
HEE - BRASE R M bR E Y
R MR MEUREEAETE
AR TE R REE - 702024F12 A31
B ANEBEFFBEMBRRKRD RS
A R#160,410,0007T (20234 = A
R %150,510,0007T ) FERIEE R IH B
& A R #16,041,0007T (20234 : A
R #15,051,0007T) °

&

BT RRARER] B HE 2 REE
SRR o FE AT I F R AE
BE - AZRFEEFENMGE
{BRLFT A ff AT SRR AR B 88 5 P 7R AX
Ko EITHEMBRABREIEERR
FEIEHIEER AR ANEB AETHE
MBAEERIFBEMA

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
5,377 17,270
28,502 40,564
33,879 57,834
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Trade and Bills Receivables

Trade receivables E 5 EUGRIA
Bills receivables FEM =
Total st

As at 1 January 2023, trade receivables from contracts with
customers amounted to RMB272,625,000.

The Group allows credit period of 0-30 days to its trade customers.
All bills receivables are matured within one year (2023: within one
year). The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of
allowance for credit losses, presented based on the invoice date at
the end of each reporting period.

IR ImAME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

B 5 RIGRE R ERRE

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT

282,873 348,479
614,108 440,524
896,981 789,003

R2023F1 A1H » BREAHFTELN
B 5 e FIE B AR 272,625,000
ﬁ: o

REEGETHESEFPHEESRRIE
308 - FTARKEEHN —FRE H
(20235 : —FA) - L TARSWME
HARBERZAH2YE S EKZE
HREEBEREENERR ST
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21. Trade and Bills Receivables (continued) 21. BEEKTEREKEE
(#)
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AREET T

Trade receivables E 5 U GRIA
0-30 days 0£30H 155,041 260,155
31-90 days 31290H 106,998 66,615
91-180 days 91%180H - 21,709
181-365days 1812365H 7,357 -
Over 365 days 365H A = 13,477 -
282,873 348,479
The following is an analysis of bills LT RRERERRBEZES
receivables, net of allowance for credit EECISE PR Nl Ess s Snles
losses, presented based on number of EEEBEEENDN
days to bills maturity from the end of
each reporting period:
Bills receivables RN E
0-30 days 0£30H 115,000 25,584
31-60 days 31%260H 115,050 37,000
61-90 days 61290H 18,500 82,700
91-120 days 91%120H 108,000 20,500
121-180 days 1212£180H 257,558 274,740
614,108 440,524
Total 1zt 896,981 789,003
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Trade and Bills Receivables (continued)

Before accepting any new customer, the Group will assess the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines its credit limits. Credit
sales are made to customers with a satisfactory trustworthy credit
history. Credit limits attributed to customers are reviewed regularly.
Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired have good
settlement records.

As at 31 December 2024, included in the Group’s trade receivables
balance are debtors with aggregate carrying balance of
RMB127,832,000 (2023: RMB88,324,000) which are past due as at
the report date. As at 31 December 2024, out of the past due date
balances, RMB20,834,000 has been past due 90 days or more and is
not considered as in default since the management of the Group are
of the opinion that the balances are still considered recoverable due
to the management’s historical experience.

The Group applies simplified approach to provide for ECL prescribed
by HKFRS 9. To measure the ECL of trade and bills receivables,
trade and bills receivables have been assessed individually. Taking
into account the financial condition of the customers and historical
settlement pattern with no history of default in the past and the
forward-looking information (such as future coal price and gross
domestic product growth (“GDP”) in the PRC), the management
of the Group considers the trade and bills receivables are at lower
risk under internal credit rating assessment and the probability
of default of the counterparties was low. The Group applied ECL
rate of 0.02%-1.56% (2023: 0.1%) on trade and bills receivables.
Thus, the loss allowance provision of the trade and bills receivables
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 was insignificant. There were
no credit-impaired trade and bills receivables as at 31 December
2024 and 2023. In this regard, the management of the Group
considers that the credit risks on trade and bills receivables are
significantly reduced. The gross carrying amount of trade and bills
receivables as at 31 December 2024 was RMB896,981,000 (2023:
RMB789,003,000).

Details of impairment assessment for the year ended 31 December
2024 and 2023 are set out in note 35.

21.

A MIEwARME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

B 5 RIS

&)

=

REMEMFEL 28 AEEEE
FEBERFPNEEERTATHE
ERfE - EBESAREMNAEEER
SRR P A ERMERE - RTEFPHN
EERBEATHEZ - MEmaimk
RERE SREKGKIEAR RIFEZT

NEYSELES

~

MR2024F12A31H  stAREFHE
SFRRFBEHNEAEHBEAR
" 127,832,000 7T (2023 F : AR
88,324,0007T,) 2 FEUBR SR + ThRd s
B ERRF I ER o 7020244512 8318 » @
HissE+S - AR¥20,834,000TE

BH9OB A E - R A EEERE
BRR ERNERERELR %F

REERRRAATURE] - MO MR AR o

NEBEEAEHXHEE BT HER
HRERFESSFR AT AMTEREEEE -
B2 E S RUGEREREENTE
HiEEBE  ES5REERERE
BEEERFE - K REPHIK
o R ERBEBEEORENBRT
£ IR R ATIE 1B R (0 B A 2R
BREEERBERNEESE(TENEE
BEDEBR)  AEEETEERE
RBEASEEFRTE - B HEKK
BLREREZEBERRAER 54
FEONARERKE - AEEAE
SEWFIE R EWEBEHRA0.02% =
1.56% (20234 : 0.1% )W TEHEEE
BR o FHtt - N2024 4 22023412
A318  BZEUGIEREKREERD
EERHEI T E R o 120244 22023
F12A31H - WEEERENESE
WORTE & IR R R © phitt - REEE
@Fw V2 5 A R EREED
SERER S ARIERE - 20245F12 A
ma E%%Wmﬁﬁmwﬁﬁm%
H#E A A R 896,981,0007T (2023
% AR#789,003,0007T) °

BREEE2024%F % 2023F12 318 1+
FEREFEOFFBHTRKIFESS
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21.

Trade and Bills Receivables (continued)

Transfers of financial assets

The followings were the bills receivables as at 31 December
2024 and 2023 that were transferred to banks by discounting
bills receivables on a full recourse basis. As the Group has not
transferred the significant risks and rewards relating to these bills
receivables, it continues to recognise the full carrying amount of
the bills receivables and has recognised the cash received on the
transfer as secured bank borrowings (see note 27).

These financial assets and financial liabilities are carried at amortised
cost in consolidated statement of financial position.

EEREEREE
ER A ERRmEE (P RE)

Carrying amount of transferred assets
Carrying amount of associated liabilities
(Note)

Note: At 31 December 2024, the amount of RMB475,580,000 (2023:
RMB241,784,000) represents bank and other borrowings arising
from discounting bills receivables with resource as the Group has
not transferred the significant risks and rewards relating to these bills
receivables.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, bills receivables of
RMB1,291,070,000 (2023: RMB509,558,000) were discounted
with recourse have been presented as “New borrowings from
factoring of bills receivables” in consolidated statement of cash
flows. Corresponding borrowings of RMB1,057,274,000 (2023:
RMB434,972,000) were discharged without cash outflows upon bills
matured with full settlement by original issuers.

21.

BEZRKRRIERERERE
(#&)

ERERMEE
M2024 4 202312 A31H - AT
EWEEEZmEREE MR ER
EBRHTAEETRT - ARAEE T
BEPEZZRNZBEEFENEKRR
R B MHEBERZSELE
BH2EEREE - WSt ERATIER
B 2R A B EPRITER(RMEE
27) °

ZETREENERMABBREEWH
AR DI R AT o

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETTT
475,580 241,784
(475,580) (241,784)

ffss: M2024F12A31H - AR
475,580,0007T (2023 4F : AR
241,784,0007T) AAH A BER
R RENEREENRITREME
o RRAAEEVESEEZSE
EREEERNERNRR KER

HZE2024F12A31AEFE - A
BRREBNEMBERERKEREAR
#1,291,070,000 7T (2023 F : A
R #509,558,0007T) B R4 & ]
SREBRANZY A ZREUERK
RIEFIER] - HEBRARE
1,057,274,0007C (20234 : AR
434,972,00070) R EIE R i AR
BITAZREBRER  TERS
A e



22.

Deposits, Prepayments and Other Receivables 22.

Deposits to suppliers of purchasing
auxiliary materials and spare parts

Government grant receivables

Other receivables, prepayments and
deposits

Deposits for purchase of property, plant
and equipment

Deposits for acquisition of mining rights
(Note (i))

Other receivables due to disposal of
property and equipment

Rental deposits

Finance lease receivable (Note (ji))

Classified as:
Non-current

Current
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR BT IR AR M E ()

BESHMRETOHRERZS

& M TR I 1 B
Hitelsios - AN RIE RS

BEME  BEMRENZE

Wi srimmE R (FIREG)

REEYFEREBEENE MR
KB

HeRe

& RE & e R IR (P RE i)

DR
FRE
mE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

Re - BARERHEME

W I8
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®¥T T ARBT T
5,867 2,539
- 1,470
19,563 24,352
7,977 4,348
- 90,566
- 14,806
40 432
9,300 12,120
42,747 150,633
14,362 104,646
28,385 45,987
42,747 150,633
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22.

23.

Deposits, Prepayments and Other Receivables

(continued)

Details of impairment assessment for the year ended 31 December
2024 and 2023 are set out in note 35.

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

On 9 December 2020 and on 24 May 2021 respectively, Jiutai
Bangda, an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a closure quota transfer agreement in respect of the
production quota of Guizhou Chinalco Hengtaihe Mining Co.,
Ltd. Shuicheng County Panlong Township Panlong Coal Mine
(BEMFEEREREEER A RIKNRIE R ESEEE) (“Panlong Coal
Mine”) with Guizhou Ruomuzi Investment and Development Co., Ltd
(“Ruomuzi”), independent third party to the Group, at a total cash
consideration of RMB96,000,000 (value-added tax inclusive), which is
fully paid in prior years.

The deposits are transferred to cost of mining rights upon the
date Baogushan and Hongguo Coal Mine obtained approval from
the relevant authorities to expand its permitted annual production
capacity from 600 kilotonnes to 1,200 kilotonnes during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

The amount represents financial lease receivables of RMB12,120,000
as proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment with net
book value of RMB21,845,000 as at 31 December 2023. The balance
receivable beyond the end of financial year is presented as a non-
current asset.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held and short term bank

deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. As at 31

December 2024, the bank balances carried interest at prevailing
market rate of 0.1% (2023 : 0.2%) per annum.

Details of impairment assessment for the year ended 31 December
2024 and 2023 are set out in note 35.

22.

23.

e - ﬁﬁ 218 & H A FE
W FRIE (&

E&zozﬁ&zozsﬁmﬂm BIEFE
BB FT L B R M 5E35 -

Pt

(i)

(ii)

72020412 A9 A }202145 524
B ARAEEZ2EWBRARA
REEREEBLE = FEMNE
RFEERBERET AR (EAR
FHREMFIRERAEEERD
A) 7K I 55 0 e A0 0 BE IR TR ([ 4E AE
B ) M EIRIRE] L BRI IR
HEhd o BESREAARE
96,000,000 (& EER) + ERBE
HFERHIAN -

HZE2024F12A31ALEFE - &
SREARIRAREREGEHE
HE#E 8 EL 7T A 4F 2 52 1 600 T MR 4%
RZE1,200FWEE B 88 A REERK
zl; °

R2023F12A318 » Z&8EEH
EIREFE A A K%21,845,0007TC
R BEREENRERER
sk Tg £ A R#12,120,0007T ° Bf
BREEERENERGEZIAIE
REVEEE ©

RERRESEEY
RekBeEBEYEEMFIERER

JREIERE A =18 A kA RMEERTT
Tm o 202412 A31H » RIT4H
RIS FE R ER0.1/2 (20234 :
0.2F)&tE °

BRIE Z20244F % 202312 8318 1+
FEREEOFFBHTRHIEESS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Trade Payables

Trade payables 2 S ENFRIE

As at 31 December 2023, included in trade payables are
RMB2,717,000 due to Guizhou Yue Bang Integrated Energy Limited
Liability Company (“Guizhou Yue Bang”), an entity was owned as to
48% by Guizhou Bangda Energy Development Co., Ltd (“Guizhou
Bangda”).

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 90 days. The
following is an ageing analysis of trade payables presented based
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

0-30 days 0£30H
31-60 days 31260H
61-180 days 612180H
181-365 days 1812365H
Over 365 days 8365 H

A MIEwARME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

B 5 RN

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREETT

128,503 139,422

M2023F12 A31H » ESEMNFES
FENENEHGAERBEREETA
AI([EMBF] - BEMNIPBEERFAE
BERAR(TEMFE]) HEI8%ER
MEE)MAR2,717,0007T °

BEERNTHEEHNRWOA - 1
HEHRRERAHZINE FEN
RIEFREDOMTIAT

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT

13,751 15,350

6,796 27,473
56,805 52,282
24,533 26,516
26,618 17,801

128,503 139,422
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25. Other Payables and Accrued Charges 25. HihEARIERETER
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETTT

Payables for acquisition of property, B - RS I st FE I 3R
plant and equipment 171,443 177,969
Staff costs payable JER B TRAR 39,777 47,481
Other tax payables H i ERrHi1aE 26,190 42,656
Transportation cost payable JERHBHR KA 8,017 33,882
Payables for acquisition of mining U B ER e P A< k38 (P (1))
rights (Note () - 23,019
Government grants received in TE UK R B (B i)
advance (Note (ii)) 10,184 17,192
Accrued repair and maintenance fee JEETHEIE RREER 1,880 1,315
Dividend payable ERARE 14,111 -
Other payables and accrued charges HAfth JE FRIE R FE AT B A 7,340 10,176
278,942 353,690
Classified as: Par V=1
Current m 278,942 334,054
Non-current JERE = 19,636
278,942 353,690
Notes: BT -
@i In March 2024, the relevant government authorities issued a 0] 7R2024F3 7 - HHEEBT#ERE
notification regarding the revision of payables related to the mining AR BN IR FEA BURIESR
rights of Xiejiahegou Coal Mine, which the Group had acquired in AR R R A FE N IR B A
previous years. As a result, the payable amount was reduced by Ao it - ERNFIESERDAR
RMB27,000,000, with a corresponding derecognition of the carrying 27,000,000 7T ( £ 11t 3R 48 & BR
amount of RMB 23,019,000. M{EAR%23,019,0007T) °
(i) As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, government grants received (i) 720244 2 2023F 124318 * 78
in advance represent grants received with unfulfilled conditions on W IE M AR ER IR EE R

meeting production volume target of coal products. IEE RS B U AT B ©




Annual Report 2024 £ 177

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR BT IR AR M E ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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26. Lease Liabilities 26. HE&EE
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
20245 HR2023%F
12H31H 12A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBETT

Lease liabilities payable: JERTIEERIE -
Within one year —FR - 1,299
- 1,299
Carrying amounts of lease obligations are denominated in currencies HERERHENEETEEER
other than the functional currencies of the group entity. SN EHEEHE -
The incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities during the FRNHEEEBEMEAGSERTE

year was 1.8% (2023: 1.8%). £1.8%(2023%F : 1.8%) °
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27. Bank and Other Borrowings 27.

Bank borrowings HRITRIER

Other borrowings from factoring of RIEAPEERERWRIZRETE
bills receivables with full recourse HER

Total secured BHEAEE

The carrying amounts of the above ERERZ BREEER N5IHR
borrowings are repayable*: Bz
Within one year —F UK
Within a period more than one year but —FLA_EME AT BAfE

not exceeding two years
Within a period more than two years but ~ FRFLA_ERF LT HIRE
not exceeding five years

Less: amounts due within one year shown & : —F LARE|EIFIA « JI/ERED
under current liabilities =NE

Amount shown under non-current liabilities  FI|{E3ER BN & EFIE

*

The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out
in the loan agreements.

4T R HABMERR
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARETT
711,330 672,070
475,580 241,784
1,186,910 913,854
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT
976,910 683,854
210,000 20,000
- 210,000
1,186,910 913,854
(976,910) (683,854)
210,000 230,000
© BeEDREERGRRRER

R BE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Bank and Other Borrowings (continued)

Secured bank borrowings carry fixed interest rate of 5.5% per
annum for both years. Secured other borrowings from factoring
of bills receivables with full recourse refers to discounting of bank
acceptance bills received from the customers of the Group with fixed
interest rate while the significant risks and rewards from the bills
receivables are substantially retained by the Group. The effective
interest rate of the secured other borrowings from factoring of bills
receivables with full recourse is approximately 1.1%-3.1% (2023: 1%
to 4.35%) per annum during the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Group has entered into certain supplier finance arrangements
with banks. Under these arrangements, the banks pay suppliers the
amounts owed by the Group in advance of the original due dates
at a discount offered by the suppliers. The Group’s obligations to
suppliers are legally extinguished on settlement by the relevant
banks. The Group then settles with the banks between 15-81 days
after settlement by the banks with interest ranges from 2%-2.35%
per annum. These arrangements have extended the payment terms,
which may be extended beyond the original due dates of respective
invoices. The interest rates are consistent with the Group’s short-
term borrowing rates.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group settled trade
payables of RMB100,000,000 and other payables of RMB26,000,000
through bank loans under supplier finance arrangements.

27.

A MIEwARME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

RIT R HEME R @
BEPIRITEFAWEFEIREEF
FE5.5%5 8 o (RIZA 2B RIER
WEEREESEMERERARE
R A EE TP U E M RITH
HER  MEKREERSEZEERE
WBARBDBAREEHRE - HE2024
F12A31BILEFE - REAZHER
T E IR % TS E A B R B
FFEL1.1%E3.1% (20234 : 1%
Z£4.35%) °

AEEBRITEALE THEDRE
LY - RIBZF R - RITUAHER
REHITHNERIMA 2 A EHER
SANAEEARFRIA - HERITETT
BHEE  AEEHHEERNRFER
BB - ARBERNRITERER
16EBIRAMRITHEITHEE - FHIE
NF2%=E2.35% - BEALZHLERN
FHE - JEBEREENREINH
H o F& AL BB E 5 -

B E2024F 12 A31B L FE  ANEH
FRHERRELTHE THRITERE
HE 5 58 A R ¥ 100,000,000
K2 E At & A< 3018 A R % 26,000,000

ddl
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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28. Provision for Restoration Costs 28. ERAEE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETTT

At the beginning of the year REH) 73,943 47,008
(Reversed) additional provisions in the

year, net FRER)BINEEBFR (2,597) 23,554
Unwinding of discount AR | 3,705 3,381
At the end of the year RER 75,051 73,943
In accordance with the relevant PRC rules and regulations, if any RAR R BIMEREAR A ROEH - (e -
damage is caused to cultivated land, grassland or forest as a 3 3l AR AR R B R Sk PR RS B 4 B
result of exploration or mining activities, mining enterprises must EREE - BB VAR RELRS
restore the land to a condition appropriate for use by reclamation, RiEBARE  EFEEGANET
re-planting trees or grasses or such other measures, as appropriate, sk E M E e G TR B = A AR
after the mining has been completed. The Group provides for the RE o RNEFEBHIERM AR R RFR T
present obligation of the costs of the restoration. IRRE o
The provision for restoration costs has been determined by BRNABEECHAEETRE KR
the management of the Group based on their estimates for the BSANBESHERNEEE -

restoration upon the closure of the mine sites.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Share Capital

Details of the Company’s shares are disclosed as follows:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each &ERE(E0.01 8 CH)FiRAX

Authorised: JETE
At 1 January 2023, 72023F1H1H - 20234F
31 December 2023 and 2024 K2024%F12H31H

A MIEwARME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

BETRAR
R2023%F1 818 - 20234F
20249128318

Issued and fully paid:
At 1 January 2023,
31 December 2023 and 2024

29. B
RABRRMFIBHREAT ¢
Number Equivalent
of shares Amount amount
BRHEE o) HER
HK$’000 RMB’000
FAT ARBT T
10,000,000,000 100,000 87,208
1,600,000,000 16,000 14,136
30. EREFEE

Retirement Benefit Schemes

The employees of the Group companies in the PRC are members
of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by the
local government. The Group is required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the retirement benefit scheme is to make the specified contributions.

The Group also participates in the MPF Scheme established under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in
funds under the control of trustees. The Group contributes at the
lower of HK$1,500 per month or 5% of the relevant payroll costs to
the MPF Scheme.

The contributions to the retirement benefit scheme of the Group
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are disclosed
in notes 6 and 10, respectively.

REBEH B A RHE B 2T B E
EHERKERRARBEFEBIHKE -
AEBARERRENFTEIZEESF S
AR —B D EETHE - AAE
MERES - REBFURKE NS
KM — B ERIEH TR ERI R -

REBE T2 MBS EAES S
BRI KRB R - 8RRl
BEEASEEESHABE BX
EAERSOESRE c AEELREA
1,500/ 7T 548 A 5 & AR 95 % (AR
BE RE)RBES B -

AL BN EL £20245F 122023512 31
A L E e R KBTI SIS B
FiFE6 &2 105 EE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBI A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31BIEFE

31. Related Party Transactions 31. BEAIRS
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial BB HRRIBITEEEIN » BAK
statements, the Group had the following transactions with its related FE AEFEAEEBMIELNTRS

parties during the year:

Name of related companies Nature of transactions 2024 2023
E YNGR TEME RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AREET T

Guizhou Bangda Logistics service expense 3,792 4,153
BN HE Wi AR TS B %
Rental income 1,101 1,101
HE WA
Guizhou Yue Bang Sales of coalbed methane gas 4,248 3,869
EMEF HERER
Purchase of electricity 16,281 7,310
BE
Panzhou Hongda Sales of coalbed methane gas = 1,230
BINADE HERER
Purchase of electricity = 6,967
BE
The above transactions were transacted at prices agreed between i B AE S TR BRETT o

the parties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Related Party Transactions (continued)
Compensation of key management personnel

The key management personnel of the Group included 6 executive
directors of the Company (2023: 7 executive directors of the
Company). Details of whose emoluments are set out in note 6(a).
Other members of key management personnel included 6 employees
(2023: 6 employees) for the year ended 31 December 2024. The
remuneration of these 6 members (2023: 6 members) during the year

is as follows:

Short-term employee benefits EHREEET
Bonus TEAT
Post-employment benefits B2 1R

Financial guarantees

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s bank borrowings of
RMB230,000,000 (2023: RMB95,000,000) are jointly guaranteed
by Mr. Yu Bangping and Guizhou Bangda; bank borrowings of
RMB100,000,000 (2023: nil) is guaranteed by Mr. Yu Bangping; bank
borrowings of RMB290,000,000 are jointly guaranteed by Mr. Yu
Bangping together with his wife, Mr. Yu Bangcheng (the brother of
Mr. Yu Bangping) and Guizhou Bangda (2023: RMB283,694,000).

31.

A MIEwARME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

BEHE TR 5 @)
FAREIE A S@HE

NEBBREEABBEAQAAN
ZHITEE(20234F : RAALBH
TER) - HENFHF BRI
6(a) ° B E=2024F12A31B L FZ -
EREBABNEMKERE LR
8(2023%F : NEBER) - FA » %~
Z R B (20234 : NAAKE ) K% B an
™

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETT ARBTT
2,530 1,507

380 486

69 66

2,979 2,059

B ER

MN2024F12 A31H - REFR R
17 18 3 A R # 230,000,000 7T (2023
£ 1 95,000,0007T) Ty R F L4
REMBEHRER: RITERA
R #100,000,0007T (20234 : %) J)
BARBFREER RITERAR
#& 290,000,000 7T, (2023 F = A R#&
283,694,0007T) Jy R AR FH T 5t A GER
HET)  fBKEE(RBEEER
iz ) R BN FBIE K RIER o



1 84 Perennial Energy Holdings Limited A &= BERIZERER QA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBI A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31BIEFE

32. Operating Leasing Arrangement 32. REBREZH
The Group as lessor AEEEALBAA
Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as follows: WA ENSERERIENT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBETT ARET T

Within one year —F A 1,101 1,101
Within a period of more than one year but A —% I HERZAMELRRE A

not more than two years 1,101 2,202
2,202 3,303

Leases are negotiated for lease term of three years. AR =FHA T AR -

33. Capital Commitments 33. EREIE

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT ARBETT

Capital contribution to an associate (Note) [A]—[EH§ & A FEE (M) 122,500 416,500
Note: Payments for committed capital injection in the associate of Mz : REBERAMNEBRIEARE
RMB122,500,000 are scheduled on 31 March 2025. 122,500,000 7T # 72 2025 4 3 A 31

BT -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Capital Risk Management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group will be
able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return
to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt balance and
equity balance. Equity balance consists of equity attributable to
owners of the Group, comprising share capital and reserves.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure on an
on-going annual basis. As part of this review, the management of
the Group considers the cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the
management of the Group, the Group will balance its overall capital
structure through the payment of dividends, new capital injection as
well as the issue of new debt.

Financial Instruments
Categories of financial instruments

EREE

Financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost

ol SN

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and bills
receivables, deposits and other receivables, restricted bank
deposits, cash and cash equivalents, trade payables, other payables
and accrued charges, investment in a debt instrument, bank and
other borrowings, and lease liabilities. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below.

REERATEZERMEE

REHEKATTEZ 2RBIE
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35.

A MIEwARME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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EREKRERE
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e NBAEFE  AEEMHEBRE
TR o
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o fERZIERFIN D ~EE
EBEEREARARBSIEERR
EORK - REANEEEEEHHERE

B AEEBIARE 53)\%&%‘
NREBEITHER - Bt FEEEE
ANBERE o

= =
SET 2SR
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AREFIT
1,095,067 971,478
1,518,204

1,299,637

TREMRERE B ERBE
AEENTZTRTIABREEHEW
RELEEEE - e ME R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBI A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

35. Financial Instruments (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
Market risk
Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to its
lease liabilities (note 26) and bank and other borrowings (note 27).
The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to its restricted bank deposits and bank balances (notes 18 and 23).

The Group currently does not have interest rate hedging policy.
However, the management of the Group closely monitors its
exposure to future cash flow interest rate risk as a result of change
on market interest rate and will consider hedging changes in market
interest rates should the need arise.

No sensitivity analysis is provided on restricted bank deposits and
bank balances as the management of the Group considers that the
interest rate fluctuation on bank balances are minimal.

Foreign currency risk

Certain bank balances, deposits and other receivables, other
payables, lease liabilities and other borrowings are denominated
in HK$, the currency other than the functional currency of the
respective group entities, at end of the reporting period. Other than
disclosed below, the Group has limited foreign currency exposure as
both sales and costs were denominated in the functional currency of
respective group entities.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

35.

£RT B @)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Financial Instruments (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s HK$ denominated monetary
assets and monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting period as

follows:

Investment in a debt instrument EBIARE

Bank balances IRITHERR

Deposits and other receivables e REMEYFIE
Other payables HAth JET FRIE

Lease liabilities HEBR

Dividend payable JERTRR S

Sensitivity analysis

Sensitivity analysis of strengthening 5% in functional currency of the
Company (i.e. RMB) against HK$ resulted in a decrease in post-tax
profit of RMB225,000 (2023: RMB1,601,000) during the year ended
31 December 2024. For a 5% weakening of RMB against HK$, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on the results.

5% is the sensitivity rate used and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange
rates.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and bills
receivables, deposits and other receivables, restricted bank deposits
and bank balances as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. The carrying
amounts of financial assets at amortised cost stated in subheading
of “categories of financial statements” of this note represented the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial
assets which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties.
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BN e (48)

REREKR » AEBEABTTEHER
EREENERAGENEREERT

2024 2023
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AR®T T AREBT T
- 36,248

21,217 4,679

902 966
(2,612) (2,808)

- (1,299)

(14,111) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

35. Financial Instruments (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Trade and bills receivables
At 31 December 2024, the Group had a concentration of credit risk
as the top three trade debtors accounted for approximately 82%
(2023: 67%) of its total trade receivables. The management of the
Group regularly visits these customers to understand their business
operations and cash flows position and follows up the subsequent
settlement from the counterparties. In this regard, the management
of the Group considers that this credit concentration risk has been
significantly mitigated.

In order to minimise the credit risk on trade and bills receivables,
the management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In addition, the management of the Group
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual debt at the end
of the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses
are made for irrecoverable amounts. The Group applies simplified
approach and always recognises lifetime ECL for trade and bills
receivables on individual basis. Taking into account the financial
condition of the customers and historical settlement pattern with
no history of default in the past and the forward-looking information
(such as future coal price and GDP in the PRC), the management of
the Group considers the trade and bills receivables are at lower risk
under internal credit rating assessment and the probability of default
of the counterparties was low. The Group applied ECL rate of 0.1%
on trade and bills receivables. Thus, the loss allowance provision of
the trade and bills receivables as at 31 December 2024 and 2023
was insignificant. There were no credit-impaired trade and bills
receivables as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. In this regard, the
management of the Group considers that the credit risks on trade
and bills receivables are significantly reduced. The gross carrying
amount of trade and bills receivables as at 31 December 2024 is
RMB896,981,000 (2023: RMB 789,003,000).

35.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Financial Instruments (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Deposits and other receivables

For deposits and other receivables, the management of the
Group makes periodic collective assessment as well as individual
assessment on the recoverability of other receivables based on
historical settlement records and past experience. The management
of the Group believes that there is no material credit risk inherent in
the Group’s outstanding balance of deposits and other receivables.
For the purposes of internal credit management, the Group uses
past due information to assess whether the credit risk of deposits
and other receivables has increased significantly since initial
recognition. There is no overdue balances on deposits and other
receivables as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. In the opinion of the
management of the Group, the risk of default by the counterparties
is not significant and the Group assesses that the ECL on these
balances are insignificant. Thus, the Group assessed 12m ECL on
deposits and other receivables. The loss allowance provision of the
deposits and other receivables as at 31 December 2024 and 2023
was insignificant. There were no credit-impaired deposits and other
receivables as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. In this regard, the
management of the Group considers that the credit risk on deposits
and other receivables is significantly reduced. The gross carrying
amount of deposits and other receivables as at 31 December 2024 is
RMB14,004,000 (2023: RMB30,858,000).
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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35. Financial Instruments (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Restricted bank deposits/bank balances
The credit risk on restricted bank deposits and bank balances of
the Group is limited because the counterparties are banks with
good reputation and no history of default in the past and no loss
allowance provision for restricted bank deposits and bank balances
was recognised. The Group has limited exposure to any single
financial institution. The Group recognised 12m ECL on restricted
bank deposits and bank balances and the gross carrying amounts of
restricted bank deposits and bank balances as at 31 December 2024
are RMB7,006,000 (2023: RMB21,658,000) and RMB177,076,000
(2023: RMB93,712,000), respectively.

There were no significant increase in credit risk on these financial
assets and credit-impaired financial assets as at 31 December 2024
and 2023.

Other than the credit risk management policy stated above, the
Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of
asset and whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk
on an ongoing basis. To assess whether there is significant increase
in credit risk, the Group compares the risk of default occurring on
an asset at the end of the reporting period with the risk of default
at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

The Group accounts for credit risk by appropriately providing for
ECL on a timely basis. In calculating the ECL rates, the Group
considered historical loss rates for each category of receivables and
adjusts for forward-looking macroeconomic data.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Financial Instruments (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group entered into supplier finance arrangement to ease
access to credit for its suppliers and facilitate early settlement to
the suppliers. Only small portion of the Group’s trade payables/
borrowings is subject to supplier finance arrangements. Therefore,
the management does not consider the supplier finance arrangement
result in significant liquidity risk of the Group.

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements and its compliance with borrowing covenants
(if any), to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and
adequate committed lines of funding from major financial institutions
in order to meet the liquidity requirements of the Group in both short
and long terms.

In order to mitigate the liquidity risk, the Group had prepared cash
flows forecast for 12 months from end of reporting period and
obtained additional banking facilities to maintain sufficient working
capital to support daily operation.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

35. Financial Instruments (continued) 35. @t E
Financial risk management objectives and policies SRR EE B ZERBCR(E)
(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) THEE 5 (1)
The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual TREMAEBIFTEEREBENR
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables have TEHEEER - ZEFRBIIRER
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial SEEARNRORFERH  ZeEE
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be BERARMRBERERE - TRBRE
required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash FMEREESHERE o
flows.
Effective Total Total
interest 1-3 412 1-5  undiscounted carrying
rate months months years cash flow amount
=z mz - AEHES
=1, Vil =faR t=EA BER ikt HEAE

% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTR  ARWTR  ARETR  ARWTR  ARETR

As at 31 December 2024 2024512318
Trade payables BHEMRTE N/ATER 128,503 - - 128,503 128503
Other payables and acorued charges ~ EHEMFUAREHEE (£5)

(interest-free) N/ATER 202,791 - - 202,791 202,791
Bank and other borrowings RiRhitfER 31 286,869 711,451 219,336 1,217,656 1,186,910

618,163 711,451 219,336 1,548,950 1,518,204
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

Financial Instruments (continued) 35. @t E
Financial risk management objectives and policies SRR EE B ZEREBER (&
(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) THEE 5 (E
Effective Total Total
interest 1-3 4-12 -5 undiscounted carrying
rate months months years cash flow amount
- nz -z AEES
ERAE =faA +-fAA RER MELE KEEE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
As at 31 December 2023 2023127318
Trade payables ECINEV N/ATER 139422 - - 139422 139422
Other payables and accrued charges ~ EHEMFUAREHER(£5)
(interest-freg) NATER 223,342 - - 223,342 223,342
Other payables and accrued charges ~ EMENFUAREER (TS
(interest bearing) 49 - 4,500 22,500 27,000 23,019
Bank and other borrowings ROREMER 39 121,779 584,674 251,847 958,300 913,854
Lease liabilities L 18 328 986 - 1314 1,209
484,871 590,160 274,347 1,349,378 1,300,936

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are measured at fair value
for financial reporting purposes. The management of the Company
determines the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair
value measurements.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-observable data
to the extent it is available.

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The management considers that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recognised in the consolidated
financial statements approximate their fair values.

ERMITAZAFEF=Z

AEBETSRHITARMBHREMS
BRAFEE - AREEEERTHE
EMERNTRBABIEREATETE

A FER - AEEEAERNE
[E L{ERT5 AR EE -

WHEE MR FEFEZTHEE

gﬂyﬂ@/%Z N FlE
ERERREEVBRRTERS
BEEMERABZREELERY
BRE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

36.

Share Option Scheme

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)

was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 15 November 2018

for the primary purpose of providing incentives to any directors

(including executive directors and independent non-executive

directors), full-time or part-time employees and potential employees

of the Group and any suppliers, customers, consultants, agents and

advisers who the directors of the Company considers, in its sole

discretion, has contributed or shall contribute to the Group (“Eligible

Participant”).

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share

Option Scheme:

(i)

(i

(i

On and subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme
and the requirements of the Listing Rules, the directors of the
Company shall be entitled to, at its absolute discretion and
on such terms as it deems fit, grant options to any Eligible
Participant.

The maximum number of options in respect of which might
be granted under this Share Option Scheme must not exceed
10% of the aggregate of the shares in issue on the date
the shares commence trading on the Stock Exchange. The
maximum number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted was 160,000,000 shares, representing 10% of
issued share capital of the Company on the date the shares
commence trading on the Stock Exchange. The overall limit
on the number of shares which shall be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted, and yet to be exercised,
under the Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 30% of the
shares in issue from time to time.

The total number of shares issued, and to be issued, upon
exercise of the options granted to each Eligible Participant
(including both exercised, cancelled and outstanding options)
in any twelve months period shall not exceed 1% of the
shares in issue.

36.

B AESTE
AAFIRIER2018F 11 A15H BB
—IERE RN E B AOE T 8 ([ B AR
EETE]) - TEB R RRREEEM
EZ(RRATEFREIENTE
F) THBAFBEEREEEEIN
RARNREEZRMBERFSE MEE
ERGS ey % A (Sanh=Y N DR e I
eBP - BRA RERER(ES
BB EE |)IRHIEE)

AT RBBIERT 3 2IGE

0] BB B R TR
AREALAEEBRRT - ARA
EFRREEDERBRIZAER
SEENERGETATAEE
RS EERDBAE -

(ii) RIRERAERT B R s H A B
BiEm &= E NMEBBRN
EHMZAAREEE BB
Petn 428 H010% » AT BER H AR
BRERMPROROE=EE B
160,000,000 % * HHE R AR
BRI EB AR ESE
RATBEETRAT10% ° A
IRAR B AR A ST B 452 L 1 1 SR
TER R ARITE B RIEE 2
TEME FEITORMNOEE B
BEIRTE - TSR TRE T
B 17 HI30% ©

(iii) RER+ZE A AR - BT
FRTEEERBEENER
E(BERTE  EaFEkE
RTENBRE)MEETR
1§ TEITHRM B8 - TMSH
BEBEITRHEI1% °
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36. Share Option Scheme (continued)

(iv)

(vi)

The period within which the shares shall be taken up under
an option shall be a period to be notified by the directors of
the Company to each grantee at the time of making an offer,
which shall be determined by the directors of the Company
in its absolute discretion at the date of grant of the relevant
option, but such period shall not expire later than 10 years
from the date of grant of the relevant option.

An option shall remain open for acceptance by the Eligible
Participant concerned for a period of the date on which
the letter containing the offer is delivered to the Eligible
Participant. HK$1 is payable by the grantee to the Company
on acceptance of the offer of the option.

The subscription price shall be such price determined by
the directors of the Company at its absolute discretion and
notified to the Eligible Participant in the offer at the time of
the offer, and shall be no less than the highest of:

a. the official closing price of the shares as stated in the
daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange on the
date of grant of the relevant option;

b. the average of the official closing prices of the shares
as stated in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the relevant option;
and

C. the nominal value of a share.

No share options were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under

the Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2023

and 2022 nor outstanding as at the end of the reporting period.

A MIEwARME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B ZE2024F12 A1 B ILFE

36. HBIRAEFTEI@)

(iv)

(vi)

IR IR BB R A B IR (D WO HAPR #8
AARREFRELZLRA
FEARANHR - HHAR
AIE SR L AR RRE B A
2EBIEETE - HEZHRE
ERR LA R R Bt
105 [Ei °

BRENEBERAERSEER
NESENNHTERE—K
BRI HERAER2EE
B - NERBIRIEZNR
ERARRAARRBNVET -

RBEBREARREZREY
B2 ERNBEE LR BB
BERZBENER  HETE
ERATESE :

a. B in AR iR th
 HAE FR B S P 3 A Y
BRBEXRMIIE TR
K

b. B in B AR R B A
RO AMphELEEA
B ArEANER
WEXRMIIE T FHR
TE R

c. PfEE °

R E E20234F 22022412 A31H Lt
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37. Movement on Group’s Liabilities arising from 37. METHELENEEESE
Financing Activities g
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from TREFMAEEREZTDMEENE
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. BEY  BEBReRIFFRCEH - F
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash BEBMELENBERRERERR
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s RKEERENAEBEERERER
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing PO EAREEHRESRENAE
activities.
Interest
Bank and included
Dividend Lease other in other
payable liabilities borrowings payables Total
BAR SARfER
RS HE8E HitpfER HEZFIE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETL ARETT ARBTT AR ARETT

At 1 January 2023 72023%F1A1R - 2,574 785,972 - 788,546
Financing cash flows (Note) BERSTE (M) (178,660) (1,313) 749,127 (24,080) 545,074
Discharge of borrowings from factoring of BB ZE 5| SiRFRIEENE K
bills receivables upon maturity of bills FER B - - (702,746) - (702,746)
Additions of bank borrowings from e R E RHTERTER
suppliers financing arrangement - - 74,000 - 74,000
Finance costs recognised BHRRERA - 38 7,501 24,605 32,144
Dividend declared BEERRE 178,660 - - - 178,660
At 31 December 2023 2023F12A31H - 1,299 913,854 525 915,678
At 31 December 2023 2023F12A31H - 1,299 913,854 525 915,678
Financing cash flows (Note) ganene () (58,385) (1312 1,204,330 (46,835) 1,097,798
Discharge of borrowings from factoring of  EHEEE|HBREEKZE
bills receivables upon maturity of bills FERZER - - (1,057,274) - (1,057,274)
Additions of bank borrowings from HERRE RHIERITER
suppliers financing arrangement - - 126,000 - 126,000
Finance costs recognised BRERBENS - 13 - 46,537 46,550
Dividend declared BERRE 72,496 - - - 72,496
At31 December 2024 202412318 14,111 - 1186910 227 1,201,248
Note: The financing cash flows represented the payment of dividend, Mzt : BMERSREHEIARE - EEMR
repayment of lease liabilities, net of repayment of borrowings and EAE  MBREEGEREIGER

new borrowings raised and interest paid. IARBRFE -
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Particulars of Subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

Name of subsidiaries

ML R &

Directly held:

BHERE :

Coal & Mines International
Resources Limited

Indirectly held:
EERE

Hong Kong Resources
BERRDER

Subsidiaries of Hong Kong
Resources:

BERTERONEL A -

Jiutai Bangda

AFHE

Guizhou Fu Bangda
Consultancy Services
Co., Ltd
ENEREARARBERLE

Place of
incorporation/
establishment and
kind of legal entity
Eaizhyd
BRI E R
HEERER

BVI, limited
liability company
RERUMHS -
BRAE

Hong Kong,
limited liability
company

BB
BRAT]

PRC, limited
liability company
e
BRAT]

PRC, limited
liability company
HE -
BRAT

Issued and fully paid
capital/registered
capital

BRITRAR
X ERER

United States
Dollars 10,000
10,0003 T

HK$1
17T

RMB590,000,000
ARH
590,000,000

RMB100,000
AR #100,0007T

All the companies comprising the Group have adopted 31 December
as their financial year end date.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities during the

year or at the end of the year.

A MIEwARME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE

38. MBLAFE
RBEHR - ARBINB RS
T

Shareholding/equity

interest attributable to
owners of the Company

at 31 December Principal activities

M2B31 BAAR)
BEARMGRE #E TEER
2024 2023
100% 100%  Investment holding
REERK
100% 100%  Investment holding
REER
100% 100%  Exploration and mining
of coking coal and
coal refinery in the
PRC
RABETTEE R K
FERA R RS
100% 100%  Management services

support for the
group entities and
investment holding
AEEERREHERER
Bk R AR

FIEERASEENARHERA12A
BTHREMBEFSER -

B A RN F A FEREITIEM
ERES
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39.

Statement of Financial Position and Reserves

of the Company

39. BIBARRRALR A E

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBFIT

Non-current assets FREEE
Investment in a subsidiary & —RH B AR 388,330 388,330
Property, plant and equipment eI & = 3
388,330 388,333

Current assets RENEE
Prepayments and other receivables T8 FRIE K E A FE KGRI 415 385
Cash and cash equivalents B MRS EEY 5,683 3,972
6,098 4,357
Current liabilities TENEE

Accrued charges and other payables fEFT B R R EMERNFIR 16,539 2,596
Amount due to a subsidiary JE < —FEIFfY BB 2 B IE 353,946 283,892
370,485 286,488
Net current liabilities REBEEEE (364,387) (282,131)
Net assets EEFE 23,943 106,202

Capital and reserves ERR#E
Share capital f& A 14,136 14,136
Reserves e 9,807 92,066
Total equity R 23,943 106,202
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B ZE2024F12 A1 B ILFE

Statement of Financial Position and Reserves 39. BB RKR KD B
of the Company (continued) (1)

Movement of reserves of the Company RARREEE

Share Accumulated

premium losses Total
IR E ZitEE #Et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARMET T AREET T

At 1 January 2023 #2023F1 /811 341,549 (60,158) 281,391
Loss and total comprehensive FAFBEBREEAZEE

expenses for the year - (10,665) (10,665)
Dividend recognised as distribution #3257 & 2 B8 (HE12)

(note 12) (178,660) - (178,660)
At 31 December 2023 72023412 A31H 162,889 (70,823) 92,066
Loss and total comprehensive FABEEREZARZ R

expenses for the year - (9,763) (9,763)
Dividend recognised as distribution #3255 ik 2 I 8. (H7£12)

(note 12) (72,496) - (72,496)

At 31 December 2024 720245124318 90,393 (80,586) 9,807
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40. Pledge of Assets
The Group’s bank borrowings had been secured by the pledge of
the Group’s assets and the carrying amounts of the respective assets
are as follows:

Mining rights RuERE
Bills receivables JEW IR

40.

aEEH
AEE MR SR AR EEEH T
IERIR - BMAREZREENT -

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT

847,570 99,960
475,580 241,784

1,323,150 341,744
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
hFHBEME

For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A1BLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥EET T AREFT AREFT ARETT AREBT T
Results B
Revenue Wz 1,706,108 1,715,623 1,784,033 1,541,399 1,402,604
Profit before taxation B&7F: A% 7 527,054 605,204 855,548 411,428 484,385
Taxation charge MIBSZ (86,825) (101,011) (111,593) (109,658) (138,905)
Profit and total FRHEFEEEmRA
comprehensive FEEE]
income
for the year 440,229 504,193 743,955 301,770 345,480
Profit and total WTESEEEAR
comprehensive AR 2 E A
income for the year ~ #2%8 :
attributable to:
- Owners of the R VNI 2= PN
Company 440,229 504,193 743,955 301,770 345,480
440,229 504,193 743,955 301,770 345,480
As at 31 December
M12A318
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AREFT AREFT ARETF T ARET T
Assets and liabilites EEREE
Total assets BEMHAE 4,859,031 4,329,247 4,080,004 3,237,621 2,675,408
Total liabilities =Yt (1,703,122)  (1,541,071)  (1,617,361)  (1,469,877)  (1,156,280)
Net assets EEFHE 3,155,909 2,788,176 2,462,643 1,767,744 1,519,128
Equity attributable to XA E1HA AJENL
owners of =
the Company 3,155,909 2,788,176 2,462,643 1,767,744 1,519,128
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SUMMARY OF MINE PROPERTIES
2 Y E S

Hongguo Coal Mine  Baogushan Coal Mine  Xiejiahegou Coal Mine

ARER BAILEE HFOTEEE
Locations g Panzhou City Panzhou City Panzhou City
BT BN B
Equity interest held by the Group AEE T RE 100% 100% 100%
Mining area (sq.km.) REEE(TADE) 3.0225 2.4736 1.0135
Number of mineable coal seams AREEESE 17 17 19
Permitted annual production capacity TR (TH) (R20245F
(Thousand tonnes) (as at 31 December 12A31H)
2024) 1,200 1,200 450
Licence holder FAEREA Jiutai Bangda Jiutai Bangda Jiutai Bangda
ARHE ARHE ARHE
Mining right licence validity period RRET AR January 2019 - January 2019 - January 2020 -
January 2039 January 2039 September 2039
2019F1 A% 2019F1 A% 202061 %
20391 A 20391 A 203949 A
Coal reserve mine life Bk EEMRILSHO Approximately Approximately Approximately
14 years 21 years 19 years
4145 opakis 4194
Resource data under the JORC Code BIEJORCRAIMENE RELE
Summary (as at 31 December 2024)@ (R2024%128318)@
Measured resources (Thousand tonnes) FRER=(THE) 15,239 8,316 -
Indicated resources (Thousand tonnes) mEE RS (i) 7,780 24,700 14,597
Inferred resources (Thousand tonnes) #EERE(FHE) 13,225 7,000 10,360
Reserve data under the JORC Code BIEJORCHRAIMEN A2 HE
Summary (as at 31 December 2024)® (A2024%F12831R)@
Proved reserves (Thousand tonnes) BEHE(THE) 11,431 6,169 =

Probable reserves (Thousand tonnes) RS (THE) 5,910 18,790 8,717
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The table below sets out the typical quality of the clean coal and middling
coal from Hongguo Coal Mine and Baogushan Coal Mine:

Ash content on a dry basis (%) BRI IN ) (%)

Volatile content on a dry and ash free B2I8 N AR IR B RS 2 (%)
basis (%)

Total sulfur content on a dry basis (%) BRI D 4B 2 (%)

Caking index FhEEEE

Total moisture (%) KD B E (%)

Net calorific value on an as received E R PTI R B R FRE
basis (kcal/kg) (FR/F=)

The table below sets out the typical quality of the clean coal and middling
coal from Xiejiahegou Coal Mine:

Ash content on a dry basis (%) BRI IX ) (%)

Volatile content on a dry and ash free B8 R B IR R B ) (%)
basis (%)

Total sulfur content on a dry basis (%) BRI D 1B 2 (%)

Caking index FHEEIRE

Total moisture (%) KD B E(%)

Net calorific value on an as received BRI R EAEH)FRE

basis (kcal/kg) (F+/F5=)

SUMMARY OF MINE PROPERTIES (Continued)
R B ()

TREIIALRERE LB LEREOFE
BEPRN—REE :

Clean Coal® Middling Coal®
Pl @

10.3 N/A TNiE A

32.4 N/A TNiE

0.6 N/A NiE A

90.2 N/A TiE A

10.9 N/A TiE M

N/A TNiE R 3,829

TRE D ZOA B B AR A5 B S R

H—REE
Clean Coal® Middling Coal®
EEe AR @
10.2 N/A TN
20.3 N/A “NiE
0.7 N/A TN
86.5 N/A i@
11.3 N/A i
N/A i 3,542
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SUMMARY OF MINE PROPERTIES (Continued)
BRER RSB ()

Notes:

Q)

@

®)

)

Coal reserve mine life is estimated by coal reserve (proved reserves and
probable reserves) for the year over permitted annual production capacity.

The resource and reserve data of the Hongguo Coal Mine and Baogushan
Coal Mine are based on the resource and reserve review report provided by
Mr. Edmundo Laporte of Valtech as of 31 December 2023 while the resource
and reserve data of the Xiejiahegou Coal Mine are based on the resource
and reserve review report provided by Mr. Leung Karfai of BAW as of 31
December 2022. The resource and reserve data as of 31 December 2024 of
the Hongguo Coal Mine and Baogushan Coal Mine have been adjusted by
the measured resource data and the proved reserve data as at 31 December
2023, after deducting the respective data extracted from the mining activities
between 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024, whereas the resource and
reserve data as of 31 December 2024 of the Xiejiahegou Coal Mine have been
adjusted by the indicated resource data and the probable reserve data as at
31 December 2022, after deducting the respective data extracted from the
mining activities between 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2024.

The clean coal produced from Hongguo Coal Mine and Baogushan Coal Mine
are mostly 1/3 coking coal whereas the clean coal produced from Xiejiahegou
Coal Mine are mostly coking coal. The above typical quality of clean coal is
based on the average value of clean coal delivered to the customers in 2024.

The above typical quality of middling coal is based on the average value of
middling coal delivered to the customer in 2024.

There was no exploration activity for the Group during the year ended 31

December 2024, and that the Group has incurred approximately RMB821.0

million (2023: approximately RMB771.3 million), being the cost of sales, for

the mining production activities for the year ended 31 December 2024.

o

BEIRFEENELSGUFNNEREE(E
BRE+BIIEFHE)RART A FERRGE -

AREERE A LHEEH E=2023F12 7
31 B ERE & i# 2 &5 T 1R & Valtech
#JEdmundo Laporte %t £ IR H B IR 2 K&
HEFEREBL  MARTEREHZE
2022F 12 A31HMERE RFEEHE IR
BEBAWHI R ZE A IRENERERHE
FHERESLE - AREEREA ILEES
E2024F 12 A31HMBRERFEHEE
RIER2023F12 31 BNIRAEREHE
FEFEEIEFEL AR - Wk E2024
F1 81822024912 A31 B HE 8 ERAEE
BEENABEE  MARTEREEHE
2024F12 ABIHMEBERELFEHEEIR
1EF20224E12 A31 B IR EI S REHE R
RS (2 BUR(FH 3% - Wk 520234
1A1HE2024F12 A31 B HE M EETH)
BHMEREEUE -

AT SR % B 20 L TR AT A 7 O R AR KD
D RVBER - MBSO BRRE EENE
BAMABER - LBREN—REEE
R2024FMEF RN IRERKFHERH -

il EA—REEER2024F MEFR
NEHFHESS -

REBMAEE2024F12 A1 B I FE W EH
WEE) - MASEBEREE2024F12 4318 1E
FERRBEEIDEETHEREANARE
821.0BE L (20234F : HARBI7TIIEE

JT) °
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